
Democratic Services
Swyddfa’r Cyngor

CAERNARFON
Gwynedd
LL55 1SH

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Meeting

CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date and Time

10.30 am, THURSDAY, 30TH JANUARY, 2020

NOTE: A BRIEFING SESSION WILL BE HELD FOR MEMBERS AT 10:00AM

Location

Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd, LL55 1SH

* NOTE

This meeting will be webcast

https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home

Contact Point

Eirian Roberts
01286 679018

eirianroberts3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru
(DISTRIBUTED 23/01/20)

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/
https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/l/en_GB/portal/home


CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MEMBERSHIP (18)

Plaid Cymru (10)

Councillors

Gareth Jones Menna Baines
Alan Jones Evans Dafydd Owen
Olaf Cai Larsen Annwen Daniels
Linda Ann Jones Peter Read
[2 Vacant Seats]

Independent (5)

Councillors

Eryl Jones-Williams Richard Medwyn Hughes
Beth Lawton Dewi Wyn Roberts

Angela Russell

Llais Gwynedd (1)

Councillor
Anwen J. Davies

Gwynedd United Independents (1)

Councillor
Vacant Seat - Gwynedd United Independents

Individual Member (1)

Councillor
Vacant Seat - Individual Member

Ex-officio Members
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council 

Other Invited Members



A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

To receive any declarations of personal interest.

3.  URGENT BUSINESS

To note any items that are a matter of urgency in the view of the Chairman 
for consideration.

4.  MINUTES 5 - 10

The Chairman shall propose that the minutes of the previous meeting of this 
committee held on the 14th November, 2019 be signed as a true record.  
(attached)

5.  THE NATIONAL FOSTERING FRAMEWORK 11 - 80

Cabinet Member – Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

To consider a report on the above  (attached).

6.  THE NORTH WALES ADOPTION SERVICE 81 - 109

Cabinet Member – Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

To consider a report on the above  (attached).

7.  DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROBLEMATIC AND HARMFUL 
SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR TEAM

110 - 115

Cabinet Member – Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

To consider a report on the above  (attached).

8.  A HEALTHIER WALES TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME 
(CHILDREN)

116 - 118

Cabinet Member – Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

To consider a report on the above  (attached).

9.  HOUSING ACTION PLAN FOR 2020 - 2025 119 - 125

Cabinet Member – Councillor Craig ab Iago

To consider a report on the above  (attached).



10.  DEMENTIA 126 - 130

Cabinet Member – Councillor Dafydd Meurig

To consider a report on the above  (attached).

An informal session will be held for members at the close of the meeting.



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

Present: Councillor Dewi Roberts (Chair).
Councillor Beth Lawton (Vice-chair).

Councillors: Menna Baines, Annwen Daniels, Alan Jones Evans, Gareth T.M.Jones, Eryl 
Jones-Williams, Cai Larsen, Dafydd Owen and Angela Russell.

Officers present: Llywela Owain (Senior Scrutiny and Language Advisor) and Eirian Roberts 
(Democratic Services Officer).

Present for item 5 below:
Councillor Dilwyn Morgan (Cabinet Member for Children and Young People)
Councillor Dafydd Meurig (Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being)
Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive)
Marian Parry Hughes (Head of Children and Supporting Families Department)
Aled Davies (Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Department)
Dafydd Gibbard (Head of Housing and Property Department)
Ffion Madog Evans (Senior Finance Manager)

Present for item 6a below:-
Councillor Dilwyn Morgan (Cabinet Member for Children and Young People)
Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive)
Dafydd Paul (Senior Safeguarding and Quality Manager)
Lowri Williams (Customer Care Officer)

Present for item 6b below:-
Councillor Dafydd Meurig (Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being)
Aled Davies (Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Department)
Geraint Wyn Jones (Customer Care Officer)

Present for item 7 below:
Councillor Dafydd Meurig (Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being)
Aled Davies (Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Department)
Meilys Heulfryn Smith (Health and Care Transformation Programme Manager)

1. APOLOGIES

Councillors Anwen Davies and R. Medwyn Hughes.  
Councillor Craig ab Iago (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property)

2. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

The following members declared a personal interest in item 7 - Domiciliary Care Project - 
for the reasons noted below:-

 Councillor Dewi Roberts, Chair, as his wife was employed in the care sector in the 
Dwyfor Area.

 Councillor Eryl Jones-Williams as his wife received domiciliary care.
 Councillor Angela Russell as her father received domiciliary care.
 Councillor Gareth T. M. Jones as his mother received domiciliary care.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

The members were of the opinion that they were prejudicial interests, and they withdrew 
from the meeting during the discussion on the item.  In the absence of the Chair, the item 
was chaired by the Vice-chair, Councillor Beth Lawton.

3 URGENT ITEMS

None to note.

4. MINUTES

The Chair signed the minutes of the previous meeting of this committee held on 12 
September 2019 as a true record. 

5. 2020/21 SAVINGS 

Submitted - the report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, the Cabinet 
Member for Adults, Health and Well-being and the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property; inviting the committee to scrutinise the savings proposals made by the Children 
and Supporting Families Department, the Adults, Health and Well-being Department and 
the Housing and Property Department to cope with their share of the possible £2m deficit in 
the 2020/21 budget, and to consider what that, or the alternative options, might entail.

The Cabinet Member and heads of department expanded on the content of the report, and 
also responded to questions/observations by the Members.

Children and Supporting Families Department Savings

During the discussion, concern was expressed by a number of members that the cut of 
£30,000 to Women's Aid would lead to greater costs to the Council in the long term, and the 
importance of a full assessment of the possible impact to the Council was emphasised.

In response to an enquiry, the Head of the Children and Supporting Families department 
explained that the historic plans were very ambitious.  She gave detail regarding the 
element which had already been realised, noting that a taskforce had been established to 
determine whether the remaining savings could be found elsewhere.  There was little detail 
to be had on this so far, but she noted that she could bring a report back to the committee 
in future.

The Chief Executive added that the taskforce's report could be brought back for members 
to observe, but as the Cabinet needed to make a fairly quick decision regarding the savings 
proposals, time was limited.

Adults, Health and Well-being Department

During the discussion, the following observations were submitted by members:
 General concern was expressed regarding the impact of the savings proposals on 

vulnerable county residents, and the importance of monitoring the impact was 
emphasised.

 A number of members expressed particular concern regarding the proposal to cut 
two Mental Health Support Worker positions (£42,000), in light of the increasing 
demand for the service as a result of the significant increase in mental health 
problems amongst children and young people.  It was suggested that there was a 
need for more rather than fewer workers, and that this cut would ultimately cost 
more to the Council.  It was also noted that mental health was a Welsh Government 
and Health Board priority, and that the service should be provided by the Health 

Page 6



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

Board.  However, the work was being passed on to the councils, which had 
insufficient resources to complete it.  

 A number of members expressed particular concern regarding the proposal to 
reduce the budget for supporting carers, including some respite schemes (£19,000).  
It was emphasised that the stress for families affected would be terrible and that this 
cut would ultimately cost more to the Council.

On a general note, an enquiry was made as to whether the Health Board contributed as it 
should, e.g. the cost of caring for vulnerable people discharged from hospitals fell on the 
Council.  In response, the Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Department noted that the 
Council and the Health Board had a good relationship, acknowledging at the same time that 
there were certain challenges; however, he was of the opinion that the observation 
highlighted the strong argument for the integration of health and care on a local level.

In response to a further enquiry regarding the funding distribution arrangements between 
the Health Board and the councils on a regional level, the Head of Adults, Health and Well-
being Department noted that he, the Cabinet Member and the Social Services Statutory 
Director could look into the matter and bring the information back to the committee.

In response to the committee's observations, the Chief Executive noted that the scrutiny 
committee's role was to decide, should it be required that the Department submit savings 
proposals, whether the proposals listed in the report or other proposals would have the 
least impact on the county's vulnerable people.  He also noted that it was not possible to 
ask other departments to bear some of the burden, as all the Council's departments were in 
the same situation of having to find their share to address the deficit of £2m.

The Cabinet Member noted that the Department had thoroughly weighed out all options, 
and that the impact of any other proposals, not included on the list, would be even worse 
than those before the committee.  

The Chief Executive suggested that one possible way forward would be to ask the 
Department to look at the fields of highest expenditure, such as the older people sector in 
its entirety and third sector agreements.

In wake of the Chief Executive's comments and the committee's unwillingness to accept the 
proposals to make cuts in the fields of mental health and carers' services, it was suggested 
that the Department be asked to identify further cuts in the two fields which see the highest 
expenditure, namely third sector agreements or older people's services.

Housing and Property Department

During the discussion, the Department was congratulated for its method of identifying 
savings by internalising aspects of its work, and its intention to look at all similar 
opportunities in future was welcomed. 

In response to an enquiry regarding the schemes which had not been achieved, the Head 
of Housing and Property Department explained that the Department was looking for other 
schemes. There would be a discussion regarding this at the next performance challenging 
meeting, and it was hoped that it would be possible to report back to this committee in the 
New Year.

RESOLVED
(a) To approve the Housing and Property Department's proposals to achieve its 

share of relevant savings as ones which would have the least impact on 
residents.

Page 7



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

(b) To accept the reports on the proposals put forward by the Children and 
Supporting Families Department and the Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department to achieve their share of relevant savings; and to request that the 
Cabinet consider the committee's observation as to whether these truly were the 
proposals which would have the least impact before approving the savings.

6. ANNUAL REPORT ON DEALING WITH SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINTS 2018/19

(A) ANNUAL REPORT ON DEALING WITH COMPLAINTS AND INFORMATION 
REQUESTS BY THE CHILDREN AND SUPPORTING FAMILIES DEPARTMENT 
FOR 2018-19

Submitted - the report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, 
providing an overview of the complaints, information requests and statements of 
appreciation received during 2018/19. 

The Cabinet Member and officers expanded on the content of the report, and also 
responded to questions / observations from the members.

The committee's appreciation of the staff's hard work was expressed, and it was 
noted that it was positive to see that so few complaints had been received, and that 
so few of those complaints had progressed to Step 2.

It was noted that although the historic information was included in the report, that it 
would be beneficial to see the figures in the form of a table, so as to clearly see 
whether a pattern had developed.

Referring to complaint GC/3257-15 in Appendix 3 to the report, and specifically to the 
Ombudsman's strong view that autism training should be available to everyone within 
the Department, and not limited to Derwen staff, an enquiry was made as to whether 
there had been any further development on this matter.  In response, the Senior 
Safeguarding and Quality Manager noted:-

 In addition to the question of training, that there was a question regarding 
social workers' ability to cope with situations where extremely specialist 
elements were present within assessments.

 That a new service was now in place at a North Wales level, and a procedure 
in place so that teams within children's services could gain clarity in terms of 
what could be offered in addition to what previously existed.

 That this interlinked with matters such as guidance for access to Derwen 
services, and whether someone who had autism and had ability and was able 
to act independently was considered disabled, etc.

 Therefore, there was much complexity in this case between the legal advice 
given, the wording of the legislation, and the Ombudsman's decision in terms 
of how that should be interpreted.

 Following the Ombudsman's latest challenge, that a specialist in the autism 
field had been commissioned to further support the Council in ensuring that 
the arrangements were stronger for the future.  

 As there was a strong lobby for this type of specialist services, the Council 
faced considerable pressure to be able to assess in accordance with its 
duties; but it was believed that the new interlinking with the service for North 
Wales was beneficial in reinforcing this. 

 That a response had been sent to the Ombudsman on this matter, and that 
there had been further discussions between the Council and the Ombudsman 

Page 8



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

regarding to what extent the Ombudsman was satisfied with the steps the 
Council had now put in place.

The Cabinet Member noted that he did not wish for the committee to go into overly 
detailed discussion on this matter as the case was a live one and referred to an 
individual.  He explained that the Council did not have much experience of dealing 
with the Ombudsman, as only one case had arisen in several years, and he 
suggested that the Chief Executive could perhaps expand on the Council's progress 
in terms of responding and developing the relationship with the Ombudsman.

The Chief Executive noted:-

 That this had been an extremely difficult case, and as the Department had not 
experienced many cases in which the Ombudsman had decided against it, it 
was possible that we had not been successful in changing our operating 
principles to what the Ombudsman would have liked to have seen.

 That a letter had been received from the Ombudsman following his second 
report, expressing concern regarding aspects of what had been done. 

 That he would be paying a visit to the Ombudsman the following week, and 
that he was of the opinion that it was mainly communication issues which were 
at the root of this matter.   

 That he was reasonably confident that the Council had attempted to do the 
right thing, but in so doing, had forgotten that it was necessary to adhere to 
the letter of what had been agreed with the Ombudsman.

 That the Ombudsman had noted in his first report that he expected the Council 
to provide training on the complaints procedure to all its social workers within 
12 months, so that they were aware of their duties should they identify an 
individual who wished to make a complaint.  Despite the fact that the report to 
this committee and the report submitted to the Cabinet in July noted that 
training sessions 'would' be held, the Ombudsman was outraged, as the July 
Cabinet meeting was held two months after the time by which the training 
should have been completed.

 As there had also been confusion regarding the wording of one of the 
Ombudsman’s recommendations relating to the parents' assessment, we also 
did not comply with another clause which we had agreed to implement.

 That the recommendations of the report had now been acted upon, and that 
the assessment for the parent was also happening. He would report this in his 
meeting with the Ombudsman.

In response to an enquiry regarding play facilities for children at Hafan y Sêr, the 
Senior Safeguarding and Quality Manager noted that there was now an agreement 
between the services for moving the matter forward.  The Member was thanked for 
his intervention, which had been helpful in breaking down the barriers.  

It was noted that there was a great appreciation of the provision at Hafan y Sêr, and 
that staff should be contacted to thank them for all their work.

On behalf of the Service, the Senior Safeguarding and Quality Manager thanked the 
Customer Care Officer for all her work. Members also expressed their gratitude to the 
officer, to all the officers named in Appendix 4 to the report (list of examples of 
appreciation 2018/19), and those who may not have been named; and asked for a 
message to be sent back to the Department conveying the committee's appreciation 
of their valuable work.

Page 9



CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14/11/19

RESOLVED to accept the report.

(B) ADULTS, HEALTH AND WELL-BEING COMPLAINTS AND ENQUIRIES ANNUAL 
REPORT 2018/19

Submitted - the report of the Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being, 
providing an overview of the complaints, enquiries and statements of appreciation 
received during 2018/19.

The Cabinet Member and officers expanded on the content of the report, and also 
responded to questions / observations from the members.

The Department was congratulated on the reduction in the number of complaints, and 
the committee's appreciation of the staff's hard work was expressed.

RESOLVED to accept the report.

7. HOME CARE PROJECT 

The meeting was chaired by the Vice-chair during the discussion on this item, due to the 
Chair's interest in the matter in question.

Submitted - the report of the Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-being, providing a 
brief update on the work which was ongoing to ensure a new model for domiciliary care 
provision in Gwynedd.

The Cabinet Member and officers expanded on the content of the report, and also 
responded to questions / observations from the members.

During the discussion, the following observations were submitted by members:

 It was noted that this new model for domiciliary care provision put Gwynedd at the 
forefront of the field.

 The emphasis on communication with workers was welcomed.
 The collaboration with the Health Board to present the business case to the Finance 

and Planning Committee was welcomed, and hope was expressed that there would 
be joint-commissioning, as this would be beneficial to both partners.  

 It was noted that it was encouraging to hear, should some providers withdraw / fail 
to meet the requirements, that the Council had considerably sized internal providers 
which could employ the staff.

It was noted that the committee would receive further information as the work moved 
forward, and that there would also be a need to discuss with the Chair and Vice-chair.

RESOLVED to accept the report.

The meeting commenced at 10.30 am and concluded at 1.35 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 10



NAME OF COMMITTEE Scrutiny Committee Gwynedd Council
DATE OF MEETING 30 January, 2020
TITLE OF ITEM The National Fostering Framework
PURPOSE To give an update on the Framework
AUTHOR Aled Gibbard, Senior Manager
CABINET MEMBER Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

1. Introduction

1.1 The National Fostering Framework (NFF) is one of four workstreams sponsored by the 
Strategic Steering Group set up by the Welsh Government.  This was in response to the call from 
key stakeholders for greater collaboration to address strategically, across all sectors, growing 
concerns about the overall effectiveness and sustainability of fostering services in Wales.  The 
National Fostering Framework Phase 1 report was published in March 2016.  It contained a 
comprehensive analysis, a summary of consultation responses and ten recommendations for 
delivery.

1.2 The recommendations were:

 Develop a National Fostering Framework, including the allocation of functions at national, 
regional and local authority levels and begin putting in place the appropriate structures.

 Establish the right balance between local authority foster care, third sector providers and 
commercial providers in terms of national policy objectives, service quality considerations 
and value for money requirements.

 Establish an all-Wales public service fostering collaborative, delivering services regionally 
and locally, incorporating all the relevant services directly provided by local authorities.

 Produce a national policy framework for fostering services, to include the training and 
support of foster carers.

 Introduce a national performance and resource framework, aligning this with the work being 
done to deliver the Welsh Community Care Information Service (WCCIS). A phased approach 
to implementation will be developed. A distinct performance framework should be 
developed for the independent sector (commercial providers and third sector providers).

 Introduce a national web-site, social media, brand and identity for foster care in Wales, to 
underpin a marketing strategy for recruiting foster carers and improving communication.

 Ensure greater consistency in the use of Kinship Foster Care for children who are looked 
after, building on the initial scoping paper from Phase One.

 Develop national arrangements for commissioning all placements, regardless of sector but 
building on the work of the 4Cs.

 Harmonise policies for paying fees and allowances to local authority foster carers.
 Benchmark best practice in corporate parenting across Councils and other public services – 

to improve outcomes for children and increase the resilience of foster care placements.

1.3 Work on the National Fostering Framework for Wales (NFF) is a major strand in the overall 
programme agreed by the Improving Outcomes for Children Ministerial Advisory Group (MAG).  It 
fits within Workstream 2 of the MAG – Providing and commissioning a flexible, affordable and 
sufficient range mix of high-quality placements for children who are looked after, to meet their 
diverse needs and circumstances.  

1.4 The workstream has adopted a number of design principles which include the following:

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 Children and young people should be well matched with placements able to meet their 
needs.  Wherever possible, placements should be local so that children and young people 
remain in their communities, maintain their networks and experience the least possible 
disruption in their lives.  

 Most children will have their needs best met in a substitute family.  
 Local authorities should aim to increase the number of locally recruited and supported 

foster carers with skills and competence in providing care for children with a range of needs.

1.5 All local authorities should have placement commissioning strategies which considers how 
they will tackle issues of supply and provision of different placement options.  These strategies 
should include how the local authority will ensure that appropriate options are available for the 
most vulnerable children with needs which indicate likely difficulties in making placements.

1.6 For the purpose of developing the NFF £400,000 funding has been made available by the 
Welsh Government. This has been utilised by appointing a  national Programme Manager and 
Regional Development Managers for each of the regions in Wales. North Wales received £40,000 
as part of this funding to appoint a regional Development Manager. 

1.7 A regional development plan (See Appendix 1) and narrative report were included in the NFF 
Phase 3 Report. 

1.8 In November 2019 a business case was presented to Welsh Government and the Ministerial 
Advisory Group based on the developments and findings of the workstreams under the NFF. St 
David’s and AFA Cymru were successful in the WG tender for the National NFF Programme 
Manager role and Sarah Thomas has been appointed to lead the programme.

2. The 5 Work Streams in the national NFF programme:

2.1 Performance Framework

a) Annual NFF Data Returns have been collated for 3 years. In 2018 – 2019 NFF Data Returns 
were submitted by individual authorities, with regional and national analysis and 
formulation of performance data reports. 

b) Placement Needs’ Analysis has been undertaken in order to identify individual authority and 
regional levels of unmet need (based on ‘new’ placements made during the year / those 
made in IFA / residential provision not in accordance with the child’s Part 6 Care & Support 
Plan). 

c) Anonymised Regional Needs Analysis Report 2018 – 2019 discussed at the Fostering 
Managers’ Group (5 September & 3 October), Regional Recruitment Group (27 September); 
and at HOCS group meeting (29 November)

d) Main findings of the Regional Report:
 1,250 children / young people looked after regionally with 853 in foster care
 20% in placement with parent arrangements
 20% in kinship care
 The numbers of children placed with independent providers has increased from 179 (year to 

March 2018) to 213 (year to March 2019) and continues to rise throughout 2018 – 2019
 Of those in foster care (Kinship, general & Independent provider) the regional range of 

children placed with independent providers is 12% - 56%; of those in either general or 
independent provider care the range increases to between 19% - 75%

 Foster carer cohort is now 39% (Kinship) and 61% (General) with some authorities reporting 
50% / 50%

 Kinship carer numbers continue to increase whilst the baseline figure for general foster 
carers is not being maintained, 80% assessment capacity was taken up by kinship

Page 12



 It is anticipated that 180 general foster carers will need to be approved over the next three 
years to meet the current placement gap and to offset the projected loss of general foster 
carers.

 The current expenditure on independent provider placements is a significant consideration; 
authorities are working on reducing loss of foster carers e.g. providing a core offer such as 
Fostering Friendly policies and Council Tax Reduction / Exemption.

 National Performance Data Task & Finish Group has agreed an amended data set informed 
by experience of collating data and need to dovetail with other data requests and 
submissions.

2.2 Kinship Care Service Development 

a) 20% of children looked after regionally are placed with kinship foster carers.
b) 33% of those children are aged under 5 years.
c) Kinship Carer Good Practice Guide published (see appendix 2)
d) Kinship Conference held regionally 11 October 2018
e) Some local authorities are restructuring their teams to deal with the increase in numbers.
f) All authorities are developing support services for kinship carers including strengthening 

arrangements for Special Guardianships.

2.3 Learning & Development Framework

a) Regional Launch held 21 November 2019 (framework attached in Appendix 3).
b) Implementation Plan involving all stakeholders (foster carers, fostering services, workforce 

development /training, panel members) developed.
c) Task & Finish Groups established (next meeting 22 January 2020).

2.4 Marketing, Branding & Recruitment

a) Marketing Gap Analysis has been undertaken by Matt Clarke of Narrative Edge. Proposal is 
for national strapline Maethu Cymru / Fostering Wales with individual authorities reflecting 
this. Individual north Wales local authority developments complement and resonate with 
the national proposal Maethu Cymru / Fostering Wales.

b) North Wales (along with emerging Mid & West Wales website) differs from the other 
regions. NW compares favourably with other regions in respect of discrete recruitment 
activity and expertise particularly in respect of regional developments and working together.

c) North Wales Recruitment Officers group have significant input into national developments.
d) Marketing Gap Analysis identifies need for significant investment in this area
e) Core Offer – there are excellent north Wales examples (including Council Tax Exemption / 

Reduction & Fostering Friendly policies informing national developments and this committed 
investment has been reflected in Business Case to WG).

f) Regional Needs Analysis and Marketing Gap Analysis together will inform individual 
authority and regional recruitment and strengthen the Business Case to WG

2.5 Harmonising Fees and Allowances

a) Draft National report developed by Harmonising Fees & Allowances Group has been 
presented to the Strategic Steering and Grant Monitoring Groups, based on the 
consideration of adopting specific options. Following presentation to the AWHOCS a further 
Work Programme has been developed:

b) Best Practice Guide & Policy to be developed.
c) Individual local authorities to consider regional implications, and this to be reflected in 

Regional Work Programmes. 

Page 13



d) Identified need to strengthen and increase financial expertise at regional level to enable the 
more detailed costings and mapping – regional Finance Officer nominated.

3. Blaenoriaethau Rhanbarthol / Regional Priorities

3.1 Analyse individual Placement Strategies and develop a regional strategy.

3.2 Increase recruitment and assessment capacity and reduce reliance on Independent Fostering 
Agencies; move to structured commissioning rather than spot purchase.

3.3 To ensure a shared understanding and sense of corporate ownership e.g. Core Offer, 
Fostering Friendly and Council Tax Exemption initiatives.

3.4 On a local level the Fostering Service is fully committed to developing The NFF framework and 
has representation in each of the 5 work streams. The 6 North Wales authorities are working 
collaboratively on developing and implementing the framework. The Fostering Team Manager 
attends  and currently chairs) the regional fostering managers forum. The Head of Service is also 
the national representative and NFF lead and attends the Ministerial Advisory Group in this 
capacity. 

3.5 In addition to the above regional priorities, the service in Gwynedd is currently reviewing its 
structure due to the demands on the service as highlighted in the Regional Needs Analysis in 
order to achieve a better balance in undertaking its role with kinship cares and general foster 
carers. 

Page 14



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

1

 

Continue established 
regional work.

Consolidate and draw together 
established regional work:

 policy / guidance 
development

 strategic
corporate partners 
within and across 
agencies

Heads of Children’s 
Services Group -
designated NFF leads.

NFF Regional Fostering 
Managers’ Group

NFF Regional Recruitment 
& Marketing Group

NFF Regional 
Development Manager

Ongoing

NFF Fostering Managers’ 
Group meeting monthly.

NFF Marketing & 
Recruitment Group 
meeting regularly.

Representation at all NFF 
national groups.

NFF Regional Performance 
and Finance groups to be 
further developed.

Formalised links 
established with relevant 
others including regional 
Training Managers/ 
Officers.

Shared regional footprint with 
Safeguarding Board; Health; 
Police & Judiciary.

Ongoing proven capacity and 
willingness to work regionally.

Development of regional 
policies; protocols and 
templates including:
SSWB(W) A related - 
Assessment & Eligibility Tool;
Part 4 CSP; Part 6 CSP; 
Pathway Plan;
Practitioner Guidance Parts 4 
and 6; When I’m Ready and 
Assessment Format.

Regional policy development 
ongoing including Special 
Guardianship Policy; Pre – 
Approval Kinship Assessment; 
Review of Foster Carer 
Continued Suitability. 

P
age 15



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

2

Develop an approved 
Regional Development 
Programme with identified 
priorities. 

 Consideration of 
historic / current 
regional and national 
policy and practice 
context

 Inform the DP through 
the Fostering 
Managers’ Group

 Consultation with 
stakeholders including 
foster carers via 
regional conference

 Secure approval of 
HOCS group.

 Ensure ownership of 
the DP via 
Development Day

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers’ 
Group

HOCS Group

April – June 2018.

Ongoing monitoring.

Regional Development 
Programme presented to the 
HOCS group 27 April 2018.

Full approval with identified 
priorities of DP secured at 
regional NFF Development 
Session with full HOCS 
representation 14.06.2018

DP amended and updated as 
work progresses.

Ensure corporate response 
/ responsibility and 
ownership of the NFF

 Raise awareness within 
and across the LAs 
including children’s 
services; planning; 
performance and 
commissioning; 
elected members; 
fostering panels; 
education and health

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers’ 
Group

HOCS Group

June – October 2018 Standing item at Fostering 
Managers’ Group Meeting 
agenda.

Raising Awareness Powerpoint 
Presentation developed and 
delivered regionally at Service 
Days, Scrutiny Committees, 
Corporate Parenting Panels, 
Fostering Panel Business Days 

P
age 16



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

3

 regionally – health, 
police, probation, 
judiciary, YOTS, 
Safeguarding Board

and Independent Panel Chairs’ 
Forum. 

Approval for recruitment and 
funding of Regional 
Development Manager post.

Convene regional NFF 
Conference for Foster 
Carers and Fostering 
Managers and 
Practitioners.

Organise and deliver first 
Regional Fostering Conference. 
National and regional guest 
speakers with six workshops 
reflecting NFF Themes 
including Life Journey Work 
Framework; Models of Support 
Kinship Care; Attachment in 
Education; National Training, 
Learning & Development 
Framework; Well-being CLA; 
Marketing, Recruitment & 
Retention.

NFF Fostering Managers’ 
Group with Gwynedd 
taking lead role.

Supported by AFA Cymru.

Regional Development 
Manager

20 March 2018 Conference held (126 
delegates).

Conference Evaluation Report 
completed with positive 
feedback.

Set Objectives Met:
 first regional 

opportunity for foster 
carers to meet.

 To provide 
information about the 
NFF

 To involve key 
stakeholders in the 
regional 
implementation

 To ensure a shared 
understanding and 
ownership

P
age 17



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

4

 To inform and identify 
priorities for the 
regional development 
programme.

 To provide 
consultation 
opportunities 
including for the 
National Learning & 
Development and LJW 
Frameworks; 
Marketing & 
Recruitment.

Consider models for 
increasing assessment of 
suitability capacity, in order 
to redress the current 
imbalance vis a vis kinship 
and mainstream 
assessment.

 Audit current situation 
and identify pressure 
points.

 Audit to include role 
specification i.e. task 
and placement type i.e 
kinship / mainstream.

 Explore development 
of regional model to 
include support and 
supervision of 
assessors and quality 
assurance.

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

HOCS Group

April – October 2018 Identified as a designated 
priority at the NFF 
Development Day 14.06.2018.

Required actions highlighted 
and assigned in Development 
Day Feedback & Action Plan 
report.

Standing Item at Fostering 
Managers’ Group meeting 
agenda.

P
age 18



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

5

 Clear link with 
marketing and 
recruitment work.

 Analysis of NFF 
Performance Data 
2017 – 2018

Analysis of NFF Performance 
Data 2017 – 2018 undertaken 
and Powerpoint Presentation 
developed to incorporate 
assessment capacity and 
deficits.

Alternative assessment 
models’ paper written, options 
to include transfer of capacity 
from kinship; independent 
assessors; partnerships with 
Third Sector Partners etc…

Develop costed options, 
actions and return of 
investment analysis, for 
building capacity to assess 
and develop new foster 
carers and reduce reliance 
on IFAs.

 Benefits costs analysis
 Informed by relevant 

research and studies
 To build informed 

business ‘invest to 
save’ case (based on 
numbers of CYP cared 
for by IFAs and 
comparative IFA /LA 
placement figures at 
NFF Phase 2 Report 
p.11) to evidence need 
for additional capacity

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers
Finance Group

HOCS Group

April – October 2018 To be considered further by 
HOCS group, particularly in 
relation to the work being 
undertaken on residential 
provision.

P
age 19



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

6

Analyse the pathways into 
care and the associated 
support / services/ skills 
needed with predicted 
metrics so that the right 
number of corresponding 
foster carers can be 
recruited / supported/ 
developed.

 Analysis of the CLA 
cohort profile of need

 Informed by the NFF 
Performance Report 
2016/2017; 
2017/2018; CIW 
Thematic Fostering 
Review 2018; National 
Population Assessment 
– Regional Plan 2018 – 
2023

 Analysis of pathways 
into care and of 
permanence and 
placement outcomes 
e.g. Placement with 
Parents; kinship; 
revocation; SGO

 Analyse ‘unplanned 
endings’ / disruption 
patterns and causes. 
(122/739 2016 – 2017)

 Dovetail with 
children’s services and 
corporate partners 

 Dovetail with the 
Residential project and 

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

HOCS Group

NFF Performance Group

Residential Project Lead

April – October 2018 Development Session 14.06.18 
focused on Needs Analysis and 
Placement Commissioning 
Strategy.

Anonymized analysis of the 
individual LA data submitted 
to the CIW Thematic Fostering 
January 2018 Review (App 1 to 
Development Day Briefing 
document).  

Analysis of regional messages 
from disruption completed.

Ongoing liaison with 
Residential Project Leads.

Regional Analysis of 
performance data 2017 – 2018 
undertaken.

P
age 20



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

7

consider potential for 
developing 
appropriate 
alternatives e.g. 
therapeutic fostering.

 Explore potential for 
third sector 
partnerships in order 
to meet needs.

 Analysis of 
performance data

Conduct a regional needs 
analysis and placement 
commissioning strategy.

 Analyse regional Data 
– Performance Report 
2016/17; 2017/18; 
CIW Thematic 
Fostering Review

 Analysis of messages 
from disruption across 
region

 Consider models 
including Children’s 
Commissioning 
Consortiwm Cymru 
‘commissioning care & 
support services’ 
template’

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers 
Group

HOCS group.

NFF Performance Officer

Regional Performance 
Group

April –  August 2018
Initial priorities identified at 
National CCCC commissioning 
conference 30.01.18

Development Session 14.06.18 
focused on Needs Analysis and 
Placement Commissioning 
Strategy.

Anonymized data analysis 
conducted to inform NFF 
Development session 14.06.18 

P
age 21



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

8

 Regional Priorities 
identified at national 
commissioning 
conference

 Developing a shared 
understanding of 
successful outcomes

 Consider individual 
authorities’ needs 
analysis and Placement 
Commissioning 
Strategy

 Develop regional 
Placement 
Commissioning 
Strategy in areas of 
specific need e.g. 
Parent & Child; 
complex needs; short 
breaks

 Explore potential for 
sub-regional

 Explore potential for 
third sector 
partnerships in service 
development

NFF Marketing, 
Recruitment & Retention 
Group

Children’s Services’ 
colleagues

and individual authority PCS 
planning.

Conclusion – proportion of LAs 
currently have individual PCS 
in the form of the CCCC 
template. Others have the 
information available in a 
different format. All LAs have  
reconfigured their PCS in the 
same template to provide 
consistency and facilitate a 
regional PCS.

2017 – 2018 Performance 
Data demonstrate significant 
increase in the numbers of 
Placement with Parents’ 
arrangements regionally.

Along with Kinship 
arrangements, significant 
percentage of the CLA cohort. 
Viewed as vulnerable cohorts 
with clear implications for 
strategic placement 

P
age 22



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

9

 Informed by / Liaison 
with IFAs

 Develop robust market 
position statement

development needs, 
assessment capacity etc…

Develop the regional 
Marketing & Recruitment 
strategy.

Continue to inform the 
national Marketing & 
Recruitment Strategy.

Priorities identified:
 Develop common 

definition of what 
constitutes an 
‘enquiry’ (variance in 
regional 2016/17 
Performance Report).

 Establish ‘re-visiting’ of 
earlier enquiries 
mechanism

 Retention challenges 
and reasons for losing 
carers.

 Continue to inform the 
national marketing 
strategy – Narrative 
Edge

 Develop the concept of 
‘fostering friendly’ 
local authorities 
regionally

NFF Marketing & 
Recruitment Group

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

April – October 2018  Established Regional 
recruitment policy & 
practice including 
shared website

 Regional strategy 
updated 13 June 2018.

 Significant 
contribution to 
national agenda 
including response to 
Phase 1 Narrative 
Edge Report (May 
2018).

 Workshop delivery at 
national and regional 
conferences (March 
15/20).

 Review of recruitment 
2017 / 2018 report 
presented to NFF 

P
age 23



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

10

 Dovetail with the L & D 
and Harmonisation of 
Fees & Allowances’ 
aspects.

 Inform the National 
Marketing & Branding 
agenda

 Must be considered 
within the context of 
assessment capacity.

managers’ group 19 
April 2018.

 Ongoing input into the 
National Marketing & 
Branding subgroups. 
Attendance at sessions 
and consultation 
forum to be held with 
foster carers week 
beginning 4 February 
2019.

Implement Best Practice 
Guide for Kinship Care.

Liaise with children’s 
services and corporate 
partners including judiciary.

 Need for standardised 
training identified 
(Skills to Foster for 
Kinship Carers)

 Regional input into 
development of 
National Best Practice 
Guide

 Launch of Best Practice 
Guide.

 Celebration of Kinship 
Conference to be held.

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

 October 2018 – March 
2019

 Pre – Approval Kinship 
Training being 
developed regionally, 
further impetus 
provided by AFA, 
meeting 22 February 
2019.

 Good Practice Guide 
Launch Event 
combined with 
Celebration of Kinship 
Conference 
11.10.2018 (90 
delegates, met set 
objectives).

P
age 24



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

11

 Kinship Carers to 
contribute directly to 
the conference.

 Consultation – what 
matters to kinship 
carers?

 Consultation with 
foster care panels 
including independent 
panel chairs

 Working with third 
sector in supporting 
carers.

 Consider regulatory 
changes, identify 
implications and 
respond accordingly

 Liaison with the 
regional Training 
Managers’ group

 Kinship carers gave 
their own personal 
testimony at the 
Celebration of Kinship 
conference.

 ‘Models of support’ 
for Kinship Care 
workshop delivered to 
38 delegates at 
regional conference

 CP Assessment format 
previously agreed with 
judiciary and widely 
used

 Matter placed on 
Court User Forum

 Matter for discussion 
at regional 
Independent Panel 
Chairs’ forum January 
2019

 Ensure this matter is 
reflected in the 

P
age 25



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

12

Regional Training Plan 
2019 - 2020

Respond to forthcoming 
regulations and Code of 
Practice consultation.

 Consider the 
implications for policy, 
practice and the 
implementation of the 
NFF.

Consultation Period ends 
August 2018

Local, regional and national 
consultation sessions 
convened July 2018.
Regional response submitted.

Harmonising fees and 
allowances for foster 
carers.
Develop an outline model 
for fees that reflect skills 
needed for complex cases 
along with effective models 
of support.

 Consider relationship 
with the Training, 
Learning & 
Development 
Framework

 Consider relationship 
with Marketing & 
Recruitment strategy

NFF Managers’ Group 
including representation 
on national group.

Marketing & Recruitment 
Group

Harmonising Fees 
National Group 
representative

Ongoing  May 2017 regional 
decision to harmonise 
schemes in the first 
instance

 Continue to contribute 
to the national work 
stream.

 National Report issued 
May 2018.

Implementing the National 
Training, Learning & 
Development Framework 
for foster carers

 Consult on the 
National Training, 
Learning & 
Development 
Framework

 Consider the regional 
implications and the 

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

June – December 2018  Consultation 
workshop delivered 
twice at regional 
Conference. Feedback 
to inform national 
developments.

 Meeting between 
Regional Training 

P
age 26



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

13

potential for increased 
regional dovetailing.

 To ensure a shared 
understanding 
between fostering and 
training colleagues.

 Establish a baseline of 
current training 
provision and 
arrangements 
including cost 
allocation.

 Aligning of L & D 
framework with SW 
First Three Years in 
Practice

 Scope the potential for 
shared education and 
social care training in 
areas such as 
Attachment, Self – 
Harm; Autism (Autism 
Strategy) and ALD (Act 
2018).

 Scope the potential for 
developing the FC role 

Regional Training 
Managers and Training 
Officers’ Groups

HOCS group
December 2018 – June 
2019

Managers / Officers 
and NFF Fostering 
Managers 24 April and 
6 December 2018.

 Meeting between FM 
Group and Regional 
Training group to 
ensure that 2019 – 
2020 regional training 
plan reflects the NFF L 
& D Framework and 
the Kinship Good 
Practice Guidance.

 Training provision 
audit developed and 
completed regionally.

 Initial analysis 
completed.

 Development session 
14.06.2018, feedback 
report with actions 
placed on 10 July FM 
meeting including 
liaison with identified 
sources of good 
practice.

P
age 27



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

14

to mentoring and 
providing support.

 Progressing links with 
Education to be 
considered by HOCS.

Implement the national 
performance framework 
across all local authorities 
to help shape regional and 
national/central priorities.
Analyse regional 
performance data to 
identify areas of 
development to feed into 
the regional Development 
Programme.

 Develop a shared 
understanding of 
successful outcomes 
and how to measure 
them

 Ensuring corporate 
parenting / multi-
agency response and 
responsibility.

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

NFF Performance Group

NFF Performance Post 
Holder

June - December 2018 Analysis of regional 
performance data completed:

NFF 2016 – 2017
CIW Thematic Review January 
2018
NFF 2017 - 2018

Identify models of support 
for young people aged 16 + 
and how they could be 
implemented

 Regional work on 
When I’m Ready 
including corporate 
ownership e.g. housing

 Positive Pathways’ 
initiative

 Particular vulnerability 
of young parents

 Lobbying - Community 
Charge initiatives; 
savings etc…

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

Leaving Care Teams

NFF Finance Groups

CLA / YP Forums

June - December 2018 Regional WIR policy 
completed.

Development Manager to 
progress asap.

P
age 28



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

15

 Work with third sector 
partners

Identify models and options 
for shared care / respite

 Conduct an audit of 
current provision and 
levels of unmet need

 Consult and agree on 
priority development

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

Regional Disability Teams

June - December 2018 Areas of unmet need include 
provision for under 8s and 
home - based provision.

Audit to be developed and 
circulated 

Consideration of foster care 
panels.

 Comparative analysis 
(similar to NWAS 
development 
previously)

 Potential for member 
central list to ease 
quorum challenges

 Consider models for 
regional recruitment, 
induction, training, 
support and evaluation 
of panel members.

 Consultation with 
foster care panels

 Undertake a Fostering 
Performance / Activity 
Audit.

Regional Development 
Manager

NFF Fostering Managers

Agency Decision Makers

Independent Panel Chairs 
Forum

June – December 2018

Ongoing

Fostering Regulations and 
Code of Practice consultation 
– local, regional and national 
opportunities.

Panel Audit Findings  / 
Discussion at Independent 
Panel Chair’s Forum 24 
January 2019.

Focus of discussion at 
Celebration of Kinship 
Conference.

P
age 29



National Fostering Framework Phase Three 2017-18

North Wales Regional Development Programme (10.01.2019) 

Priority Task Basis of Work /
Work Required

Lead Responsibility Timeframe Outcomes/Update

16

 Independent Panel 
Chair to speak at 
Kinship Conference

 Consideration of 
training needs in 
particularly complex 
areas of kinship 
assessment of 
suitability to foster 
alongside capacity to 
change,

 Respond to 
forthcoming regulatory 
proposals and identify 
implications.

P
age 30



GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE FOR THE  
ASSESSMENT AND SUPPORT OF 

Kinship Foster Carers

Page 31



2  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

This guide has been drawn together with the assistance of practitioners across Wales and  
by family members who have been through the assessment process themselves. 

Our thanks go to all who have contributed their expertise and time so generously and in 
particular to Professor Joan Hunt from Cardiff University.

Please note that during the course of this guide we use the expression ‘family members’,  
which encompasses not only family members but also friends and members of the family’s 
social network. 

The term ‘kinship’ is used in same sense as the term ‘connected persons’.

Page 32



3  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Phase 1 of the work to develop a National 
Fostering Framework (NFF) within Wales 
identified kinship foster care as one of the 
key issues that was concerning practitioners 
across the country. In the final report 
Recommendation 7 states:

‘Ensure greater consistency in the use of 
kinship foster care for children who are 
looked after.’

In order to follow this recommendation 
through, under phase 2 of the NFF, AFA 
Cymru brought together practitioners, 
kinship carers, independent reviewing 
officers and children’s guardians to gather 
information from across Wales. The 
content of the guide is informed by the 
good practice and lessons learned from 
those events as well as from research, case 
law, serious case reviews and inspection 
themes.

This is a guide to the assessment of family 
members, friends and other members 
of the family’s social network as kinship 
foster carers; however there is necessarily 
reference to special guardianship as the 
two assessments are often undertaken 
concurrently when the child is either in the 
pre proceedings process or the subject 
of care proceedings. The guide does not 
purport to be ‘guidance’. Its principles are 
based in current case law, current research 
and findings from serious case reviews.

The most recent research, referenced in 
the guide, considers kinship placements in 
the context of special guardianship, but the 
lessons learned in respect of assessment 
and support are as relevant for fostering as 
they are for special guardianship.

Applicants for mainstream foster care 
generally approach fostering agencies 
after having thought for a long time about 
becoming a foster carer, prepared the way 
with their own family and made practical 
arrangements for a change in their way of 
life. 

In contrast, potential kinship carers are 
generally asked to consider becoming 
foster carers at a time of extreme emotional 
crisis within their family. They are asked 
to trust the very people who may appear 
to have created the crisis, discuss every 
element of their personal lives and expose 
themselves to the scrutiny of panels, social 
workers, lawyers and the courts. If they 
do not engage with this process they run 
the risk of losing their child relative to 
another member of the family, adoption or 
mainstream foster care.

Social workers are charged with the task of 
engaging and assessing family members 
who might blame them for the interference 
in their family, or alternatively the lack of 
earlier intervention.

This guide aims to help the practitioner 
to establish good practice in relation to 
kinship assessments. It is only through the 
completion of full and robust assessments 
that recommendations and decisions 
can properly be made in the child’s best 
interests, both at foster panel, with the 
decision maker, and in the family court.

The relationship built up with potential 
kinship carers needs to be based on mutual 
respect and honesty. Family members 
consistently reiterate the importance of 
being treated with respect and empathy 
during the process. They also point to the 
importance of knowing what the problems 
are in the family from an early stage. 

Introduction
The assessment of family members or close friends as a kinship foster carer for a child who 
cannot, or may not be able to, remain with their birth family is one of the most complex 
assessments a social worker can undertake.

I’ve brought up 
a whole family 
without being 

assessed

I’m not a carer,  
I’m his grandmother

I don’t like being 
“done to”

1

Page 33



4  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

2.1 ENGAGING FAMILY 
MEMBERS IN THE TASK
The early identification of family members 
in the child’s timeframe is crucially 
important. It enables local authorities 
to comply with the Public Law Outline 
timescales (once care proceedings have 
commenced) whilst also having sufficient 
time to undertake an assessment.

It also gives potential kinship carers the 
maximum available time to assimilate 
what is happening in their family, recover 
a little from what is often the shocking and 
painful news that a child in the family has 
suffered, or is at risk of suffering, significant 
harm and adjust their thinking on what has 
happened. This has been termed as:

‘a journey from disbelief to an 
understanding of permanency’. 
Jenny Frost, Team Manager, Flintshire

Prospective carers are then in a position to 
think clearly and objectively about whether 
they, or other members of their family, are 
able to provide alternative, permanent care 
and to make an informed decision.

The early involvement with family 
members, at the child protection/
s47 enquiry phase, or even earlier, has 
the capacity for facilitating an easier 
relationship with them if the child’s 
circumstances require an escalation into 
the pre proceedings protocol. 

Family members are consistent in 
expressing a view that the earlier they know 
of problems, the better The shock to family 
members may be lessened and, if the 
child’s social worker has used the process 
well, family members concerned may feel 
more able to see themselves as part of the 
team supporting the child.

If there is no early involvement, family 
members who are only identified through 
the pre-proceedings protocol or even 
during care proceedings, report feeling 
rushed and confused, which can lead to 
an understandable defensiveness. This in 
turn hinders a full and robust assessment 
process.

The principle of early involvement has 
been highlighted in CSSIW’s (now CIW) 
report: The national review of care planning 
for children and young people subject to 
PLO pre proceedings, December 2016. 
Recommendation 3.3 states:

‘Arrangements should be in place to 
ensure that there is engagement with 
families at an early stage to agree what 
permanency options are available. This 
should include ensuring that families fully 
understand the need to nominate carers 
within the family’.

Key Points

• Early identification of family 
members is essential.

– Family members often indicate 
that they wish they had been 
involved at an earlier stage in 
order to support the parents.

– It enables time for the kinship 
assessment to be properly 
undertaken.

– It provides time for family 
members to adjust to the new 
situation and what is being asked 
of them, thereby facilitating 
their engagement with the 
assessment process. 

• A well organised systemic approach 
to work in the pre proceedings 
phase, involving operational 
childcare teams, legal departments 
and fostering/ kinship teams, 
helps to create a focus on the 
identification of family members. 

• Family group conferences or family 
meetings are an effective way of 
involving family members in the 
care plan.

The early identification  
of kinship carers

2

Page 34



5  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

2.2 FAMILY MEETINGS
The form of the meeting matters less than 
the intention to make connections with 
family and close friends. A family group 
conference or meeting provides family 
members with the opportunity to know, 
at an early stage, that there are difficulties 
with parenting the child and for the 
child’s social worker to raise the profile of 
safeguarding concerns, amongst extended 
family, at the earliest opportunity. 

It is at this stage that family members may 
be able to provide support to the parent(s). 
It also provides the local authority with a 
clearer picture of who may be available 
to care at a later date and up to date 
information for a genogram.

Whilst 66% of local authorities surveyed 
in 2016 (NFF, Phase 2 AFA Kinship report) 
indicated that they held some form of 
family meeting often or occasionally, a 
small number indicated that they had no 
mechanism for getting family members 
together to discuss the protection plan 
for a child, and their involvement with that 
plan.

Research in Practice (2015c) found that 
the use of family group conferences was 
variable and that potential carers may 
not come forward/be identified until care 
proceedings are well underway (RIP, 2016).

Good Practice

Local authorities across Wales 
have different ways of involving 
family members at this early stage. 
Some convene formal family group 
conferences; others use ‘family 
meetings’ arranged by the child’s 
social worker or team manager. Local 
authorities using ‘Signs of Safety’ use 
‘family network’ meetings at an early 
stage.

North Wales has a policy which 
facilitates a family group conference 
or meeting at a very early point, 
preferably prior to the child being 
made subject to a child protection 
plan and no later than eighteen 
months after a child protection plan 
has been made, but there is no plan 
as yet to seek to remove the child. All 
formal family group conferences held 
in Wales involve a social worker from 
the statutory sector.

Page 35



6  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

2.3 CONFIDENTIALITY 
One of the factors which may hinder 
early engagement is the lack of clarity on 
whether birth parents’ confidentiality may 
be breached if local authorities contact 
and involve family members in planning or 
assessments. 

Best practice and the data protection 
principles dictate that consent is sought 
and obtained from the birth parents during 
the course of work with them. However, 
where that consent is not forthcoming, 
in some cases it may still be in the child’s 
interest to contact family members. 

When the matter is in care proceedings, 
then a direction from the judge may be 
requested and granted. However, that 
option is not readily available in any pre 
proceedings work.

Current local authority practice varies, with 
some regarding the contacting of family 
members against the express wish of birth 
parents as being unlawful. Others have 
regarded the information as the child’s 
rather than the parent’s and have therefore 
felt able to contact possible kinship carers.

Practitioners need to be aware of the data 
protection principles determining practice 
in this area and each decision must be 
made taking into account the individual 
circumstances of each child and family. It 
is important to seek legal advice before 
contacting family members or friends 
without the consent of the parents.

Good Practice
CONSIDERATIONS FOR A FAMILY MEETING – A BRIEF CHECKLIST

Why have a family meeting?

– For family members to be able to learn about and focus on the child’s needs
– For family members to be able to begin to think whether they can meet this child’s 

particular needs
– For family members to feel more of an integral part of the planning process for 

their child relative
– For the child’s social worker to get a sense of who is in the family and begin to 

assess family dynamics

When should a family meeting take place?

– Where possible a family meeting should take place at the s47 Children Act/child 
protection enquiry stage, where the meeting is primarily to look at support in 
maintaining the child at home under a child protection plan. Family members are, 
therefore, aware from an early stage that the local authority has concerns about the 
care of the child. This makes the transition from child protection to pre proceedings 
protocol or the commencement of proceedings less of a shock or surprise

– Where no earlier meeting has taken place, one should be convened as soon as 
the decision is made to go into the pre proceedings protocol, in order to identify 
possible alternative carers, whether they have the support of the family or whether 
there are competing prospective carers

– When proceedings have commenced if there has been no opportunity to have a 
meeting before, or if family members or close friends have made themselves known 
to the local authority at a late date, a family meeting should be arranged

Once one family meeting has taken place and the extended family is used to the 
structure and process, it may be reconvened at later dates to address different issues, 
for example contact arrangements.

Matters for consideration at a family meeting

– How to identify the people to invite
– Venue for the meeting
– Child care
– Who to chair the meeting
– Preparation of participants for the meeting
– Ensuring that the meeting focuses on the needs of the child
– Being clear with family members what you are seeking to achieve in having the 

meeting
– Some practitioners have urged caution with a system which is wholly family led in 

identifying possible alternative carers. Family dynamics may be such that the most 
able carers in the family have been excluded from family discussions and may 
not be informed of the family meeting. This is where a genogram which has been 
completed in less stressful times may come in useful. 

Page 36



7  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

3.1 REGULATIONS 26 
& 27 CARE PLANNING, 
PLACEMENT AND 
CASE REVIEW (WALES) 
REGULATIONS 2015
The above regulations came into force in 
April 2016 along with the implementation 
of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014. It repeals and replaces 
regulation 38(2) Fostering Services (Wales) 
Regulations 2003.

Schedule 5 of the regulations sets out 
the matters that must be taken into 
consideration when assessing the suitability 
of a ‘connected person’, under regulation 
26, to care for a child. Paragraphs 156 to 
165 of the Part 6 Code of Practice provide 
further guidance.

In some cases, where there has been pre 
proceedings work undertaken and a family 
group conference or meeting has taken 
place, the local authority will have some 
pre existing knowledge of and relationship 
with the family member(s) concerned.

However, many of these placements are 
made in an emergency, where a child 
needs to be looked after by the local 
authority and the alternative would be to 
place with approved foster carers with no 
connection with the child.

Schedule 5 provides a long list for 
consideration. The following three domains 
capture the principal strands of Schedule 
5 and set out the most important matters 
for consideration when this section is being 
used as a matter of urgency.

Good Practice
MATTERS FOR IMMEDIATE ASSESSMENT

1. The existing relationship with the child

– How well does this person know the child?

– Is the child familiar with the home and other members of the household?

2. The ability to protect the child from harm

– This will necessarily include an understanding of what the child has experienced, 
and the proposed carer’s proximity to and relationship with birth parents. This 
family member may be in a state of shock when realising what has taken place 
within the context of their own family and the assessment at this stage will need to 
focus on their ability to work with the local authority’s care plan and agree to any 
restrictions on and arrangements for contact. 

– The proposed carers’ and members of the household’s own experiences of 
physical or mental health problems, domestic violence, drug and alcohol problems 
or learning disabilities. Do these experiences prevent the proposed carer from 
providing safe and nurturing care at this stage?

– PNC checks 

– Suitability of living environment 

– Proximity to those who may harm/undermine the placement

– Ability to work with professionals/engage with the assessment

3. The practicalities of the proposed placement

– Sleeping arrangements 

– Availability of prospective carers to meet the needs of the child (work/other family 
commitments)

– Arrangements for getting to and from school/nursery

– Contact arrangements

– GP/existing medication/health care needs

– Proper written information for the carer to have which sets out the status of the 
placement with them/delegated authority

– Information on the assessed needs of the child (if available)

– All other CLA considerations (visits etc)

– A ‘script’ for the carer to explain to the child, in age appropriate terms, why s/he is 
living with them

The temporary approval  
of a relative friend or  
other connected person 

3

Page 37



8  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

4.1 THE PURPOSE OF 
VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS
Current case law (Re R (A Child) [2014] 
EWCA Civ 1625) has held that, in 
completing its welfare analysis at the end 
of care proceedings, the local authority 
does not have to take every single possible 
assessment and show its ‘workings out’ at 
the final hearing. 

In Re R the Court of Appeal held:

‘The (PLO) process of identifying options 
which can be discarded at an early stage 
in the proceedings itself demands an 
appropriate degree of rigour … but re B-S 
does not require that every stone has to 
be uncovered and the ground exhaustively 
examined … nor is there any basis for 
assuming that more than one negative 
assessment is required before a potential 
carer can be eliminated.’

We know, therefore, that in identifying 
options there has to be ‘rigour’, but having 
identified an option as being unrealistic 
through a rigorous process, then there 
should be no need to complete a full 
assessment

Although within care proceedings it is for 
the court to decide which options should 
go forward, if the viability assessment 
is robust and properly evidenced as 
being unrealistic, it is less likely that a full 
assessment will be directed, so saving both 
the local authority and the court time and 
money and the prospective carer time and 
possibly greater disappointment at a later 
stage.

4.2 INITIAL FILTERING
In some instances it may be abundantly 
clear at a very early stage that a family 
member who puts themselves forward 
to care is unsuitable and that even a 
viability assessment is not required. Such 
circumstances may include:

• An offence against a child (depending 
on context/time lapse/nature of the 
offence)

• A proven (and recent) inability to work 
with the local authority

• Where there has been significant 
involvement with the local authority and 
there is evidence that no work can be 
done to improve parenting capacity or 
lessen risk

• A family member whose age will 
probably preclude them from caring for 
the child for their minority (and where 
a ‘legacy’ carer is not identified or 
appropriate)

Where there is a large number of family 
members putting themselves forward in 
respect of one child or group of siblings, 
the local authority should attempt, through 
family group conferences, family meetings 
or discussions, to identify who would 
be the best (and most realistic) options 
to put forward to the court for viability 
assessments.

With good quality work, the applicant may 
be helped to rule themselves out, and may 
be relieved to be able to do this.

It is for the court to decide whether to rule 
a prospective carer out at this first filtering 
stage if there are current care proceedings, 
but if a robust argument can be made 
and adequate information provided on 
the particular grave concern for suitability, 
then that should be sufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that they are not a ‘realistic 
option’.

This form of filtering assessment should 
only be used in circumstances where the 
evidence is very clear. Where there is any 
doubt as to whether they are a realistic 
option, a viability assessment should be 
undertaken.

4.3 HOW LONG SHOULD 
A VIABILITY ASSESSMENT 
TAKE?
It is recommended that viability 
assessments are undertaken in 2 – 4 weeks. 
This is in line with current policy and 
practice in Wales.

4.4 WHO SHOULD 
UNDERTAKE VIABILITY 
ASSESSMENTS?
It is good practice to involve both the 
child’s social worker and the family 
placement/fostering social worker. This is 
to:

• Combine their knowledge of the family 
in order to gain a different perspective 
and insight in the family situation.

• Ensure that the family are not placed 
in the position of having to give 
information that is already known to the 
department.

• Bring an additional element of expertise 
in assessment which the child’s social 
worker may not have, i.e. the assessment 
of suitability of carers/ knowledge of the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 
2003.

• Introduce an element of independence 
for the family.

• Provide an analysis which focuses on the 
child’s needs and whether these family 
members appear to be able to meet 
those needs sufficiently to proceed to a 
full assessment.

Viability assessments of 
prospective kinship foster 
carers

4

Page 38



9  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Where there are two assessors involved, 
clear lines of accountability need to be 
developed to ensure that there is no 
overlap of work and prospective carers do 
not have to go over the same ground twice 
(unless that is deemed necessary). Time 
should therefore be taken to plan the work 
if it spans the two teams, ensuring that 
there is good communication and that joint 
reviews are integrated into the work.

4.5 HOW TO APPROACH A 
VIABILITY ASSESSMENT
It is important for the practitioner, when 
embarking upon a viability assessment, to 
bear in mind:

• There should be an acknowledgement 
of the shock and distress a family may 
be experiencing.

• The assessment should be conducted 
in a spirit of openness, positivity and 
honesty in exploring whether these 
family members may be able to care for 
the child/ren concerned.

• This is the start of an educative, two way 
process. Providing information, which 
has parallels with the “Skills to Foster” 
pre-assessment training for mainstream 
foster carers has been highlighted as 
a critical factor in establishing a stable 
placement (Wade, 2014). Because of 
the unplanned nature of the majority 
of kinship placements, this educative 
process needs to start early and 
continue throughout the whole of the 
assessment process. This factor was also 
noted as important in the CSSIW report, 
2016.

4.6 WHAT SHOULD 
VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS 
CONTAIN?
Across Wales local authorities have 
developed their own formats for viability 
assessments, some of which are approved 
by the relevant local family justice board. 
Benchmarking across the country has 
shown that these formats cover broadly 
the same areas to be analysed. The Family 
Rights Group has also produced a guide 
for viability assessments, ‘Initial Family and 
Friends Care Assessment: A Good Practice 
Guide, 2017’, which has been endorsed by 
the President of the Family Division, Lord 
Justice Munby. The domains covered in 
the guide do not differ greatly from the 
domains covered in the Welsh formats, but 
it provides useful guidance on particular 
areas, particularly for those practitioners 
inexperienced in undertaking viability 
assessments. The good practice guide is 
available on the FRG website.

Each family setting and child are unique so 
this list is not, and can never be, exhaustive. 
Practitioners will have to use their skills in 
assessment to identify whether there are 
other areas which may be relevant to each 
individual assessment. As is always the case 
in social work, the gathering of information 
alone is not sufficient for an assessment; 
it is the analysis of this information in 
the context of the applicant’s’ wish to be 
considered as prospective carers for the 
specific child/ ren that is critical.

Good Practice

– In North Wales, both the child’s 
social worker and fostering social 
worker undertake the assessment.

– In Neath Port Talbot, the child’s 
social worker undertakes the first 
visit. An audit of strengths and 
weaknesses then takes place, 
followed by a possible joint visit 
with the fostering social worker to 
focus on particular issues.

Page 39



10  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

4.7 VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS 
AND THE SOCIAL WORKER’S 
EVIDENCE TEMPLATE 
The most recent version of the Social 
Workers Evidence Template, Ministry of 
Justice, February 2016, usefully outlines 
areas to be considered in a viability 
assessment. Although it has not been 
formally adopted by some Welsh local 
authorities, it provides useful guidance:

‘Section 6: Analysis of the evidence of 
wider family and friends capability
6.1 Analysis of the evidence of wider family 
and friends capability to meet each child’s 
needs, including analysis of the evidence 
of any capability gap and whether/how this 
can be bridged in the child’s timescale.

Key considerations for a viability 
assessment

1. The genogram and ecomap should 
routinely identify those relatives who are 
already protective contacts for the child. 
Both the genogram and the ecomap 
should be comprehensive and inclusive.

2. Risky contacts should be excluded from 
consideration through a robust filtering 
process. This prima facie viability – for 
being a permanent carer – should be 
extended by three further tests – before 
a full assessment is carried out.

3. The three additional viability tests are:

a) That the carer understands in broad 
terms the needs of the child subject to 
proceedings

b) That the carer understands the level 
and type of care the child will need 
throughout their childhood as a 
consequence of their experiences

c) That the carer expresses an authentic 
willingness to be part of the team 
around the child until matters are fully 
resolved.’

4.8 THE ANALYSIS OF 
VIABILITY ASSESSMENTS
The following domains are considered 
as being the most important to consider 
within the final analysis at the end of the 
viability assessment process:

1) The risk posed to the child if placed with 
prospective carers, both in respect of 
the carer’s capacity to protect the child 
from any harm posed by parents and 
any harm arising from the care provided 
by the prospective carers themselves

2) An ability to work with the local authority 
to deliver the care plan for the child

3) An ability to start to see the child’s 
needs separately from the needs of the 
parents

4) Can any gap in capacity be addressed 
by the provision of training and/or 
support, within the timeframe for the 
child?

Good Practice

Matters to be covered in viability 
assessments

– Reason for proposed placement

– Motivation

– Accommodation, including 
proposed sleeping arrangements 
for the child

– Health of prospective carer and 
members of family/household

– Smoking

– Any history of domestic violence

– Any substance/alcohol dependency

– Consensus on part of all family/
household members to engage 
with the full assessment process/
care for the child(ren)

– Prospective carer’s experience 
of caring for children. Any local 
authority concerns about this

– How well do child and prospective 
carer(s) know each other/quality of 
relationship

– Prospective carers’ understanding 
of what is being asked (in terms of 
permanency and protection)

– Analysis of family dynamics, insight 
of family members into possible 
problems, family members’ support 
of the idea of reunification

– Impact of placement upon 
prospective carer and household

– Working relationship with LA 
and other agencies and ability to 
engage with the LA’s care plan and 
to keep information confidential

– Compatibility of child(ren) with any 
pets in the prospective placement

– A list of positive and risk factors

Viability assessments of prospective kinship foster carers

Page 40



11  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Full assessments of 
prospective kinship  
foster carers

A good assessment needs to: 

• evaluate, evidence and balance the 
strengths, vulnerabilities and risks of a 
placement and its appropriateness for 
the child/ren in question;

• inform, educate and prepare carers 
for the task which lies ahead, both 
immediately and in the longer term;

• develop viable plans for contact with 
parents, siblings, both sides of the 
extended family and significant others;

• identify the support needs of both child 
and carer and how those could be met.

The following points are taken from a 
Practice Tool prepared by Professor 
Joan Hunt (Hunt, J. (2015) Assessing and 
Supporting Family and Friends Care, 
Research in Practice. The challenges for a 
kinship assessment are:

• establishing trust and rapport with 
carers who may have negative views of 
social workers or are defensive and fear 
losing the child; 

• gaining an in depth understanding 
of the background/life story of the 
prospective carers;

• working with carers who may understand 
the need for assessment but not for 
such extensive investigation;

• assessing the capacity to protect of 
carers who may not have been fully 
aware of the extent of the family’s 
problems and need time and help to 
come to terms with what has happened 
and deal with their own feelings of guilt, 
shame, anger and loss; 

• assessing complex dynamics across the 
whole family system;

• helping carers achieve a realistic 
understanding of the potential 
challenges and impact on their lives;

• identifying both immediate and longer 
term support needs;

• completing the assessment within 
short, and in care proceedings, often 
truncated time-scale. 

Professor Joan Hunt goes on to quote:

‘A further challenge is conducting a robust 
assessment which is also a more positive, 
supportive, and less alienating experience 
for carers than has often been reported 
(Doolan et al, 2004; Farmer and Moyers, 
2008; Hunt et al, 2008; Wade et al, 2014). 
To this end it is argued that assessments 
should be conducted collaboratively, in a 
spirit of enquiry, treating carers with respect 
and sensitivity, valuing their unique insights 
and knowledge and focusing on family 
strengths and the assistance needed to 
address any deficits (Doolan et al, 2004; 
Hunt, 2009; Pitcher, 2001; Simmonds, 
2011). It cannot be over-emphasised that 
assessment needs to be grounded in an 
understanding that it is not a matter of 
taking a snapshot picture of the carers’ 
current abilities but an interactive, dynamic, 
process during which change may occur in 
the carer, the social worker’s perspective 
on the carer, or both. Making preparation 
an integral part of assessment assists 
this process and is likely to lead to better 
outcomes for children and reduced strain 
on carers (Wade et al, 2014). If handled 
sensitively it may also allow some carers to 
take the difficult decision not to proceed.’

When researching special guardianship 
assessments, Wade (2014) reported that 
while most special guardians felt that the 
assessment was sufficiently thorough in 
terms of assessing their suitability, some 
suggested that the process had been a 
bit one-way and that social workers hadn’t 
given them the opportunity to consider the 
implications of the order for them. 

5

Page 41



12  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

The following domains are regarded as the 
most critical. 

1.  The prospective carer‘s history, 
personal attributes and attitudes

– Their own background and experience 
of being a child/ attachment patterns. 
Their capacity to reflect on this

– Current and past relationships 

– Their own experience of being a parent 
to their own children. An ability to 
accept where things may have gone 
wrong in their own parenting (if it did)

– Any local authority’s worries for those 
children/evidence of change

– Their relationship with any children 
of their own – do they intend to have 
more? If single might they enter into a 
new relationship?

– Their capacity to put the child(ren) 
first in their thoughts and identify the 
child(ren)’s current and future needs

– Their resilience /stickability during 
challenges in the past

– Are they aspirational for their family 
members? Will they be for this child?

– Look to evidence and not just self 
reporting; a range of sources needs to 
be used to triangulate the evidence

2. The child/carer relationship

– Take account of research showing that 
placements with grandparents create 
more placement stability (Farmer and 
Moyers, 2008 and Hunt et al, 2008) 
and that a pre-existing relationship is a 
protective factor (Wade et al, 2014)

– Observe the relationship (if there is one). 
Spend time with carer and child together

– Undertake direct work with the child 
– what is his or her understanding of 
and feelings toward the proposed 
placement (age appropriate)?

– If there is no relationship consider 
introducing the child to the carer

– Is there enough capacity on their behalf 
to build on the relationship/love the 
child?

– Plan introductions before any final order 
is made and consider using the menu 
of orders available to the court (ie under 
interim care order or short term child 
arrangements order before care order 
or special guardianship order made) to 
move the child to the placement before 
the final order is made.

3.  The carer’s understanding of the task 
and impact upon their life

– It may take time to gain an 
understanding of what has happened 
and what is required

– Recognise strengths and work on those

– An acceptance of what has happened 
and the effect upon the child

– Being able to agree and work with a 
‘script’ in relation to life story telling

– Being able to work with the local 
authority in telling difficult information 
and help the child make sense of their 
own life

- What is their understanding of the 
nature of permanence? Being able to 
accept the implications for their life 
course (ie this two year old will be with 
you when they are 7,12, 17 etc)

– Being able to see another’s perspective

– Will they become a ‘parent’ – how do 
they see their role in relation to birth 
parents

– Managing contact and any potential 
conflict connected with relationships 
with the birth family

- Ability to accept support and ask for it 
when needed

– A proper understanding of the 
differences between being a foster carer 
and a special guardian or having a child 
arrangements order

– If they are to be a foster carer, an 
understanding of the expectation of 
the local authority (reviews/delegated 
authority/recordings etc)

4. Motivation and commitment

– The carer needs to understand why 
they are motivated to put themselves 
forward. Is it obligation, guilt or 
pressure from parents? If so, that will 
have implications for the child. The 
motivation needs to be, or become, free 
standing, unconditional and in relation 
to the child him or herself. Do they love 
this child/have the capacity to love?

– Carer needs to understand the concept 
of permanence for this child (as above)

– Carer needs to understand that the 
child’s experience will have an impact 
on the child’s behaviour and/or 
development

– How the carer’s age and/or health 
affects their ability to provide care both 
now and in the future – linked to the 
concept of permanency

– Contingency plans

5. Family dynamics

If it is a joint assessment, ensure that both 
prospective carers are assessed, as one 
may prove to be a more, or less, protective 
factor than the other

– Look at the family history 

– An understanding that there will be a 
shift in priorities and, in the short term 
at least, other family members’ needs, 
including children, will need to come 
second to the child placed.

– Observe the whole family together/hold 
a family meeting. Observe whole family 
system and, where necessary, look at 
how the family could be helped to work 
better 

– There needs to be an acceptance, by 
all significant family members, of the 
history leading to the child being cared 
for by the wider family. This should 
not be critical, but be honest and non 
judgemental

– What family support will the carers be 
able to rely on?

– Need to triangulate the evidence/test 
out the information provided

5.1 ASSESSING A PROPOSED CARER’S CAPACITY TO MEET  
THE CHILD’S NEEDS AND THEIR CAPACITY TO CHANGE

Full assessments of prospective kinship foster carers

Page 42



13  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

6. Relationships with birth parent(s)

The text in italics below is taken from 
Cheshire East Borough Council v PN & Ors 
(Flawed Local Authority Assessment) [2017] 
EWFC 20 

‘One of the key issues (if not the key issue) 
to be addressed when assessing the 
viability of family members is the ability of 
each of those adults to protect the child 
against the identified risk of harm’.

An assessment of risk/ability to protect is 
not about “road safety, stairgates and a 
loud Jack Russell” but about ”the central 
question of the ability of the (prospective 
carers) to protect the child against the 
clearly identified risk of harm presented by 
(parent(s)”

Prospective carers must know the “precise 
nature of the risk of harm” and “each of 
those being addressed must be the subject 
of a comprehensive evaluation of their 
understanding of and attitude towards that 
risk in order to establish the extent to which 
they have, or do not have, that capacity.”

– The child needs to know that the carer is 
able to protect him or her from the birth 
parents

– Is the carer able to resist a collusive 
relationship with birth parents?

– Is everyone clear about the benefits/
disadvantages of continued contact with 
birth parents?

– Will they be able to place restrictions 
on/facilitate contact?

– Will birth parents accept them 
becoming a ‘parent’ to the child?

A number of serious case reviews have 
highlighted the problems in undertaking 
assessments that are lacking in robustness. 
Although these are all SCR’s related to 
children who were killed or seriously 
assaulted by their special guardians, the 
same principles apply to the assessment of 
kinship foster carers:

Keegan Downer (Birmingham), Child 
A and Child B (Oxfordshire) and Child 
J (Nottinghamshire), have highlighted 
the following dangers in relation to the 
shortness and inadequacy of a kinship 
assessment:

• No pre existing relationship with the 
child(ren) (all three SCR’s). The carers 
identified were remotely related to the 
children and did not know them

• The need for a robust assessment 
where risk factors are not underplayed 
and lack of child care experience is not 
underestimated, when the children 
concerned have specific and additional 
needs (ie the question needs to be 
asked ‘can this person meet this child’s 
needs?) (all three SCR’s)

• The need for an enhanced DBS check 
(with Keegan and J there was no DBS 
check on file and both would have 
contained relevant information)

• The need for robust references from 
more than one source and the referees 
interviewed (J)

• Too much reliance on self reporting in 
the assessment (Keegan and J). Not 
enough triangulation of evidence/
reflection in the assessment

• Underestimating the impact of carer’s 
past experiences as a child (all three 
SCR’s)

Of course a fostering assessment requires 
an enhanced DBS check (and this is now 
also the case with the Special Guardianship 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018, 
where an enhanced DBS check is required). 
However, the points made in relation to 
the referees, relying on self reporting 
and consideration of past childhood 
experiences are very relevant to a fostering 
assessment.

TIMESCALES

The current regulatory framework 
acknowledges that assessments for the 
suitability to become foster carers require  
a reasonable period of time.

Regulation 26 Care Planning, Placement 
and Case Review (Wales) Regulations 
2015 allows for the responsible authority 
to approve a relative, friend or other 
person connected with the child as a local 
authority foster carer for a temporary 
period not exceeding 16 weeks.

However, the pursuit of the 26 week 
timetable imposed by the Public Law 
Outline, and, in some cases, the pursuit 
of the completion of a set of care 
proceedings in an even shorter period, has 
led to practitioners reporting that they are 
being directed by the courts to undertake 
assessments in very short periods of time.

How can practitioners avoid, if possible, 
being provided with a timescale that does 
not allow for a full and robust assessment?

The case for obtaining sufficient time 
for an assessment

If early identification has been a priority, 
with family group conferences or meetings 
taking place, that may prevent the sudden 
appearance of an unexpected family 
member or friend. However, even with 
the best practice and early intervention, 
possible kinship carers can, and do, 
‘emerge’ late in proceedings.

In Re S (A Child) [2014] EWCC B44 (Fam), 
the President held that a context in which 
an extension of the 26 week timetable may 
be necessary is where ‘a realistic alternative 
family carer emerges late in the day’. The 
court, therefore, has the capacity to weigh 
the disadvantages for the child of delay 
against the need for a robust assessment  
of a realistic family carer.

5.2 OBTAINING ENOUGH TIME, WITHIN PROCEEDINGS, TO 
BE ABLE TO UNDERTAKE A ROBUST KINSHIP ASSESSMENT

Full assessments of prospective kinship foster carers

Page 43



14  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

In the more recent case of Re P-S (Children) 
[2018] EWCA Civ 1407, the President, again 
in the context of a special guardianship 
assessment, held

‘ There can be – there must be – no 
question of abbreviating what is necessary 
in terms of fair process, and necessary 
to achieve the proper evaluation and 
furthering of the child’s welfare, by 
concern about the possible impact of 
such necessary delay upon the court’s 
performance statistics.’

What to consider?

Practitioners need to be mindful of the 
following possible implications for short 
assessment periods and bring these 
factors to the attention of the court where 
appropriate:

1) An assessment of a proposed family 
member’s capacity to care for a young 
relative for the rest of their minority 
is one of the most complex of all 
assessments – far more complex than 
mainstream fostering and adoption 
assessments, which are rarely completed 
in less than six months. 

2) There is little or no time for family 
members to assimilate information and 
reflect on it if timescales are too short.

3) The relationship the assessor necessarily 
has to build with the carer cannot be 
created within a short and pressurised 
time frame. In a good reflective 
assessment process the work is based 
on the trusting relationship developed 
between the assessor and the assessed 
so that the carer can explore their 
feelings of doubt, anger and anxiety 
over the proposed placement, as 
well as look forward to the positives. 
A shortened assessment that does 
not have time for both support and 
challenge will be a weak assessment. 

4) Checks and references are compromised 
by a short assessment. Practitioners 
tend to wait to interview referees later 
in the process where vulnerabilities may 
have emerged and they can be tested 
out with the referees. If interviews have 
to take place as soon as the assessment 
is started or shortly after, this is another 
safeguard lost.

5) Family members who put themselves 
forward as carers are sometimes 
involved with the reasons for and 
circumstances surrounding the child’s 
removal. This does not mean that they 
are unable to provide good enough 
care, but there needs to be the 
opportunity to demonstrate a capacity 
to change. A short assessment denies 
some prospective carers with that 
opportunity to make the necessary 
adjustments to lifestyle or parenting 
pattern.

If a practitioner has not had the opportunity 
to undertake a full and robust an 
assessment in the circumstances and in the 
time provided, then they should identify in 
their evidence where the shortfalls lie and 
the possible implications for making an 
order for the placement of a child under 
these circumstances. Detailed reasons 
should be given to the court as to why a 
full assessment cannot be undertaken in 
the timescale, what needs to be completed 
and a reasonable timeframe given for 
the completion. It is then for the court to 
decide whether to grant the extra time 
requested. 

Full assessments of prospective kinship foster carers

Page 44



15  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Under the Fostering Services (Wales) 
Regulations 2003, as amended, it is for 
the panel and decision maker to make a 
recommendation and decision respectively 
as to whether a prospective kinship 
carer is suitable to be a foster carer for 
a particular child or sibling group. This 
recommendation and decision is based 
upon all the checks, including an enhanced 
DBS check and references required by the 
regulations and a detailed assessment from 
the medical adviser, based on information 
from the applicants themselves and their 
GP.

The process of making a decision whether 
to approve an applicant as a foster carer 
is subject to the guidance set out in the 
case Hofstetter v LB Barnet and IRM [2009] 
EWHC 328 (Admin). 

The regulations do not differentiate 
between mainstream and kinship foster 
carer approval. The terms of approval 
remain the same – that under regulation 28 
there has to be a completed assessment 
of suitability and the foster panel has to 
consider the application.

The difference for kinship foster carers lies 
in the terms of that approval. Under reg 28 
the fostering service provider must decide 
on terms of approval and specify, in writing, 
those terms of approval, which will be that 
they are approved as suitable to be a foster 
carer for a named child/sibling group.

A concession is given to a kinship foster 
carer under reg 27 where a foster carer 
who is a relative of the child may not be 
deemed as automatically unsuitable if they 
have been found guilty of a number of 
offences.

Panels and decision makers struggle with 
applying the full force of the regulations 
and scrutiny of ‘suitability’ for a kinship 
placement, particularly where the child 
has already been placed under reg 26 
CPPCR(W)R 2015.

Panels and decision makers are helped 
with this process if they concentrate on 
the individual needs of the child(ren) 
concerned, for these carers are only 
being assessed and approved to care 
for this particular child. The strengths of 
the existing relationship, knowledge of 
and contact with family members and 
remaining within the wider family, may 
be balanced against the vulnerabilities 
of the carers compared with mainstream 
applicants.

It is possible to apply an amended set 
of competencies for a kinship foster 
assessment, which take into account 
the individual needs of this child as 
opposed to the needs of a hypothetical 
looked after child in a particular age 
range. Competencies are not set down in 
regulation or guidance and local authorities 
may devise their own in order to assist 

assessors, panels and decision makers as to 
whether this particular carer is suitable as a 
foster carer for this child/ sibling group.

The approval of a kinship carer as a foster 
carer is an administrative decision – it lies 
with the local authority, not the family 
court. However, the case of re T (A Child) 
[2018] EWCA Civ 650 held that, although 
the court cannot dictate to the local 
authority what its care plan should be, the 
court can expect a high level of respect 
(by the local authority) for the court’s 
assessment of risk and welfare, leading in 
almost every case to those assessments 
being put into effect (that is approval of 
an applicant kinship foster carer if the 
court assesses favourably). Also the local 
authority cannot refuse to provide lawful 
and reasonable services that would be 
necessary to support the court’s decision 
(that the applicant is suitable) if by doing so 
it would either breach the article 8 rights of 
the family concerned or its decision making 
process was unlawful on public law grounds 
(i.e. if it was unreasonable not to provide a 
particular level of service).

The role of foster panel 
and decision maker

6

Page 45



16  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

7.1 PRE-APPROVAL 
TRAINING
One of the major challenges in assessing 
family members as kinship carers is 
providing the level of training required 
to equip them to become suitable to 
be approved as foster carers under the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 
2003, within far shorter timescales than 
those approved as mainstream foster 
carers. Practitioners need to be creative 
in thinking how the rudiments of a 
preparation course can be shared with 
prospective kinship carers. Assessment 
tools already used by practitioners in 
assessing mainstream carers may easily be 
adapted for use with prospective kinship 
carers.

7.2 POST-APPROVAL 
TRAINING 
Should post approval training be 
undertaken along with mainstream foster 
carers? Some kinship carers’ experience 
of integrated training is positive, with 
mainstream carers embracing the family 
circumstances and providing positive 
reinforcement. Other experiences have not 
been so positive, with carers feeling judged 
as family members rather than accepted 
as foster carers. Some carers experience 
meeting together with mainstream foster 
carers as ‘overwhelming’.

This does not mean that it is either 
desirable (or indeed feasible) to provide 
completely separate and discrete 
training and support for kinship carers, 
but integration needs to be managed 
carefully, with support at the start built in, 
and perhaps some education provided to 
mainstream carers in preparation for mixed 
groups. 

What doesn’t work:

• The word ‘training’ itself can be 
off putting – can another name be 
identified?

• Attending a training event can be very 
intimidating, particularly if a carer feels 
anxious about being judged

• A misunderstanding of what training is 
for – ‘I have brought up my children and 
didn’t need training for that’

• Lack of time/other commitments/
geographical distance from the training 
venue

What does work:

• support events

• Peer mentoring

• Informal one to one training

• Some training needs to be for kinship 
carers only (If training is to be shared 
with mainstream carers, kinship carers 
need to be teamed up together for the 
training)

• Online training specifically for kinship 
foster carers would be an excellent 
component of a training package and 
could be used to provide audio as well 
as written information

Preparation, training  
and support

7

Page 46



17  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Good Practice

THE TOP SIX TRAINING TOPICS FOR KINSHIP CARERS

Kinship carers need to be clear that the following training (plus other areas not 
identified here) are relevant to them, will be time well spent and will provide useful 
information, as well as the opportunity to meet socially with other carers. 

1 Attachment and trauma and the rudiments of PACE. 
Understanding why children behave in a particular way and strategies for dealing 
with the behaviour (this would probably be best undertaken for kinship carers in a 
discrete session as discussion will inevitably turn to the trauma that the child has 
suffered). This is a topic, not just a day’s training – the subject needs to be looked  
at in different stages of development and consider secondary trauma

2 Life journey work – narrative/answering difficult questions, particularly when you 
as a carer may be part of that family narrative 

3 Understanding the system:

– The legal framework for fostering

– Attending meetings

– The respective roles of the child’s social worker and the fostering support worker

– Delegated authority

– Safe care/allegations/disclosures+ safeguarding 

– Recording

4 Understanding family dynamics – this was a topic that the grandparents group 
felt to be most important. To include:

– Managing contact

– The importance of recording in this context

5 The way forward – looking at the pros and cons of an SGO compared with 
remaining as a foster carer for a looked after child

6 Understanding adolescence – Confidence in Care (to share with mainstream 
carers but to have more than one kinship carer)

7.3 TRAINING ON A 
REGIONAL BASIS
Through the auspices of the NFF, local 
authorities may decide to provide kinship 
carer training on a regional basis.

The benefits are:

• Greater /more timely availability 

• Greater attendance and so better value

• Better use of expertise/expensive 
external trainers

The disadvantages are:

• Geography/travel time

• Not building up local networks (for 
informal support)

Support (and some training) for kinship 
foster carers alongside special guardians 
can also be very positive – there may be 
a different legal framework but the task is 
very similar.

Preparation, training and support

Page 47



18  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Good Practice

Neath Port Talbot has a specialist 
support worker for kinship carers. 
They also provide, where appropriate, 
a separate social worker providing 
support for kinship carers who have 
a current placement under reg 26 
CPPCR(W)R and who is separate from 
the fostering assessment social worker.

7.4 SUPPORT FOR CARERS
The single most important factor 
highlighted by carers is the attitude of 
workers. One carer said of her support 
worker ‘it was the way she put across 
the requirement for assessment and 
DBS checks to care for the family … she 
understood my dynamics … she was a 
shoulder to cry on.’

In order to be able to support family 
placements, child care social workers need 
specific training and support in working 
collaboratively and empathically with 
kinship carers. Family placement social 
workers can often take the lead with this

This attitude of collaboration, empathy 
and transparency needs to start at an early 
stage, with clear information being given at 
any family group meeting/family meeting 
and for a member of the family placement 
team to be available at the meeting to 
answer questions.

The provision of easy to read and 
appropriate written information, from 
an early stage. A series of leaflets could 
provide the right information at the right 
time. These leaflets could include a section 
on ‘frequently asked questions’. Conwy has 
a leaflet for kinship carers.

Once into placement:

• The provision of informal support 
groups carers. Again these could be 
separate or combined with mainstream 
carers or provided with special 
guardians

• Out of hours emergency support (should 
be provided already?)

• Consideration given to practical support 
to be able to attend (travel/child care/
timing of groups)

• Activities (parties/picnics/pantomime 
trips) are popular support activities

• The provision of psychological advice 
and assistance apart from CAMHS

• The provision of support groups for 
children looked after by family members

• A recognition that adolescence brings 
its challenges to all families and 
that support needs to be accessible 
throughout the child’s minority

• Help to access counselling services for 
carers themselves

• Access to advocacy services

7.5 SUPPORT ON A 
REGIONAL BASIS

Benefits:

• Enables a greater ‘menu’ of activities by 
sharing expertise across the region

• Avoid duplication/provide critical 
numbers for running schemes with very 
small authorities

• Provides links with wider community (eg 
other BME carers/LGBT carers)

• A greater opportunity for sharing best 
practice

Preparation, training and support

Page 48



19  Kinship Foster Carers: Good Practice Guide

Page 49



NATIONAL FOSTERING FRAMEWORK
The Phase Two Report 2016-17 was presented to Welsh Government at the end  
of March 2017 and a work programme for Phase Three 2017-18 has been agreed.

Funding for this work is coming from the £8million investment in Children’s Services 
recently announced by WG, £400k has been identified for the NFF Phase Three work 
programme. At the end of September the Welsh Local Government Association 
agreed that £400k will be ring-fenced for the NFF in next financial year 2018-19.

AFA CYMRU
The Association for Fostering and Adoption Cymru (AFA Cymru) is a Welsh charity 
that promotes good practice across the breadth of permanency planning for children 
and young people. It also offers advice, training and consultancy to professionals and 
members of the public to support best practice. 

AFA Cymru is employed under the umbrella of St David’s Children Society and is part 
funded by a Welsh Government grant.

Page 50



POST APPROVAL 
LEARNING AND 
DEVELOPMENT 
FRAMEWORK  
FOR FOSTER  
CARERS

MARCH 2019 Page 51



The nature of the role of a foster 

carer can make it difficult at times 

to prioritise training, learning and 

development opportunities, but  

it can make all the difference for  

your own well-being and that of  

the child(ren) that you care for. 

Although fostering takes a very 

special person, we all need the  

right tools to equip us for the 

challenges ahead. This can only  

be achieved through continual 

learning and networking 

opportunities. 

Page 52



3

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THE 
DOCUMENT?
• It provides a consistent approach to post-approval 

learning and development for foster carers in Wales 

• It provides guidance on how the Learning and 
Development Framework and the Social Care Wales’ 
All Wales Induction Framework for Health and Social 
Care Workers fit together

• It creates a mechanism for collating and reviewing 
of the learning and development achievements of 
foster carers as well as the identification of future 
needs

• It creates a clear pathway for foster carers to map 
their own professional development

• It provides a resource for supervising social workers 
to discuss with foster carers their learning and 
development needs

• To promote a range of learning and development 
opportunities

• It places an expectation upon foster carers to 
take greater ownership of their own learning and 
development 

• It creates clear and transparent standards to strive  
to achieve 

WHAT IS THIS DOCUMENT?
One of the National Fostering Framework’s (NFF) 
workstreams was the development of a Post-approval 
Learning and Development Framework for foster carers 
across Wales. 

The Fostering Network and AFA Cymru led on 
the development of a Learning and Development 
Framework. Extensive consultation with foster carers 
across Wales took place which made a significant 
contribution to this work.

Foster carers were unanimous in their view that whilst 
pre-approval training was of a consistently high 
standard post-approval training was not. Foster carers 
across Wales considered they did not have the same 
opportunities to access training and development,  
due to the variations in local training programmes.

WHEN WILL IT BE IMPLEMENTED?
• Implementation will be on a phased basis

• Each NFF Regional Development Manager (RDM) 
will take a lead role in their regions for developing  
an Implementation Plan

WHAT’S INCLUDED?
• The post-approval Learning and Development 

Framework for foster carers

• Foster Carers’ Personal Learning Record and 
Development Plan

• Guidance Notes for the completion of the Personal 
Learning Record and Development Plan

• Guidance on how the NFF Learning and 
Development Framework and the All Wales 
Induction Framework for Health & Social Care 
Workers need to be approached

INTRODUCTION 01

Page 53



4

VISION STATEMENT

“Fostering families in Wales are offered 

great learning opportunities that meet 

their professional and personal needs, 

reflects their growing experience and 

supports them to provide high quality 

care for children and young people.“

POST-APPROVAL LEARNING 
AND DEVELOPMENT 
FRAMEWORK FOR  
FOSTER CARERS

The purpose of the Framework is to provide a basis 
for a national approach that can underpin a more 
consistent approach to learning and development 
for foster carers across Wales. It is hoped that the 
development of a more consistent approach to 
post-approval training for foster carers will provide a 
platform for fostering services to exploit the potential 
benefits of regional working, should they choose. 

The Framework recognises the importance of 
providing an individualised approach to learning and 
development for foster carers, driven by circumstances, 
strengths, vulnerabilities and the needs of the children 
they foster.

A FRAMEWORK FOR LEARNING  
AND DEVELOPMENT 
Learning opportunities can be provided through formal 
training courses, but also through online learning, peer 
mentoring, self-learning or through practice learning 
(eg through one to one work with a therapist in relation 
to a specific child). The key issue is: 

“How did the learning/development activity contribute 
to your capacity as a foster carer to meet the needs and 
improve outcomes for the child in your care?”

Learning and development are best promoted 
where the overall culture of the organisation is one of 
reflection and continuous learning. Foster carers have 
the unique experience of living with children who are 
looked after, so in addition to acquiring knowledge, 
they also need to be provided with the opportunity to 
reflect on their own experiences in the context of this 
knowledge in order to promote positive placements, 
but also to ensure their wellbeing as a fostering family. 

Page 54



5

EVIDENCING LEARNING 

The Personal Learning Record and Development 
Plan provides a format for evidencing and recording 
learning. This includes prior learning experiences as 
well as those needs identified through the assessment, 
ongoing supervision and annual review process.

Fostering services therefore need to ensure that their 
processes and procedures for supervision and annual 
review reflect this requirement. The Outcomes 
Statements are intended to provide a basis from which 
to evaluate the impact of the learning event. 

CORE VALUES FOR LEARNING  
AND DEVELOPMENT
Fostering Services are responsible for ensuring that 
learning opportunities for foster carers are

• Exciting and stimulating

• Accessible to all learners using formal, self-guided 
and blended learning opportunities

• Delivered in a way that takes account of physical 
needs, language, geography, working patterns, 
childcare etc.

• Delivered within a framework of equal opportunities 
and anti-discriminatory practice

• Inclusive of opportunities to train alongside other 
professionals to recognise that they are part of the 
team around the child.

Page 55



6

THE LEARNING FRAMEWORK

CORE: These learning and development opportunities are deemed as being an essential foundation for all foster 
carers. 

Some outcomes are specified within the regulations and will require updating in accordance with local policy. 
Foster 

Carers may require additional learning and development opportunities at any point to ensure that they can meet 
the needs of the children and young people in their care. 

Child Development Safeguarding Safer Caring and 
Allegations

Supporting Education  
and Development 

Working with Birth 
Families and Contact

Recording, Presenting and 
Information Sharing

Transitions for Children 
and Young People 

Life Journey Work

Promoting Good Health 
and Well-being

Developing a Secure 
Base and Promoting 
Attachment

Understanding 
Challenging Behaviour 
and Promoting Positive 
Strategies

Advocacy and Children’s 
Rights

Health and Safety First Aid Foundation Legislation Local Induction (including 
policies and procedures)

ADDITIONAL: These learning and development opportunities build upon the core foundation and reflect the 
development needs of individual foster carers.  

Foster Carers may require additional learning and development opportunities at any point to ensure that they can 
meet the needs of the children and young people in their care. 

It is recognised that other opportunities outside of this framework may be required to meet specific needs.

Moving Children onto 
Adoption 

Advanced Attachment 
and Trauma 

Therapeutic Re-parenting Digital Safety and Social 
Media Awareness 

Fostering Sons & 
Daughters and the 
Involvement of Extended 
Family

Caring for Children 
and Young People with 
Additional Needs

Advanced Strategies to 
Manage Challenging 
Behaviour

Advanced Safer Caring 
and Risk Management

Child Sexual Exploitation When I’m Ready Promoting Independence Living with Teenagers

Therapeutic Play Understanding children 
and young people’s 
mental health

Taking care of yourself and 
each other

Substances and Addiction

Domestic abuse County Lines Court Skills Equality and Diversity

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 56



7

PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS FOR POST-APPROVAL FOSTER CARER LEARNING, 
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

SPECIFIC: There may be a need for foster carers to access specific learning and development opportunities to 
meet the needs of the children placed with them or their own personal development. These may be accessed at 
any time during their journey through the Post Approval Learning and Development Framework.

These specific opportunities are vast but may include:

Child and Parent 
Placements 

Short Breaks/Support Care Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children and 
Young People

Radicalisation 

Caring for children who 
have experienced sexual 
abuse

Caring for children 
with specific needs e.g. 
disabilities

Fostering Changes Train the Trainers

Remand fostering Peer Mentoring Sexual orientation and 
gender identity awareness

Sex and relationships

Principle 1

The NFF post-approval learning and development 
framework forms part of the professional 
development pathway for foster carers in Wales, 
who are recognised as part of the social care 
workforce in Wales.

1.2 The post-approval learning and development 
programme provides underpinning knowledge 
and opportunities to evidence competencies for 
the Health and Social Care Induction Framework.

1.3 Foster carers have access to additional training 
opportunities. For example:

• Specific programmes such as Fostering 
Changes, 

• Specialist training to meet the needs of specific 
groups such as parent and baby placements or 
unaccompanied and asylum-seeking children 

1.4 Individual learning or professional development 
plans for foster carers reflect learning needs 
identified in pre-approval assessment, supervision 
and annual review process. The subsequent 
supervision and review sessions should look for 
evidence that learning has been incorporated into 
their practice. 

Minimum Learning and Development Standards

1.1 Post-approval learning, development and training 
builds upon pre-approval training and advances 
the foster carers understanding of:

• Their roles, responsibilities and status as part  
of the team around the child

• Their key role in promoting the child’s 
wellbeing as required by Welsh legislation

Page 57



8

Principle 2

Post-approval learning and development provides 
foster carers and their families with opportunities 
to benefit from shared learning experiences, 
alongside professionals as part of the team around 
the child.

Minimum Learning and Development Standards  

2.1 Foster carers and their families can access multi-
disciplinary training opportunities with other 
professionals who are part of the team around  
the child, such as:

• Supervising social workers
• Children’s social workers 
• Health professionals
• Teachers and Learning Support staff 
• The regional adoption service

2.2 Experienced foster carers and care experienced 
young people can provide an invaluable 
contribution and their voice should be heard.  
For example, as co-facilitators, guest speakers  
or through peer support.

2.3 Post-approval learning and development 
opportunities are extended to the wider family 
(e.g. birth children)

2.4 There are opportunities for foster carers to 
complete aspects of post-approval learning and 
development as a cohort.

Principle 3

Post-approval training has consistent quality and 
content. Foster carers own the responsibility for 
their motivation to develop and achieve personal 
learning goals.

Minimum Training Standards 

3.1 All post-approval training courses and 
programmes are designed around clear and 
consistent learning objectives

3.2 Post-approval training includes:

• The relevant legislation for the UK and Wales 
• Welsh policy and practice guidance including 

relevant LA policies
• A theoretical overview of the subject 
• Up to date research and/or statistics
• Examples of best practice e.g. case studies
• Practical skills and techniques
• Time for personal reflection

3.3 A range of teaching methods should be used to 
meet differing learning styles 

3.4 Participants are asked to complete a course 
evaluation and agencies have mechanisms to 
monitor feedback and act upon issues arising.

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 58



9

LEARNING AND 
DEVELOPMENT  
FRAMEWORK

02

These titles and learning outcomes have been developed through consultation 
with practitioners and foster carers across Wales as part of the work in establishing 
a National Fostering Framework. They are suggested minimum standards that 
many fostering services and foster carers may choose to exceed. 

It may be that the specific needs of a child in placement dictate the knowledge 
that is required at a particular time in a foster carers career. This guidance is not 
intended to replace discretion about what training and support is required to care 
for any given child at any given point. 

CORE
These learning and development opportunities are 
deemed as being an essential foundation for all foster 
carers.

Some outcomes are specified within the regulations 
and will require updating in accordance with local 
policy.

Foster Carers may require additional learning and 
development opportunities at any point to ensure that 
they can meet the needs of the children and young 
people in their care.

Child Development 

• Have knowledge of key child development 
milestones for children and young people (0-18)

• To have explored the link between play and 
development

• To have considered the factors that can delay or 
interrupt a child’s development (e.g. poor early years 
experiences, the impact of trauma and nutrition).

• To understand the need to meet the child’s 
development stage rather than their chronological 
age

• To have considered the approaches by foster carers 
that can support children and young people’s 
development

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify the stage of development of the child in 
placement and the impact of their past experiences 
upon that.  The foster carer will be able to use this 
knowledge to adapt their parenting and care giving 
approach.

Page 59



10

Safeguarding 

• To discuss the abuses that young people can 
experience and be aware of the impact of that on 
them

• To explore the current issues in relation to child 
sexual exploitation and implications for practice 

• To understand the role of everyone in safeguarding 
children and young people including the foster 
carers role in referring any concerns

• To be aware of the relevant legislation and processes 
and how they work in practice in the foster carers 
fostering service

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe the impact of abuse and identify their role 
in safeguarding the child in placement. 

Safer Caring and Allegations

• To consider why allegations can occur in fostering

• To understand the process for managing allegations 
against foster carers

• To know what support and information foster carers 
should have in the event of an allegation being 
made against them

• To review the fostering families’ safe caring practice 
in the light of the discussions

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe why allegations may occur and discuss their 
safer caring practice.

Supporting Education and Development 

• Identify the key difficulties that may affect the 
education of children and young people in care

• Explore the impact of unmet attachment needs and 
trauma on the ability of children to achieve their 
educational potential

• Identify ways to encourage and support children and 
young people with their education (including early 
years, further education, training) and help them 
overcome setbacks

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify the ways in which they promote the 
education of the child in placement 

Working with Birth Families and Contact

• To understand the legal requirement in relation to 
birth family members

• To consider the challenges of working with birth 
family members and the benefits of achieving a 
positive working relationship for all parties

• To consider the issues raised when children transition 
to birth families

• To examine the importance of recording in relation 
to contact

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe what they can do to support the child in 
placement to have a positive contact experience. 

Recording, Presenting and Information Sharing

• To reflect upon the importance of confidentiality in 
fostering and how that works in practice

• To discuss daily record keeping and practise 
separating fact from opinion

• To consider how foster carer’s record keeping can 
support the care planning process

• Enhance skills to participate effectively at LAC 
meetings 

• To explore how children and young people can be 
supported to contribute to their LAC reviews

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Write competent recordings that contribute to the 
child in placement’s planning and care. Be confident 
about the value of the role of the foster carer in 
sharing information in a range of settings.

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 60



11

Transitions for Children and Young People 

• To consider the impact of change on children and 
young people

• To reflect upon how previous transitions will impact 
on subsequent ones

• To consider how this can effect day to day changes 
such as starting school or going on holiday

• To start to consider changes in placement and ways 
to prepare for these

• To examine how a foster carer can help a child or 
young person manage such transitions

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe how they will help the child in placement to 
manage the changes in their life, taking in account 
their past experiences.

Life Journey Work

• To understand the significance of narrative for 
children and young people in understanding and 
building their sense of identity 

• To understand the way life journey work can 
be undertaken to help a child or young person 
understand what has happened to them so they are 
better able to process these experiences.

• To be aware of the role of the foster carer in 
contributing to this work

• To have started to think about how difficult 
information can be shared sensitively

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe what they will do to contribute to the life 
journey work for the child in placement. 

Promoting Good Health and Well-being

• To advance knowledge of the health outcomes for 
looked after children and young people

• To increase understanding of specific health topics 
such as mental health

• To develop understanding of the role of the foster 
carer in promoting the health and wellbeing of 
looked after children

• To ensure awareness of responsibilities under the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify the ways in which they promote the 
health and wellbeing of the child in placement in 
accordance with their care and support plan.

Developing a Secure Base and Promoting 
Attachment

• To understand how a child develops attachment 
relationships

• To consider the types of attachments children can 
develop and the impact of this on their behaviour/
development

• To be aware of what foster carers can do to promote 
a secure attachment

• To identify the need for all children to have a secure 
base and what foster carers can do to promote this

• Consider the impact on the foster family members 
of caring for children with attachment difficulties 
and recognise the need for self-care for all family 
members

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to: 
Describe the child in placement’s attachment 
patterns and how they can provide a secure base  
for that child.

Page 61



12

Understanding Challenging Behaviour and 
Promoting Positive Strategies

• To be aware of what is expected behaviour for 
children and young people at different stages of 
development and to consider why children might 
behave in certain ways

• Develop practical skills in behaviour identification 
and strategies to support the longevity and stability 
of placements

• Understand the need to adapt own behaviour and 
communication in order to influence that of the 
children and young people they are caring for 

• Understand the need to look after yourself in order 
to able to respond appropriately to the children and 
young people they are caring for

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify why the child in placement might be 
behaving in a certain way and consider the most 
appropriate response to that.  Describe how they  
are positively promoting the behaviour of the child  
in placement. 

Advocacy and Children’s Rights

• Understand the legal and policy context in relation 
to children’s rights and making complaints

• Understand the role of other key professionals 
such as independent advocates and independent 
reviewing officers

• Explore ways to advocate on behalf of children and 
young people to ensure their needs are met

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Illustrate how they will advocate for the child in 
placement. 

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Health and Safety

Health and Safety training should be provided 
by a suitably qualified individual from an agency 
recognised and certified to provide health and 
safety training. Learning outcomes will be directed 
by the specific course provided by individual 
fostering services.

First Aid

First aid training should be provided by a suitably 
qualified individual from an agency recognised 
and certified to provide first aid training.  Learning 
outcomes will be directed by the specific course 
provided by individual fostering services.

Page 62



13

ADDITIONAL
These learning and development opportunities build 
upon the core foundations and reflect the development 
needs of individual foster carers.  

Foster Carers may require additional learning and 
development opportunities at any point to ensure that 
they can meet the needs of the children and young 
people in their care. 

It is recognised that other opportunities outside of this 
framework may be required to meet specific needs. 

Moving Children onto Adoption

• Explore the impact of this process on the children 
and adults involved and explore ways to manage 
feelings

• Explore ways to help children and young people 
deal with their sense of loss resulting from change 

• Identify practical strategies to help everyone 
involved through the transition in a positive manner

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to: 
Describe how they will keep the child’ needs at the 
centre of the process of moving on. 

Advanced Attachment and Trauma

• Further understanding the links between attachment 
problems, the impact of trauma, delayed 
development and presenting behaviour to identify 
how this has impacted on the children in your care

• Develop awareness of the impact of attachment 
styles on brain development and its impact upon 
mental health

• Reflect on practice in order to identify how you to 
help children to develop secure relationships and 
become resilient

• Consider the impact that caring for children with 
attachment difficulties has had on the fostering 
family members and revisit strategies for self-care

• Explore what support/Interventions can be used to 
meet the developmental needs of children in care

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe the impact of trauma on the child in 
placement and how they will provide care given their 
understanding of attachment theory. 

Therapeutic Re-parenting

• Clarify the difference between ‘standard’ parenting 
and ‘therapeutic’ parenting

• Consider a range of strategies to help manage 
children with attachment difficulties 

• Explore the concept of attuned parenting, for 
example  
the principles of PACE

• Think holistically about how to meet the needs of 
traumatised children, for example the impact of the 
environment 

• Reflect upon own attachment styles in current 
parenting of children and discuss the importance of 
a long-term perspective and practicing self-care

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe and apply the techniques of therapeutic 
parenting to meet the attachment related needs of 
the child in placement. 

Digital Safety and Social Media Awareness 

• To increase knowledge of the various ways in which 
children and young people engage with the virtual 
world

• To raise awareness of the benefits and opportunities 
digital technologies offer to looked after children 
and young people

• To explore potential safety issues for looked 
after children and young people using digital 
technologies

• To identify the core skills that foster carers can use to 
support young people to operate safely in the virtual 
world

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe how they balance opportunity and safety 
in relation to the use of digital technologies for the 
child in placement.

Page 63



14

Fostering Sons and Daughters and the Involvement  
of Extended Family

• To acknowledge the key role of sons and daughters 
in relation to successful fostering placements

• To reflect on the impact on sons and daughters and 
consider how their needs can be met

• To consider the extended family and how issues such 
as confidentiality are managed especially when they 
are playing a key supporting role 

• Identify ways they will balance the needs of their  
own child with those of the child in placement 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify ways they will balance the needs of their  
own child with those of the child in placement.

Caring for Children and Young People with 
Additional Needs

• Understand the relevant legislation, policy and 
practice guidance in relation to education, health 
and care needs, assessments and plans

• Explore the issues involved when working together 
with social services, education and health for joint 
outcomes

• Discuss ways to prepare for adulthood from the 
earliest years

• Provide guidance when dealing with children and 
young people in specific circumstances

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to: 
Describe the additional needs of the child in 
placement and how they will respond to these. 

Advanced Strategies to Deal with Challenging 
Behaviour 

• To provide an overview of the key models for 
managing challenging behaviour in looked after 
children

• Gain understanding of a range of strategies, for 
example Non Violent Resistance

• To provide an opportunity to put theory into practice

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify why they are using a specific behaviour 
management technique with the child in placement.

Advanced Safer Caring and Risk Management

• Have an opportunity to review the fostering family’s 
safer caring practice and share strategies

• To explore the concepts of risk and harm within this 
context

• To clarify the foster carers role in relation to 
delegated authority, risk assessment and information 
sharing 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify the ways that they manage risks to the child 
in placement to safeguard them while supporting 
their development. 

Child Sexual Exploitation

• Increase understanding of child sexual exploitation 
and to recognise the impact on behaviour, child 
development and self-esteem

• Encourage participants to feel comfortable 
discussing sexual issues and behaviours with children

• Develop strategies which help keep their families 
and foster children safe

• Know what to do when suspecting a child might be 
at risk of this abuse

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe how they will safeguard a child in 
placement who is vulnerable to child sexual 
exploitation.

When I’m Ready

• Understand the statutory guidance, good practice 
guidance and agency frameworks for When I’m 
Ready 

• Consider emerging issues that arise between the 
transition from a foster placement to a When I’m 
Ready arrangement

• Discuss ways to support effective implementation of 
‘When I’m Ready arrangements locally 

• Discuss and share ideas to support good practice

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify the benefits of When I’m Ready 
arrangements and their role in preparing for these.

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 64



15

Promoting Independence

• Understand the legal and policy context in relation 
to independent living and When I’m Ready

• Understand the roles and responsibilities all 
professionals in the team around the child 

• Gain confidence in understanding the Young 
Person’s needs and the role of the foster carer in 
supporting them.

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Explain how they will prepare a young person for 
independent living.

Living with Teenagers

• Understand teenage brain development, puberty 
and the impact on behavior

• Explore a range of communication skills that can 
be used to maintain relationships, for example 
negotiating rules and boundaries

• Understand the importance of social development 
and presentation in adolescence 

• Explore how to help teenagers manage transitions 
and access appropriate support

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe the needs of teenagers with increased 
insight about how they will meet them.

Therapeutic Play

• Explore the core concepts of Attachment and 
current brain research as a basis for providing a 
relationship based play intervention

• Identify techniques, strategies and tools that may  
be integrated into play sessions

• Explore how play may meet the needs of children 
with emotional and behavioural difficulties, children 
with developmental disorders (such as ASD, ADHD)

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Apply the interventions to the particular needs of  
the child in placement. 

Understanding Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health

• Increase knowledge of specific mental health topics 
such as self-harm, eating disorders and suicidal 
thoughts

• Understand the role of the foster carer in promoting 
the mental health and well-being of looked after 
children

• Gain awareness of the different types of support 
available for children and young people who are 
experiencing mental health difficulties 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Describe what they will do to support children  
and young people facing mental health issues.

Taking Care of Yourself and Each Other

• Understand the impact of secondary post-traumatic 
stress 

• Identify the typical the signs and symptoms of stress 
in themselves and others 

• Explore strategies for managing and minimising 
stress 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Identify their own stress responses and describe 
coping mechanisms to maintain balance. 

Substances and Addiction

• Develop an understand of what substances are  
and their effects on individuals

• Explore the law relating to illegal substances

• The risks associated with substance misuse

• Gain an understanding of the effect that substance 
misuse has on parenting capacity and the short and 
long term impact on children

• Learn about the help and support available for 
substance users and those around them

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Recognise and describe the effects of substance 
misuse to support the child or young person 
appropriately.

Page 65



16

Domestic Abuse 

• Develop an understanding of what domestic abuse 
is and the effects on individuals

• Explore the law in relation to domestic abuse

• Gain an understanding of the impact of domestic 
abuse on children and how to support them to 
overcome this trauma 

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Recognise and describe the effects of domestic 
abuse to support the child or young person 
appropriately.

County Lines

• Explore gang culture, the effects of Social Media, 
music and terminology

• Gain an understanding of criminal exploitation and 
the grooming process

• Develop strategies to ensure vulnerable young 
people are safeguarded

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Recognise, respond and support young people who 
are groomed for criminal exploitation.

Court Skills

• Reflect on and value the role of the foster carer as an 
expert witness

• Develop the confidence and practical skills required 
for giving evidence in court

• Develop skills in recording information as part of an 
assessment

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Provide information to a range of audiences. 

Equality and Diversity

• Learn and reflect on the varied backgrounds that 
children, young people and their families originate 
from

• Learn about legislation relevant to this subject

• Promote each child and young person’s uniqueness

• Discuss the different forms of discrimination and 
consider strategies to address

 Outcome: The foster carer will be able to:  
Discuss their understanding of discrimination and 
evidence their ability to promote anti-discriminatory 
practice.

SPECIFIC
There may be a need for foster carers to access specific 
learning and development opportunities to meet the 
needs of the children placed with them or their own 
personal development. These may be accessed at any 
time during their journey through the Post Approval 
Learning and Development Framework.

These specific opportunities are vast but may include: 

• Parent and Child Placements

• Short Breaks/ Support Care

• Caring for Unaccompanied and Asylum Seeking 
Children and Young People 

• Radicalisation

• Caring for children who have experienced sexual 
abuse

• Caring for Children with specific needs e.g. 
disabilities 

• Fostering Changes 

• Train the Trainer

• Remand Fostering

• Peer mentoring

• Sexual orientation and gender identity awareness

• Sex and relationships

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 66



17

GUIDANCE ON 
MAPPING LEARNING

Guidance on mapping learning from the All Wales Induction Framework for Health 
and Social Care to the National Fostering Framework Learning and Development 
Framework for foster carers in Wales. 

03

Page 67



18

SOCIAL CARE WALES ALL WALES 
INDUCTION FRAMEWORK FOR  
HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
The Learning and Development Framework was 
designed to reflect the key principles of the All Wales 
Induction Framework for Health and Social Care 
(AWIFHSC). Although not mandatory at this time, the 
AWIFHSC and revised qualification framework (QCF) 
is recognised as best practice and should inform post 
approval foster carer learning and development. 
Therefore, this national framework needs to be linked 
to subsequent developments from Social Care Wales 
as a key recommendation of the consultation report 
was: 

‘Ensuring that the framework is mapped to 
Health Social Care Induction Framework and 
the new qualifications and framework being 
developed by Social Care Wales’

The new framework was introduced in April 2018 and 
is designed for all social care workers. It provides a 
structure for common induction across Wales, outlining 
the knowledge and skills professionals need to gain 
during their induction period. All Fostering Managers 
have a responsibility to make sure that their newly 
approved foster carers receive a robust, structured 
induction using this framework. 

Foster carers are not required to register with Social 
Care Wales, but new carers are expected to complete 
the relevant sections of the induction framework 
(sections 2, 4, 5, 6, and 7). Social Care Wales recognise 
that it may take longer than six months for a foster 
carers to complete the induction framework due to the 
nature of the fostering role. The induction framework 
will only be signed off once all the outcomes are 
achieved.

From September 2019 the ‘core’ qualification for all 
the level 2 and 3 health and social care qualifications 
in Wales will mirror the generic knowledge, 
understanding and practice elements of the induction 
framework. This means that as new foster carers 
undertake the induction framework, they will start 
gathering evidence that can be used towards achieving 
these qualifications. All foster carers should be 
supported and encouraged to undertake the AWIFHSC 
as part of their progression prior to beginning other 
qualifications.

CROSS REFERENCING LEARNING 
ACROSS THESE TWO FRAMEWORKS 
It will be beneficial for newly approved foster carers 
to start to complete the AWIFHSC at the earliest 
opportunity. Social Care Wales have developed set 
progress logs designed to record achievement of 
the learning outcomes for each section. They can be 
downloaded from their website https://socialcare.
wales/collections/all-wales-induction-framework-for-
health-and-social-care 

The completed progress logs will provide evidence for 
many of the learning outcomes within the NFF L&D 
framework. In order to maximise learning opportunities 
and avoid duplication, a comprehensive mapping 
exercise has been completed to support managers 
and supervising social workers applying evidence of 
learning to both frameworks. The following table sets 
out 

• Column 1: AWIFHSC sections and standards that 
foster carers must evidence in their progress logs

• Column 2: NFF L&D topics which can also be 
evidenced using SCW progress logs

However, much of this learning will be generalised to all 
children and young people, so foster carers will need 
additional fostering specific learning and development 
opportunities:

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 68



19

THE ALL WALES INDUCTION FRAMEWORK FOR HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE MAPPED 
TO THE NATIONAL FOSTERING FRAMEWORK’S LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
FRAMEWORK FOR FOSTER CARERS IN WALES 

All Wales Induction Framework for Health and Social 
Care

NFF Learning and Development Framework 

Section 2: Principles and values of health and social care (children and young people)

1. Legislation, national policies and codes of conduct 
and practice

Foundation legislation
Local Induction (inc policies and procedures)(

2. Rights based approaches Working with birth families and contact
Advocacy and Children’s rights

3. Child centred approaches Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Child Development

4. Equality, diversity and inclusion Working with birth families and contact
Equality and diversity

5. Positive risk taking Safer caring and allegations 
Advanced Safer Caring and Risk Management

6. Positive relationships and professional boundaries Working with birth families and contact
Fostering Sons and Daughters and the Involvement of 
Extended Family

7. Communication Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Understanding challenging behaviour and promoting  
positive strategies
Recording, presenting and information sharing 
Equality and diversity
Living with Teenagers

8. Welsh language and culture Foundation legislation
Equality and diversity

9. Positive approaches to reduce restrictive practices 
in health and social care

Safer caring and allegations
Understanding challenging behaviour and promoting
positive strategies

10. Change and transitions in health and social care Transitions for children and young people
When I’m Ready
Moving Children onto Adoption
Promoting Independence

11. Reflection (Evidenced via engagement in supervision)

Page 69



20

All Wales Induction Framework for Health and Social 
Care

NFF Learning and Development Framework 

Section 4: Health and Well-being (children and young people)

1. Well-being Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Understanding challenging behaviour & communication
Supporting education and development
Digital safety and social media awareness
Promoting Good Health and Well-being

2. Factors that impact upon health and wellbeing Child development
Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Transitions for children and young people
Understanding challenging behaviour & communication
Supporting education and development
Digital safety and social media awareness
Understanding children & young people’s mental health
Domestic abuse
Substances and addiction

3. Positive environments for the health, well-being and 
development of children and young people

Child development
Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Safer caring and allegations
Transitions for children and young people
Understanding challenging behaviour & communication
Supporting education and development
Digital safety and social media awareness
Understanding children & young people’s mental health
Therapeutic Re-parenting

4. Play Child development
Developing a secure base and promoting attachment
Life journey work
Supporting education and development
Therapeutic play

5. Speech, language and communication Child development
Understanding challenging behaviour & communication
Supporting education and development

6. Additional support needs Child development
Caring for children & young people with additional needs

7. Advice guidance and support Advocacy and children’s rights 

8. Administration of medication First Aid

9. Personal care Promoting Good Health and Well-being
Child development

10. Nutrition and hydration Promoting Good Health and Well-being
Child development

11. Promoting Good Health and Well-being Taking care of yourself and each other
Promoting Good Health and Well-being

Post-approval Learning and Development Framework for Foster Carers

Page 70



21

All Wales Induction Framework for Health and Social 
Care

NFF Learning and Development Framework 

Section 5: Professional practice as a health and social care worker

1. Roles and responsibilities of the health and social 
care worker

Recording, presenting and information sharing

2. Partnership working Working with birth families and contact

3. Team working Recording, presenting and information sharing

4. Handling information Recording, presenting and information sharing

5. Personal conduct of health and social care workers Working with birth families and contact

6. Continuing professional development Court skills
Advanced strategies to deal with challenging behaviour
Advanced attachment and trauma

Section 6: Safeguarding individuals

1. Legislative frameworks for safeguarding Safeguarding 

2. Safeguarding individuals from harm, abuse or 
neglect

Safeguarding

3. Factors, situations and actions that could lead or 
contribute to harm, abuse or neglect

Safeguarding
Digital safety and social media awareness
County lines
Child sexual exploitation
Domestic abuse
Substances and addiction

4. Reporting and recording in relation to safeguarding Safeguarding
Recording, presenting and information sharing

Section 7: Health and safety in health and social care

1. Health and safety in the workplace Safer caring and allegations

2. Risk assessments for health and safety Health and safety

3. Fire safety Health and safety

4. Moving and handling; moving and positioning Health and safety

5. Emergency first aid First Aid

6. Infection prevention and control Health and safety

7. Food safety Health and safety

8. Hazardous substances Health and safety

9. Security in the work setting Health and safety

10. Managing stress Taking care of yourself and each other

Page 71



2222

PERSONAL LEARNING 
RECORD AND  
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

04

This record will form a key part of your supervision and annual fostering review 
process. As such, it should reflect prior learning; identify further training and 
development needs; provide a tool for planning your learning and evidence 
continuous professional development.

Learning activities may include (but are not limited to) formal training programmes, 
events, peer mentoring, professional consultancy, discussion with supervising 
social worker or any other relevant professional, online or self-guided study. 

Page 72



23

GUIDANCE NOTES TO AID COMPLETION
The Personal Learning Record and Development Plan has been created to sit alongside the NFF Learning and 
Development Framework and needs to be completed in conjunction with reading that document. 

Personal Learning Record and Development Plan

Aim

The aim of the record is that it is individual and 
encourages foster carers to take responsibility for their 
own learning and development; considering at each 
stage how learning impacts upon their capacity to care 
for a child, themselves and their family. 

The document should be used as a tool to:

• Capture each individual foster carers learning and 
development on an annual basis, in a consistent way 

• Ensure that this information is fed into foster carer 
supervision and the review process

• Develop the basis of a plan for the foster carers 
continuous learning and development.

Structure

The document is in 3 parts:

1. A prior learning profile – this captures learning 
completed prior to approval as a foster carer/ 
introduction of this framework

2. A continuous learning record

3. A learning review and further development plan

Who should complete this?

This is an individual foster carer record, and not 
a record for a foster carer household. It therefore 
needs to be completed in respect of each approved 
foster carer in the household. It should be used as a 
continuous working tool throughout supervision and  
to support the review process.

When should the Personal Learning Record and 
Development Plan be completed ?

Section 1 – at the earliest opportunity pre or post 
approval

Section 2 – as soon as possible after the learning has 
taken place and discussed in supervision

Section 3 – as part of the foster carer review process

Section 1 – Record of prior learning

This section should be completed by the foster 
carer and supervising social worker together. Where 
a foster carer is newly approved arrangements must 
be in place to ensure that the recommendations 
for learning and development are transferred 
effectively from the foster carer assessment to the 
learning and development plan.

Page 73



24

Section 2 – Record of ongoing learning and 
development

This section is intended to be completed by the 
foster carer, as and when learning takes place. 
This needs to be verified by supervising social 
workers. It is designed as a tool to support foster 
carers to reflect on their learning and prepare 
for supervision. The record should be made 
available at each supervision session for discussion 
between foster carer and supervising social worker. 
Services should ensure that they have effective 
methods in place to aid and record this discussion 
at supervision sessions. Prior to signing off the 
learning activity, supervising social workers must 
be confident that the foster carer can demonstrate 
learning and evidence how this will affect their 
future practice. As learning and development is 
individual to each foster carer, records, reflection 
and supervision must be afforded to each foster 
carer within the household.

Section 3 – Learning review and further 
development

This section is designed for completion at the end 
of the review period (maximum annually). It forms 
part of the preparation for a foster carers review 
under The Fostering Panels (Wales) Regulations 
2018. This section includes an area for the foster 
carer to complete in preparation for the review 
which should then be discussed and verified 
by the supervising social worker. There is a final 
section to be completed together to explore and 
agree future development plans. Services can use 
the completed document to support any reports 
provided as part of the review process and a copy 
should be maintained by the foster carer and the 
service.

Personal Learning Record and Development Plan

Foster carer

Supervising social worker 

Fostering Provider

Date of approval 

Record Start date  
(approval date or date of last review) 

Record End date (date of next annual review)

This record should be reviewed and updated in line with regular supervision sessions in order  
to reflect learning needs resulting from significant events within the fostering household such  
as new children being placed, allegations or any life changes for the foster carer.

Page 74



25

1. RECORD OF PRIOR LEARNING 

What relevant qualifications, training or other transferable learning activities have you already completed? 
Please provide evidence

Are you working towards a recognised formal qualification? (e.g. Induction Framework or QCF? Include start 
and end dates, modules etc)

What further development needs have been identified for the forthcoming year? (This may include but is not 
limited to a minimum number of hours, specific topics, groups etc). For newly approved foster carers this should 
include the personal development plan produced at the time of their assessment.

Page 75



26

2. RECORD OF ONGOING LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
(To be completed by Foster Carer and verified by Supervising Social Worker during Supervision)

Date of 
learning 
activity 

Hours of 
learning 

Learning method  
(eg. training attended, 
reading, research)

Evidence provided  
(eg. certificates)

Signature and date 
(supervising social 
worker)

What did I learn? What difference will this make to my fostering practice 
and the children in my care?

Date of 
learning 
activity 

Hours of 
learning 

Learning method  
(eg. training attended, 
reading, research)

Evidence provided  
(eg. certificates)

Signature and date 
(supervising social 
worker)

What did I learn? What difference will this make to my fostering practice 
and the children in my care?

Personal Learning Record and Development Plan

Page 76



27

Date of 
learning 
activity 

Hours of 
learning 

Learning method  
(eg. training attended, 
reading, research)

Evidence provided  
(eg. certificates)

Signature and date 
(supervising social 
worker)

What did I learn? What difference will this make to my fostering practice 
and the children in my care?

Date of 
learning 
activity 

Hours of 
learning 

Learning method  
(eg. training attended, 
reading, research)

Evidence provided  
(eg. certificates)

Signature and date 
(supervising social 
worker)

What did I learn? What difference will this make to my fostering practice 
and the children in my care?

Page 77



28

3. LEARNING REVIEW AND FURTHER DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
(To be completed at the end of the Annual period/period under review)

Have the minimum requirements for professional development been met during the time frame?

Foster Carer Supervising Social Worker

How has the learning built on knowledge and skills to meet the needs of children placed and improve 
outcomes?

Foster Carer Supervising Social Worker

What further development needs have been identified for the next year?

Supervising Social worker and Foster Carer to discuss and agree

Personal Learning Record and Development Plan

Page 78



National Fostering Framework
c/o AFA Cymru
25 Windsor Place
Cardiff
CF10 3BZ

T: 029 2076 1155
www.afacymru.org Page 79



NAME OF COMMITTEE Scrutiny Committee Gwynedd Council
DATE OF MEETING 30 January, 2020
TITLE OF ITEM The North Wales Adoption Service
PURPOSE To give an update on the North Wales Adoption Service
AUTHOR Aled Gibbard, Senior Manager
CABINET MEMBER Councillor Dilwyn Morgan

1.Introduction

1.1 The introduction of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 and the related regulations and guidance as 
well as government set tagets, put increased statutory responsibilities on local authorities to 
deliver a broader range of adoption services.  With limitations on staffing levels and resources, 
concerns were raised about the ability to comply with these regulations and smaller authorities 
struggled to place children within their own communities.  

1.2 In order to resolve some of these issues the six local authorities in North Wales began working in 
partnership to deliver a regional service where they could pool resources and become more cost 
efficient. Consequently with the assistance of government grant funding under “Making The 
Connections the 6 local authorities entered into a partnership agreement to set up the North Wales 
Adopton Service. The service became operational in April 2010 and was the first Region in Wales to 
establish a regional service. It was established some 5 years prior to the National Adoption Service 
being created.

1.3 The National Adoption Service for Wales was launched in November 2014, is an innovative 
collaborative for the provision of adoption services.  It brought together Welsh local authority 
adoption services into a 3 tier structure which includes partnerships at all levels with Voluntary 
Adoption Agencies based in Wales, Health and Education Services as well as others.

1.4 At local authority level all 22 Welsh councils continue to provide services to all looked after children 
whilst identifying and working with those children for whom a plan for adoption is appropriate.

1.5 Regionally, local authorities work together within five regional collaboratives to provide a range of 
adoption services.  Each regional collaborative has links with the voluntary adoption agencies, health 
and education. The services provided differ in each collaborative but all provide the adoption agency 
functions for children, recruit and assess adopters, offer counselling to birth parents and advice to 
adopted adults. Some currently directly provide adoption support services whereas in others this 
remains with their local authorities.
The current priority is to improve adoption support services and we are implementing our 
‘Framework for Adoption Support’. 

1.6 The National Adoption Service as a whole is overseen by a Governance Board and an Advisory 
Group.  At the local level Regional Management Committees oversee the regional services.  The 
service reports to Welsh Ministers twice a year.

2. Current Position

2.1 The North Wales Adoption Service is hosted by Wrexham County Borough Council.  Since 2010 staff 
have been seconded into the service and continue to be based in their own local authorities except 
for some Flintshire social workers who are located in the Wrexham office.  

Page 81

Agenda Item 6

https://www.adoptcymru.com/adoption-support


2.2 The North Wales Adoption Service in partnership with the six local authorities is responsible for 
providing the following services:

 Recruitment, Training, Assessment and Supporting  prospective and approved adopters
 Matching children to adopters
 S98 Access to records, Search and Intermediary Services for adopted adults and their 

relatives
 Birth Parent counselling
 Adoption Support– Support Groups, Fun Days and Newsletters.
 Development and management of joint  adoption panels
 Partner of Parent Adoptions
 Adoptions with a Foreign Element

3. Statistics

3.1 The data below was taken from the North Wales Adoption Service end of year statistics for 2018-19:

Recruitment activity

LA Conw Denb Flint Gwyn Wrex Ynys 
Môn

Other/
NWAS

2018-
2019

2017-
2018

2016-
2017

Enquires 26 24 42 19 37 12 7 167 173 162

Response 
Forms

11 12 11 5 12 5 3 59 63 61

Initial Visits 
Undertaken

9 12 13 4 11 4 2 55 53 62

Application 
Forms 

4 6 7 2 3 3 1 26 26 43

Number of Adopters under Assessment

Conwy Denbigh Flint Gwyn Wrexham Ynys 
Mon

Other Total
18/19

Total
17/18

Adopters Currently Under  
Assessment 4 4 4 1 2 3 0 18 16

Foster Carers wishing to 
adopt under Assessment

0 1 1 0 1 0 0 3 2

Partner of Parent Under 
Assessment

0 2 0 0 2 0 0 4 7

Total No: of Assessments 4 7 5 1 5 3 0 25 25

Approved Adopters

Page 82



Conwy Denbigh Flint Gwyn Wrexham Ynys Other
NWAS

Other 
Agency

Total 

Available 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 3

On hold for 
potential matches 3 2 2 1 0 0 1 4 13

Children placed April 2018 – March 2019

Conw Denb Flint Gwyn Wrex Ynys Total
18-19

Total 
17-18

Number of children 
referred

16 8 9 3 12 3 51 55

Number of children 
recommended for 
match at panel

9 8 5 5 9 3 39 41

Number of children 
placed for adoption

11 6 6 6 7 3 39 41

Number of children 
adopted

11 10 5 5 2 2 35      39

26 children placed with NWAS Adopters  (2 sibling groups) 
13 children with other agencies (1  sibling group)

Children currently awaiting for an adoption placement

Conw Denb Flint Gwyn Wrex Ynys Other Total 
Children On Hold for potential 
matches or matched but not placed 6 1 3 3 5 3 0 21

Children - no identified match at 
present

4 7 1 2 7 1 0 22

Total No: of Families Required 4 6 1 2 6 1 20

Panel Activity

Panels Flint/Wrex Conw/Denb Gwyn/Ynys TOTAL 
2019

TOTAL 
2018

Adoption Assessments 7 5 6 18 26
Should Be Adopted 3 0 0 3  0
Matching (no: of children) 11

(14 children)
15 

(17 children)
7 

(7 children)
33    

(38)
32 (42)

Deferred 3 0 2 5 4
Deregistered 0 0 0 0
Review 0 2 0 2 8

Page 83



Total 24 22 15 61 70

4. The National Adoption Service

4.1 Performance for all the regions in Wales is collated by the National Adoption Service (see annual 
report in Appendix 1).

4.2 For North Wales the main achievements for 2018-19 were:

Appointment of a Contact Coordinator Officer, offering a consistent response and support to 
adopters and birth parents, with in-direct and direct contact.
• Worked with expert Richard Rose, to implement the Life Story Framework.
• Expanded the Buddy scheme for adopters.
• Invested in upskilling Training Officer – completed Dyadic developmental psychotherapy level 2 
and is currently undertaking a diploma in therapeutic parenting.

4.3 The national plan for 2019-20 is to build on the improvements made over the first five years of NAS; 
with the significant benefit of the availability of new investment funding. This is in the form of £2.3m 
from Welsh Government for service improvement; around £250,000 via Adoption UK Cymru for 
TESSA from the Big Lottery and Communities Fund, in addition to grant aid of around £300,000 to 
the Voluntary Adoption Agencies from Welsh Government Third Sector grant scheme currently 
agreed up to 2020. The National Adoption Service will continue to work to deliver services to high 
numbers of children, young people and families and others affected by adoption; mainly though NAS 
regional services and the Voluntary Adoption Agencies. The core business of the service will continue 
to be, recruiting adopters so that children who cannot be cared for by their own families can live in 
stable, loving homes as the best alternative. The work of NAS is closely linked with the Welsh 
Government Ministerial Advisory Group for Children (MAG). Adoption features across the numerous 
work streams of this important national initiative.

5. Priorities for NWAS in 2019-20

5.1 A review of the service was carried out in 2017-18 with following remit:

 To identify and clarify the current funding model of the NWAS
 To gain an understanding of the funding models of the other Regional Adoption Services
 To recommend any changes required to the current funding model of the NWAS
 To prepare a Review Report for presentation for the NWAS Management Board

The conclusion drawn from the review outlined that there is insufficient management capacity, both 
at strategic and operational level to manage and develop the service.  Further, it is not possible to 
deliver the Post Adoption Support element (additional Welsh Government funding) with the existing 
staffing complement. 

Work has therefore begun on revising the structure and move to a fully managed lead authority. All 
staff currently employed will be transferred to Wrexham County Borough Council, continuing to work 
from their current local authority bases. This should be completed by the end of March 2020.

5.2 The £2.3 million Welsh Government funding includes additional funding of £378,000 for North Wales. 
This additional funding will be used to invest in adoption support. The North Wales Adoption Service 
has produced an action plan that includes employing additional Adoption Support Workers across the 

Page 84



North Wales region and the post are currently being advertised as part of the review of the service. 
Some of the new posts will require different knowledge and skill sets and will enable NWAS to provide 
an improved and expanded range of services to Adopters and their Adoptive children and also meet 
legislative requirements.

5.3 NAS has worked alongside Adoption UK, to develop the Wales element, of a successful UK wide bid 
for funding from the National Lottery Community fund for the TESSA service. TESSA is a therapeutic 
education support service for adoptive families began to be established in Wales in February 2019. It 
is the intention that NAS adds to the resources available for TESSA through match funding from the 
investment in 2019/20 and this will be developed within NWAS. The service sets out to deliver:

 A focus on early intervention and support as soon as postsettling in concerns are raised
 Professional psychological assessments for children, with information shared with parents 

and other support staff
 6-session therapeutic parenting support, delivered by teams consisting of a clinical 

psychologist and experienced adoptive parents (parent partners)
 Ongoing parent partner support.

Page 85



1

ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 

Page 86



Page 87



3

FOREWORD

Actively listening to adopters and children has influenced how the National Adoption Service 

has evolved and developed to deliver change and good services. There is evidence that the 

benefits of improvement are being felt by many adopters and their children although we 

acknowledge there is more to do. 

Continued improvement remains a priority for the service delivered through the Central Team, 

Regional Local Government Adoption Services and Voluntary Sector Agencies. This collaborative 

approach has brought a shared vision, priorities, strategies and delivery of services that is 

making a positive difference.

We are very pleased to take this opportunity to thank adopters, staff in all agencies within  

the National Adoption Service Collaborative for their hard work and dedication.

We are also delighted that the Welsh Government has made available a £2.3m investment 

package from 2019/20 which will enable us to move forward on agreed improvement priorities 

for the immediate future.

Much progress has been made since the Service’s inception, but the needs of children in Wales 

continue to demand a faster and smarter response to the scale and complexity of the challenge. 

NAS is ambitious for the role we can play in responding to that challenge.

Since being established in 2014 The National Adoption Service has focused on 

clear priorities to deliver an improved adoption service in Wales. This Annual 

Report (2018/19) reflects on achievements whilst identifying future priorities 

to deliver ongoing improvement of the service to children and adopters.

Phil Hodgson 

Independent Chair of the Advisory Group

Suzanne Griffiths 

Director

Cllr Geraint Hopkins 

Chair of Governance Board

Page 88



4

The National Adoption Service for Wales is a collaboration for the provision of adoption services across Wales. 

Since November 2014, it has brought together all local authority adoption services into five regional collaboratives, with co-ordination and 

leadership provided by a small central team and Director. Voluntary adoption agencies operating in Wales are key partners in the collaborative,  

as are other agencies such as health and education. 

North Wales Adoption Service

3rd Floor, Lambpit Street,  

Wrexham, LL11 1AR

01978 295311

adoption@wrexham.gov.uk

www.northwalesadoption.gov.uk

National Adoption Service – Central Team

c/o City of Cardiff Council,  

Room 409 County Hall, Atlantic Wharf,  

Cardiff, CF10 4UW 

029 2087 3927

contact@adoptcymru.com

www.adoptcymru.com

Mid & West Wales Adoption

Building 1, St David’s Park, Johnstown, 

Carmarthenshire, SA31 3HB 

01267 246970

adoptionenquires@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

www.adoptionmwwales.org.uk

Neuadd Brycheiniog, Cambrian Way,  

Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HR

01597 827666

adoptionenquiries@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

www.adoptionmwwales.org.uk

Western Bay Adoption Service

Port Talbot Civic Centre,  

Port Talbot CF131PJ 

0300 365 2222 

enquires@westernbayadoption.org

www.westernbayadoption.org

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption

1st Floor, Dock Office, 

Subway Road, Barry CF63 4RT 

0800 0234 064

adoption@valeofglamorgan.gov.uk

www.adopt4vvc.org

South East Wales Adoption Service

North Wing, 2nd Floor Block B,  

Mamhilad House, Mamhilad Parke Estate, 

Pontypool, Torfaen, NP40HZ

01495 355766

adoption@blaenau-gwent.gov.uk

www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/3122.asp

INTRODUCTION

NORTH WALES

Isle of Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, 

Denbighshire, Flintshire, Wrexham

CENTRAL TEAM

SOUTH EAST WALES

Monmouthshire, Blaenau Gwent,  

Torfaen, Caerphilly, Newport

WESTERN BAY

Swansea, Neath Port Talbot,  

Bridgend

MID & WEST WALES

Ceredigion, Powys, Carmarthenshire, 

Pembrokeshire

VALE, VALLEYS & CARDIFF

Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf,  

Cardiff, Vale of Glamorgan

Page 89



5

ALL WALES VOLUNTARY 

ADOPTION AGENCIES SERVICES

AFA Cymru

c/o Children in Wales,  

25 Windsor Place, Cardiff CF10 3BZ  

029 2076 1155

W2 Morfa Clwyd Business Centre,  

84 Marsh Road, Rhyl LL18 2AF

Info-afa@stdavidscs.org

www.afacymru.org

Adoption UK

Penhaved Studios, Penhaved Street, 

Grangetown, Cardiff, CF117LU

029 2023 0319

www.adoptionuk.org

Barnardo’s Cymru

Trident Court, East Moors Road,  

Cardiff, CF245TD

0800 0546 788 

cymruadoptionandfosteringservice@

barnardos.org.uk 

www.barnardos.org.uk/adoption

St David’s Children Society

28 Park Place, Cardiff, CF10 3BA

029 2066 7007

info@stdavidscs.org

www.adoptionwales.org

Page 90



6

It was established in 2014 in response to a National Assembly Enquiry through a subsequent 

Ministerial Advisory Group. Its role is to work in a unique collaborative way, improving and 

coordinating the delivery of adoption services across Wales and in particular:

• Raising the profile of adoption;

• Improving timescales for children and adopters;

• Improving adoption support including changing the ‘postcode lottery’ for services; and 

• Providing leadership to promote more consistent services and standards. 

The role adoption plays in society continues to change; legislation continues to change to 

reflect this. What has not changed is that children who cannot remain with their birth family 

need permanent substitute families, to belong, to be nurtured and be loved. Adoption services 

provide these children with families as well as services and support to adoptive parents, birth 

parents and others affected by adoption. 

This year marks the fifth year of the National Adoption Service and the thirtieth anniversary  

of the UK’s ratification of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). 

The National Adoption Service seeks to secure positive changes for children where adoption is  

in their best interests so that they might realise their rights under the convention. 

The National Adoption Service (NAS) has been working for five years  

to support better outcomes for children for whom adoption is the best plan. 

FIVE YEARS ON

Celebrating our 
achievements 
and embracing  
the challenges

Page 91



7

SOME OF OUR ACHIEVEMENTS FROM  

THE LAST FIVE YEARS

• Successfully raised the profile of adoption with the public, funders 

and policy makers. 

• Accessed additional funding; a £90k development grant from 

the Welsh Government each year, £125k targeted investment 

in 2017/18 and a £2.3m investment for adoption support to 

commence in 2019/20. 

• Improved performance in the key areas of approving adopters and 

placing children more quickly, alongside embedding a performance 

culture supported through regular evaluation and reporting.

• Increased the availability of life journey materials through a new 

best practice approach.

• Developed how we listen to adopters and their children and 

ensured their messages and input make a difference to the service.

• Created five regional adoption collaboratives as the focus for local 

government adoption expertise and access point for services.

• Developed and maintained a strong partnership with the Welsh 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies. This added value, different expertise, 

additional services and more choice, resulting in exciting new 

services such as Adopting Together Service, TESSA and a new 

Children and Young People’s service.

• Commissioned and developed the all Wales website, which now 

provides a comprehensive source of information for parents and 

agencies.

• Brought the Wales Adoption Register into the service, giving greater 

breadth and depth of choice for prospective parents and children.

• Produced strategic plans, which not only outline what 

improvements are needed but help influence and improve 

legislation and policy, as well as achieve investment in times of 

constraint. 

THE CHALLENGES WE ARE NOW  

ADDRESSING ARE:

• Maintaining performance improvements and making them  

more consistent within services and across Wales. 

• Improving service agility and access to resources to respond  

to emerging issues and changing service demands.

• Using our data and information to better effect.

• Making a complex governance and operational structure for 

collaboration, work effectively within local government and  

with partners.

THESE SUCCESSES AND CHALLENGES INFORM  

OUR CURRENT VISION WHICH IS TO:

> Increase the number and range of adoptive homes available so  

that all children with an adoption plan are placed in a timely way.

> Ensure prospective and approved adopters receive good quality, 

timely assessment and support.

> Implement the National Adoption Service Framework for Adoption 

Support to provide improved access to advice, information and 

services for those that need and want support.

> Achieve overall improvements in the performance of adoption 

services across Wales.

> Create a modern, responsive and forward-thinking adoption  

service for Wales.

Alongside these undoubted strides forward and improvements to services new challenges have become evident; 

not least of all in ensuring that there are sufficient adopters available to meet the number and needs of children 

for whom we are family finding.

Page 92



8

During the business year:

• more than 310 children were placed in their new adoptive 

home;

• approximately 280 children had their adoption orders 

granted1;

• a further 338 children, with the legal authority to be 

placed, were waiting to be matched or placed with their 

new family at the end of the year;

• 212 new adoptive families were approved.

The service worked with circa 14% of the children who were 

looked after in Wales last year. 

Welsh Government data indicates that for 2017/18 (latest 

available) 18% of all the children who ceased to be Looked 

After were adopted.

The adoption agencies that make up the National Adoption 

Service for Wales provide a range of services to support these 

children and their families, as well as for others affected by 

adoption.

In addition to working with the children above, 

adoption services across Wales also:

• provided adoption support to more than 100 of the 

children placed in the year

• facilitated more than 3,281 active letterbox contact 

arrangements

• provided a service to 268 birth parents

• received 38 requests for support from birth siblings’ other 

relatives

• received 226 requests for access to birth records and 

• received 124 requests for intermediary/tracing support.

THE SERVICE IN 2018/19

1 Awaiting confirmation in Welsh Government data in October 2019
Page 93



9

OUR 2018/19 PRIORITIES

PRIORITY 1

Placing 
children 
effectively 
• Keeping recruitment focused 

on the needs of children likely 

to be adopted

• Implementing the new Wales 

Adoption Register and adopter 

database 

WHY WAS THIS IMPORTANT? 

• We wanted to increase the range of adoptive homes available to meet the needs of all 

children with an adoptive plan. 

• Research tells us outcomes in adoption are affected by the length of time children spend in 

care and their age at the time of placement. Being able to make a timely match for a child 

depends on having a sufficiency of adopters who are prepared to care for children who have 

varied and sometimes complex needs.

• Making the best possible match between children and adopters increases the likelihood of  

a successful outcome and improves timeliness.

• We aim to use the best information about service performance, research and best practice  

to develop more effective processes, and timeframes to underpin best practice.

HOW DID WE DO?

At 311, slightly more children were placed with their new families this year and approximately 

280 children were already in placement and had their Adoption Orders granted.

However, recruiting sufficient adopters in Wales has become an ongoing challenge. 

At the time of NAS’s creation, we faced a different range of challenges, namely reducing waiting 

time to approve adopters and ensuring we were recruiting adopters who could be matched with 

children who had complex needs and were waiting longer. 

Our strategies are now informed by our data, giving us a much better understanding of the 

need for placements, which is greater than the number of adopters we are approving. However, 

having an impact on recruitment takes time; recruitment in 2018/19 remained at a similar level 

to last year. Adopter recruitment in Wales has been falling and is now back to pre NAS levels;  

it is difficult to identify precisely why adopter approvals have fallen – this trend is, however,  

also evident in England and Scotland.

Adopters Approved

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

197 245 236 294 266 236 212 212

300

100

200

0

350

150

250

50

Page 94



10

ADOPTER ENQUIRIES AND ASSESSMENTS 

There has been an overall increase in enquiries from prospective 

adopters since NAS was formed. 

However, the picture beneath this is more complex. At a regional 

level there is an overall upward trend in two of the bigger regions and 

maintenance in another, while the two voluntary adoption agencies 

have higher levels of enquiries.

In both the regional and voluntary adoption agencies, conversion of 

enquiries into assessments varies, with the regional services tending  

to see more applications resulting from enquiries received.

We can build on the early indications of success, in increasing the 

number of potential adopters coming forward at enquiry stage. 

Adopters have reported that:

• there is good information available through the national website 

and directly from the regional services;

• response times to enquiries are timely and many first contacts  

are considered helpful and supportive. 

In order to understand this better, NAS commissioned customer 

feedback research to consider the reasons behind so many enquirers 

not proceeding beyond this stage. The overall findings are informing 

our work. Whilst identifying that the majority of enquirers cited 

personal reasons for not proceeding, key recommendations from  

the report also include:

• A need for a more consistent message across agencies

• More flexibility around timeframes, where potential adopters  

want to delay their applications

• A more welcoming approach and clearer follow up processes  

for those who do want to defer applications. 

This work has led to a number of changes which will be implemented 

in 2019/20: 

• We are producing a good practice guide to support staff in dealing 

with enquiries and the early stage of the assessment process. This 

will move away from agencies trying to ‘test‘ people at the very 

start of their enquiry and respond to adoption managers views 

that the messages that are given regarding issues such as smoking, 

income and medical criteria are up to date, accurate and consistent.

• We have commissioned Cowshed PR to support NAS at both 

national and regional levels. This will lead to better integrated 

marketing and recruitment activity. 

• We are providing more focused efforts to increase enquiries 

and approvals within a revised NAS Recruitment Strategy. Using 

recognised marketing techniques, we aim to keep people engaged 

and ensure barriers families face, to progress their interest into 

further action, are removed. 

• To meet planned changes to regulations, we are implementing a 

two-stage process for the assessment and approval of prospective 

adopters whilst reducing the timescales for making use of the 

Adoption Register for Wales. NAS has been working since 2015  

to influence a change in the Adoption Agency (Wales) Regulations 

2003 to simplify and streamline the recruitment and assessment  

of prospective adopters. This has borne fruit with revised 

regulations due to be implemented in 2019/20. 

The above will enable us to further improve the timeframes for 

adopter approvals. The average timeframe from enquiry to approval 

improved to just 9.1 months this year, with administrative delays 

around essential checks behind many that took longer. The time 

between the formal application by adopters and their approval is good, 

an average of 6.2 months, which is within the government guideline. 

56% of applicants were approved with the 6-month benchmark.

The story behind the data

90

50

70

30

20

100

60

80

40

10

MW NW SE VVC WB B StD Total

50% 18% 36% 28% 58% 4% 9% 21%

Q4 2018-19, based on average of 3 months from Initial Enquiry to Assessment 
Starting

Percentage conversion from initial enquiry to assessment starting

0

2017-18 2018-19

Months 6.2 6.1

Benchmark: 6 months or less

Average timeframe (months) from formal application to adopters 

approval

5

6

1

3

7

2

4

0

Page 95



11

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Months 8.4 7.9 9.9

Benchmark: 6 months or less

Average timeframe (months) between placement order and placed 

for adoption

10

2

6

12

4

8

0

400

200

300

100

MWW NW SE VVC WB Total

  2015/16 9 34 41 62 60 206

  2016/17 22 39 47 95 80 283

  2017/18 34 46 76 117 77 350

  2018/19 27 48 70 101 92 338

Measure 7: Number of children with ‘should be placed decision’ and 

placement order who have not yet been placed

0

DEMAND FOR PLACEMENTS

The numbers of placement orders being granted by Welsh courts is 

now showing year on year fluctuations after a peak of 467 in 2012/13; 

regions report that circa 340 placement orders were made in 2018/19. 

This is alongside a further increase in the number of children being 

identified by local authorities as, likely to be in need of an adoptive 

placement, which indicates that similar, or more placement orders  

are likely as we go through the coming year. 

We are using these trends to project forward so that regions and 

agencies have a clear understanding of likely demand, allowing 

them to plan activity in advance in order to meet more ambitious 

recruitment goals. 

IMPACT ON PLACEMENT ACTIVITY

The number of children waiting for a placement reduced slightly  

at the end of this year.

NAS had previously been successful in reducing average timeframes 

for children being placed, but this has changed this year. 

Although almost half of the children were placed within the 

benchmark of 6 months or less, during 2018/19, the projected  

annual average time has increased in 2018/19 to 9.9 months.

There are a number of factors that have impacted on this indicator:

• Some adoptive homes have been more challenging to find due  

to a small number of children with very complex needs; 

• Late decisions or delayed applications where it is agreed that  

foster carers can adopt the children they are caring for;

• Prolonged court proceedings including appeals by birth parents.

The more positive aspect of this is that regions have been increasingly 

successful in placing children with more complex needs, however as 

identified this leads to placement preparations taking longer. 

Page 96



12

What else is helping us recruit adopters  
and place children?

 

ADOPTING TOGETHER SERVICE 

The voluntary adoption agencies in Wales play a key role in delivering 

adoption services across the country, and recent innovative projects 

like the ‘Adopting Together Service’ demonstrates their commitment 

and capacity to work creatively and support the sector as a whole.

Adopting Together Service was launched this year in 2018/19 – a 

collaborative project between St David’s and Barnardo’s with Adoption 

UK in Wales and supported by the statutory sector through the 

National Adoption Service. It emerged, following a request from 

statutory services, for a creative response to a shared desire and need, 

to secure permanence for children who wait longest for a family.

Contracts have now been agreed in four out of the five regional 

services.

Although the number of children placed is unlikely to be high, it is 

of utmost importance that children with additional needs have the 

opportunity to experience living in stable and loving homes. Twelve 

children have been placed to date in the first year of operation, with  

a target of placing 25 children in 2019/20. 

The scheme provides a new best practice for placing children and 

providing early support and is being evaluated by Cardiff University 

School of Psychology. An indication of its innovation and value is that 

it received The Institute of Collaboration ICW Innovation Award and a 

Highly Commended 1 Award in the GO Wales Social and Community 

benefit category.

WALES ADOPTION REGISTER /  

ADOPTION REGISTER FOR WALES

We have worked hard in the past year to ensure that the new bilingual 

Wales Adopter Register, now called the Adoption Register for Wales 

(ARW) is ready to be launched. In order to do this the Central Team 

has:

• Commissioned a new partner, ‘Link Maker‘, to provide a modern 

bi-lingual and on-line linking service;

• Linked with adoption services and agencies to support 

implementation of the new Adoption Register for Wales, raising 

awareness for staff use and ensuring transfer of information about 

children and adopters;

• Supported the development of a set of national guidelines, which 

outline expectations for use of the Register;

• Briefed partners, and stakeholders including Heads of Children’s 

Services and Family Justice Network for Wales through the 

publication of regular bulletins.

The new Adoption Register for Wales came into operation in March 

2019 and was formally launched in June 2019. The aim of the ARW 

is to improve how we match children to prospective adopters. It will 

be more user friendly and efficient and provides managed access for 

approved adopters. It will also allow the development of a ‘keeping in 

touch’ system for adopters as part of the improved adoption support 

arrangements. 

Significantly, all children and adopters will be listed on the Register 

more quickly. It will facilitate matching, managed at a regional, Welsh 

and UK level when needed. 

During its last year of operation the previous Wales Adoption Register:

• Matched 36 children through the register data base, Adoption 

Exchange Days and an Adoption Activity Day;

• Saw an increase in child referrals to the register during the year 

although the end of year figure as of March 2019 was 293, 57 less 

than the previous year;

• Saw changes in the profile of children waiting; over 60% being 

below the age of 3, fewer sibling groups and the percentage of 

those with additional or complex needs continued to rise;

• Saw the number of adopters referred to the register continuing to 

drop, with just 32 active for family finding at the end of the year. 

This reflects proactive family finding with many adopters being 

pre-linked by the time they are approved.Page 97



13

PRIORITY 2

Continuing 
to improve 
adoption 
support by 
implementing 
the NAS 
Adoption 
Support 
Framework
• Agreeing the next priorities 

and identifying funding

• Continuing things that are 

already helping e.g. improving 

Life Journey Work, improving 

‘adoption awareness’ in 

schools and health services, 

changing the law for adoption 

support, improving training 

and development for adopters, 

consistent approaches across 

Wales. 

WHY? 

The Wales Adoption Cohort Study by Cardiff University shows that 47% of children who are 

placed for adoption had experienced at least 4 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) before 

they were placed. This puts them in the highest risk group for later life difficulties, in line with 

just 14% of the general population. It is therefore critical that good support is available from  

the start as well as being accessible throughout childhood.

Adopted children have additional needs that emerge at different points in their lives and can 

continue into adulthood. These can include; understanding their identity as an adopted child, 

why they were adopted, managing contact and feelings of loss or grief. Many of these are issues 

are unique to adoptive families and require adoption informed support. Children, young people 

and adopters consistently report high levels of dissatisfaction with the process of getting help 

and sometimes with the quality of the help itself. 

Research also tells us that adoption and the long-term legacy for children who have suffered 

significant harm are generally poorly understood. There is a particular need to improve 

awareness in schools, where adopted children are being excluded at a younger age and in 

greater numbers than their peers. Children who have been in care often have additional  

learning needs and a more complex mixture of difficulties.

It is a NAS priority to deliver high quality adoption services in Wales.

ADOPTION SUPPORT CARRIED OUT IN 2018/19

• More than 3,281 active letterbox contact arrangements were in place (a reduction from 

2017/18)

• 819 birth parents were referred to adoption services in 2018/19 (a reduction from 2017/18) 

of these 98% were offered a service

• A service was provided to 2682 birth parents

• 38 requests for support were received from birth sibling and other relatives (a reduction 

from 2017/18)

• 226 requests for access to birth records were received, an increase on the 205 for 2017/18 

• 124 requests for intermediary / tracing support were received, a reduction on the 156 for 

2017/18.

There was a slight reduction in the number of children who had an ongoing service established 

at point of placement, down from 112 (36%) in 2017/18 to 107 (34%). This masks significant 

regional variations as well as year on year changes within regions, linked to the fact that support 

packages are individualised. 

2  A number of regions were unable to provide data as required from their LA’s. An additional 

region was unable to provide data due to the contractor going into administration.
Page 98



14

There were fewer new requests for post adoption support received, with decreases in 2 regions. 

There were 160 assessments for post adoption support completed, similar to previous figures. 

The majority of these completed assessments resulted in practical or therapeutic support being 

provided to families.

LIFE JOURNEY WORK 

We have continued to implement and develop the new NAS Framework for ‘Life Journey’ work. 

All children who cannot be cared for by their birth families, need to have an understanding of 

their family history and their unique journey. Life Journey Work is designed to help a child make 

sense of their past and understand their current situation in order to help them move into the 

future. Life journey work should support a child’s identity, promote self-esteem, and help give 

the child a sense of belonging, wellbeing and support good mental health. The NAS website 

hosts guidance and existing tool kits around life journey work and we are currently working on 

making toolkits for children and young people, foster carers and birth parents available. 

In November 2018 NAS was invited to present the ‘Framework’ developments within Wales to 

the Adoption UK national conference. 

In January 2019 a conference was held in Wales to formally launch the Framework. Opened 

by the new Deputy Minister for health and Social Services, Julie Morgan, this highly successful 

event was oversubscribed with more than 110 delegates from across Wales attending, taking 

back the learning into their agencies. 

Due to varying performance levels across Wales (from 83% to 46%) overall improvement has 

marginally declined. This will continue to be a priority area for NAS with all regions committing 

to making further improvements. 

Percentage of children placed for adoption whose plan for adoption support involved 

ongoing service provision at the point of placement

70

80

90

30

50

10

100

40

60

20

MWW NW SE VVC WB Total

  2016-17 58% 18% 33% 25% 14% 26%

  2017-18 29% 29% 79% 21% 22% 36%

  2018-19 43% 13% 89% 20% 7% 34%

0

Stage 5

Placement and ongoing 

(Post Adoption Order)

1. Support should be available for the 

prospective Adopters and the Child.  

This may include:

	 •	 Informal	discu
ssions

	 •	 	Building	the	L
ife	Journey	narra

tive	 

of the adoptive family

	 •	 	Further	inform
ation	gathering	

from	

Birth	family	

	 •	 Training

	 •	 Direct	work	

	 •	 Therapeutic	L
JW

2.	 Support	in	f
acilitating	conta

ct	with	 

the	Birth	family	
should	be	offere

d.	

3.	 Contact	agr
eements	should

	reflect	the	

terminology	use
d	in	the	LJW,	suc

h	as	

when	referring	t
o	Birth	family	m

embers.	

4.	 The	Indepen
dent	Reviewing	

Officer	

(IRO)	will	contin
ue	to	be	respons

ible	

for	monitoring	t
he	LJW	for	the	C

hild	

at	reviews	until	
the	Adoption	Or

der	is	

granted.	

5.	 Where	infor
mation	about	a	

change	

or	development	
in	the	Birth	fam

ily’s	

circumstances	is
	known	to	the	Lo

cal	

Authority,	sectio
n	5.5	of	the	Goo

d	

Practice	Guide	s
hould	be	referre

d	to	 

in	its	entirety,	in
	order	to	determ

ine	

whether	it	is	app
ropriate	to	share

	this	

with	the	Child’s	
Adopter/s.	

6. Life Journey Work does not end. 

This	is	to	be	use
d	in	conjunction

	with	the	NAS Life Journey Work Good Practice GuideLife Journey Work Framework

05

Stage 4

Transition 

1. There should be a clear plan for transition 

for the Child. 

2.	 The	Child’s	
Social	Worker	an

d	Foster	 

Carer,	and	other
	professionals	as

	

appropriate,	sho
uld	agree	upon	t

he	

narrative to sensitively share information 

about	the	new	f
amily	with	the	C

hild.	

3.	 Once	the	Ag
ency	Decision	M

aker	has	

approved	the	ma
tch,	the	Child	Ca

re	Social	

Worker	and	Fost
er	Carer	will	sen

sitively	

tell the Child and share the materials 

provided by the prospective Adopters. 

4.	 The	Child’s	
emotional	needs

	should	be	

central	to	the	pl
anning.

5.	 One	profess
ional	should	be	i

dentified	

to	take	the	lead	
in	coordinating	t

he	

introductions process.

6.	 The	Child’s	
Foster	Carers	an

d	prospective	

Adopters	should
	be	well	support

ed	by	

their	respective	
supporting	Socia

l	Workers.	

7.	 Where	appr
opriate,	the	opp

ortunity	

should be made available for the birth 

parents	(and	oth
er	significant	Bir

th	

family	members
)	to	meet	the	pr

ospective	

Adopters.	Where
	it	is	inappropria

te	to	

facilitate	this	me
eting,	the	reason

s	for	 

this should be recorded. 

04

Stage 3

Linking and matching 

1.	 Prospective	
Adopter/s	will	h

ave	been	prepar
ed	and	

had	training	on	
the	importance	

of	LJW.

2.	 Collaboratio
n	between	the	p

rospective	adopt
er/s	

and	the	key	pers
on	involved	in	th

e	production	of	

Life	Journey	mat
erials	should	occ

ur	before	match
ing	

Panel. 

3.	 Life	Journey
	materials	shoul

d	be	quality	assu
red	in	

readiness	for	Ma
tching	Panel.	The

y	should	provide
	a	

coherent narrative for the Child and include a draft 

Later	Life	Letter.

4.	 A	plan	for	LJ
W	post	placeme

nt	should	be	pre
pared.	

This	will	form	pa
rt	of	the	Adoptio

n	Support	Plan.

5.	 Consideratio
n	should	be	give

n	to	holding	a	Li
fe	

Appreciation	Da
y	for	the	Child.

6.	 The	timing	o
f	final	contact	b

etween	Birth	fam
ily	and	

the	Child	should
	be	thoughtfully

	planned	to	ensu
re	

it	meets	the	nee
ds	of	the	Child.	P

hotographs	and	

details of the contact should be carefully recorded 

for the Child.

7. The prospective Adopters should prepare 

introductory	ma
terials	for	the	Ch

ild,	such	as	a	pho
to	

book	with	pictur
es	of	themselves

	and	their	home
.

8.	 The	Adoptio
n	Panel	should	c

heck	that	Life	Jo
urney	

materials	have	b
een	quality	assu

red	and	have	be
en	

shared	with	the	
prospective	Ado

pters.

9.	 The	Agency	
Decision	Maker	

should	check	tha
t	the	

Adoption	Panel	h
as	discussed	the

	Life	Journey	

materials. 

03

Stage 2

Placement Order 

granted

1.	 The	Child’s	
Social	Worker	an

d	Foster	 

Carer,	and	other
	professionals	as

	

appropriate,	sho
uld	agree	upon	t

he	

narrative to sensitively explain the plan 

for adoption to the Child.

2.	 The	plan	for
	LJW	for	the	Chi

ld	should	

be	regularly	revi
ewed	to	ensure	

that	it	

sensitively	meet
s	the	Child’s	cur

rent	

needs.  

3.	 The	LJW	pla
nning	checklist	s

hould	be	

used.

4.	 Written	con
sents	should	be	

obtained	 

from	Birth	famil
y,	Foster	Carers	a

nd	any	

other	third	parti
es	as	appropriate

,	to	

include	photogra
phs,	or	any	infor

mation	

that does not pertain to directly to the 

Child. 

5.	 The	Indepen
dent	Reviewing	

Officer	 

(IRO)	will	contin
ue	to	be	respons

ible	 

for	monitoring	t
he	LJW	for	the	C

hild.	

02

Stage 1

Child becomes  

Looked After

1.	 LJW	should	
begin	as	soon	as

	a	Child	

becomes	Looked
	After.	This	will	in

clude:	

Information,	pho
tograph	and	me

mento	

gathering.	

2.	 Everyone	w
ith	a	role	in	the	

Child’s	life	 

has a responsibility for this. 

3.	 The	LJW	pla
nning	checklist	s

hould	be	

used.	The	Child’s
	Social	Worker	h

as	a	key	

role	in	LJW	with
	and	for	the	Chil

d.

4.	 The	Child’s	
Foster	Carer	is	a

n	appropriate	

partner	in	LJW	w
ork	with	the	Chi

ld.	

5.	 All	LJW	shou
ld	be	carefully	re

corded	and	

securely stored.

6.	 The	Indepen
dent	Reviewing	

Officer	(IRO)	

will	be	responsib
le	for	monitoring

	the	LJW	

for the Child. 

7.	 Birth	family
	‘counselling’	and

	independent	

support should be offered to birth parents 

and	other	close	
Birth	family	mem

bers.	The	

Birth	family	sho
uld	be	actively	e

ncouraged	

to	contribute	LJW
	for	the	Child.

8.	 Any	gaps	in
	Birth	family	info

rmation	

should	be	comp
leted,	where	pos

sible,	 

prior	to	the	final
	hearing.	

01

10.	 Contact	agr
eements	should

	be	prepared	by	
the	

Adoption	Social	
Worker	in	consu

ltation	with	the	

Birth	family	and
	prospective	Ado

pters,	according	
to	

the Adoption Support Plan.

11.	 Future	plans
	for	contact	betw

een	the	Child	an
d	his/

her	previous	Fos
ter	Carer/s	shou

ld	be	promoted.	

Life Journey Work  
Good Practice Guide

Page 99



15

Percentage of children at second adoption review  

with Life Journey materials in place

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Mid & West Wales 92% 79% 92% 83%

North Wales 44% 25% 46% 46%

South East Wales 45% 43% 60% 59%

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff 30% 61% 68% 46%

Western Bay 55% 30% 58% 57%

WALES 49% 45% 62% 56%

90

50

70

30

20

100

60

80

40

10

0

Consultation with adopters was commissioned through our ‘Adopter 

Voice’ service with Adoption UK Cymru. We wanted to identify 

whether adopters were beginning to see improvements in the life 

journey materials being provided.

There was evidence of some improved satisfaction amongst 

adopters who had adopted more recently (within the last 3 years) 

suggesting that, whilst there is still some work to be done in terms of 

delivering the Life Journey framework, improvements are being made. 

Significantly, adopters suggested that: 

• More training workshops are needed pre matching to prepare 

adopters.

• The most confident parents were the ones who had met with birth 

parents.

• Overall adopters preferred having accurate information and then 

making the life journey book themselves.

These comments will feed into the ongoing improvement project.

Page 100



16

How did we do on our  
improvement priorities?

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT FOR ADOPTERS

We have finalised the post-approval training package for adopters. 

This now includes twelve different modules, providing advanced 

information on areas that adopters asked for, such as; ‘Attachment 

and Trauma’, ‘Parenting teenagers’, ‘Understanding and dealing with 

challenging behaviours’ and ‘Life Journey work’. 

• This work was led by AFA Cymru and Adoption UK Cymru. The 

modules have been tested thoroughly including within regional 

services and will be launched during 2019/20. 

We have improved our preparation training, with Adoption UK Cymru 

and AFA Cymru also leading on this working, utilising existing trainers 

to refresh and extend the preparation offer. 

• This will also be launched during 2019/20 and will include a guide 

for prospective adopters outlining what to expect along with an 

individualised planner. 

IMPROVING ADOPTION AWARENESS IN EDUCATION 

NAS supports and works alongside the lead organisation Adoption UK 

in this area of work, with support provided by the Education Minister, 

as well as resources from the Welsh Government’s ‘Supporting 

Vulnerable Learners’ section.

Adoption UK has continued to deliver its ‘Adoption Support Wales 

– Getting it Right for Every Child’ programme which extended its 

previous success; producing a school’s guide and a parent’s guide for 

working with adopted children

• Delivering a series of master classes supported by staff from the 

regional services to education professionals and adopters. This 

ensured they understood adoption, what it means for children and 

families and how they can shape and improve services to meet 

adopted children’s needs. 

• Delivering INSET training to 479 education staff in schools across 

Wales on the needs of adopted children

• Delivering education ‘master classes’ with 500 people participating 

and giving extremely positive feedback. The learning from this 

work has been made digitally available for use by school staff when 

supporting other adopted children.

NAS supported the launch of Adoption UK‘s ‘Equal Chance’ campaign, 

in Wales during June 2018. This UK wide campaign aims to ensure 

that adopted children have the same chances to education as other 

children by raising awareness of their particular needs for additional 

support.

The work was further supported when the Welsh Education Minister 

wrote to all schools encouraging them to co-operate in supporting 

adopted children within education services. 

We have focussed this year on continuing to implement the NAS Adoption Support Framework which is key to 

successful outcomes. We were delighted when the Welsh Government announced that they were making available 

a £2.3m investment package from 2019/20; this will enable us to move forward with our focus on the agreed 

improvement priorities for the immediate future. 

Page 101



17

IMPROVING ADOPTION AWARENESS IN HEALTH 

SERVICES 

NAS benefits from input by the Designated Doctor for the NHS 

National Safeguarding Team and a lead Medical Advisor from North 

Wales into its Advisory Group; they work with us on health-related 

matters as does the Welsh Government CAMHS lead. 

• We worked with these key health advisors and industry experts 

Practice Solutions to develop a publication for health service staff; 

‘Care about Adoption – A Guide for Healthcare Professionals’. This 

will come into use during 2019/20.

The guide will enable health staff to positively contribute to the  

well-being of adopted children young people and their families. 

NEW INITIATIVE IN ADOPTION SUPPORT  

TESSA

NAS worked alongside Adoption UK, to develop the Wales 

element, of a successful UK wide bid for funding from the 

National Lottery Community fund for the TESSA service. 

TESSA – a therapeutic education support service for adoptive 

families began to be established in Wales in February 2019. It is 

the intention that NAS adds to the resources available for TESSA 

through match funding from the investment in 2019/20. The 

service sets out to deliver:

> A focus on early intervention and support as soon as post-

settling in concerns are raised 

> Professional psychological assessments for children, with 

information shared with parents and other support staff

> 6-session therapeutic parenting support, delivered by teams 

consisting of a clinical psychologist and experienced adoptive 

parents (parent partners)

> Ongoing parent partner support.

Os ydych chi’n gofalu…  

Rhowch sylw i fabwysiadu

CANLLAW I BOBL BROFFESIYNOL YM MAES IECHYD A GOFAL

If you care…  
Care About Adoption
A GUIDE FOR HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS

 Helping adoptive families grow together
 Helpu teuluoedd sy’n mabwysiadu i dyfu gyda’i gilydd

Page 102



18

CHANGING TO KEEP PACE WITH THE 21ST CENTURY 

LIVING – CONTACT

NAS is continually seeking to improve adoption services informed by 

research and the life experiences of those affected by adoption, within 

a society that is continuously changing. This means that adoption 

policy and practice needs to develop, whilst keeping children’s need for 

security and a sense of belonging firmly at its heart. Contact is one of 

the areas where this is most challenging.

In order for adopted children to be confident about their identity, 

they need information about their past. This requires us to change the 

‘clean break’ approach to adoption of letterbox contact and annual 

exchanges of letters. We want to modernise contact to maintain 

children’s rights to permanence and security, while enabling them  

to know and understand their history. 

• We have been working with partners to respond to a 

recommendation from the Children’s Commissioner for Wales, that 

NAS works with the Welsh Government ‘to ensure that siblings’ 

rights to contact are fully considered during adoption care planning’.

• NAS attended and provided an issues paper for a scoping event 

with Welsh Government and other stakeholders.

• In order to get a better understanding of what would work better 

in sibling contact, we commissioned Adoption UK Cymru and the 

former After Adoption, to undertake consultation with adopters and 

adopted children and young people. 

– From an adopters’ perspective this identified that contact 

arrangements, agreed at placement, often become unworkable 

and that there would be widespread benefit from increasing 

support to adopters and birth families. Practical areas for 

development were suggested including production of guidance, 

standardised templates and in-depth research to better 

understand what is best for children in terms of contact.

– From a young person’s perspective it was concluded that 

contact is positive and should be allowed and encouraged where 

possible, with young people stating that they felt the care they 

receive and connections they make, pre adoption, are an integral 

part of their early attachment and should be continued where 

they can3. 

• We’ve continued to work with other partners and are collaborating 

with:

– Voices from Care Cymru, to be part of an ‘Event’ to create 

change in how we support ongoing sibling relationships. 

– Swansea Law Centre, to produce an advice leaflet for adopted 

and looked after children.

WHAT ELSE HAS BEEN ACHIEVED? 

We continued to request that Welsh Government brings entitlement 

to adoption support, into line with the Social Service and Wellbeing 

(Wales) Act 2014; Welsh Government has committed to doing this 

when the opportunity arises.

We continued to engage with adopters and children and young people 

to hear and understand their experiences through Adoption Voices and 

the former Talk Adoption services. We also focused on co-producing 

development where we could. 

• Adopter Voice reports have been provided to all five regions and 

the third sector providers, for consideration by their management 

boards or equivalent.

• NAS worked with Adoption UK to develop the Wales section of 

their new Adoption Barometer which will be an annual survey 

gauging views from adopters. The first wave of this was distributed 

at the year, with an initial report expected in the Spring.

3  The report was based on structured discussions with a very small number of 

children supplemented by informal information gathered through group sessions.

Most significantly, NAS has been involved this year in ensuring  

that a direct service for children and young people could 

continue, following the former After Adoption announcment  

that they would be withdrawing from providing services in  

Wales after March 2019. 

We successfully worked with Adoption UK Cymru to support it  

to become the provider for this service, so that it could continue 

to support the circa 100 children and young people registered.  

We look forward to continuing to work with Adoption UK Cymru 

to expand and develop this valuable service. 

Page 103



19

AFA CYMRU

• Life Journey Work (LJW) – the annual conference was attended  

by over 100 people 

• The LJW pack has been expanded to include materials for birth 

parents, young people and foster carers.

• Taking a collaborative approach to the development of post 

approval training courses – working alongside adopters and  

social workers to develop materials

BARNARDO’S

• The push within Barnardo’s and NAS from an Equalities Diversity 

and Inclusion perspective has seen an increase in applications from 

people with more diverse backgrounds and cultures.

• Work to achieve an improvement in the timescales from Enquiry  

to Approval and ultimately placement of children

ADOPTION UK CYMRU

Many of our services are provided by volunteers who are also adoptive 

parents – between them they provided 984 hours of support to other 

adoptive parents. 

• Established a buddy scheme for new adopters within the Adopting 

Together scheme.

• Worked with AFA Cymru to develop twelve training modules for 

use by adopters’ post-adoption order, as well as new guidance 

and information for prospective adopters to be used during the 

preparation training.

• Delivered training to nearly 500 adoptive parents and delivered 

INSET training to 479 education staff in schools across Wales and 

responded to 1,376 contacts 25% higher than last year.

• As part of a UK wide project, Adoption UK Cymru were successful 

in an application to the Big Lottery Community Fund. This will 

provide therapeutic and educational input to adoptive families 

early in their adoption journey, in order to prevent difficulties 

building up over the coming years. 

Regional & Voluntary Adoption Agencies  
Priorities and Achievements 

Page 104



20

MID & WEST WALES

• Improved preparation arrangements in order to reduce delay for 

adopter assessments.

• Used social media to successfully increase attendance at 

Information Events.

• Produced an innovative short film with birth parent and adopters, 

which highlighted positive contact arrangements.

NORTH WALES

• Appointment of a Contact Coordinator Officer, offering a 

consistent response and support to adopters and birth parents, 

with in-direct and direct contact.

• Worked with expert Richard Rose, to implement the Life Story 

Framework.

• Expanded the Buddy scheme for adopters.

• Invested in upskilling Training Officer – completed Dyadic 

developmental psychotherapy level 2 and is currently undertaking 

a diploma in therapeutic parenting. 

SOUTH EAST WALES

• Significant investment in workforce development including 

accessing innovative ‘Circle of Security’ training.

• Improved the information pack for adopters.

• Enhanced adopter’s preparation training with greater focus  

on Therapeutic Models of parenting 

ST DAVID’S CHILDREN SOCIETY

• External launch of Adopting Together Service and first placement 

made.

• Invested in upskilling social workers in Theraplay and DDP.

• Received two awards for Adopting Together – Winner of The 

Institute of Collaboration ICW Innovation Award and Highly 

Commended 1 in the GO Social and Community Benefit in 

Procurement Award.

VALE, VALLEYS & CARDIFF

• Appointment of a Marketing Officer offering a timely, consistent 

response to adopter enquiries and building knowledge of adopter 

demographic within the region.

• The development of the Life Journey Work ‘champion’ role resulting 

in positive progress in this area.

• Highest number of children placed for adoption since region was 

established.

WESTERN BAY 

• Strengthened the work of our adoption panel on matching, by 

introducing a checklist to ensure that all the relevant information 

such as life journey materials, transition plans etc. are in place.

• Improved co-production; adopters have been involved in a 

quarterly form for adoption support and a successful inaugural 

profiling event to help approved adopters consider a wider range  

of children needing adoptive placements.

• Providing additional early support, where children with additional 

needs are placed with WBAS adopters.

Page 105



21

PRIORITY 3

Forward 
thinking 
• Thinking about the sort of 

adoption service we want for 

the future

• Continuing co-production and 

engagement with those who 

use adoption  services

• Working to improve the legal, 

policy & evidence framework 

that affects adoption

• Encouraging the development 

of improved professional 

understanding and skills 

WHY? 

The National Adoption Service was created to improve services for all those affected by 

adoption in Wales. However, the needs and challenges faced by children presenting for adoption 

are changing rapidly and there is an on-going need to respond more consistently and effectively 

particularly in the areas of recruitment of adopters and ongoing support.

We also want to modernise the service to make adoption experience better for children, young 

people, and their adopters as well as others affected by adoption.

HOW DID WE DO?

We believe that adoption continues to provide good outcomes for children. The role of NAS 

is to ensure Welsh adoption services keep pace with the changing global environment of 

engagement and the way people live their lives. 

We can and will contribute to the continued discussion about the role adoption plays in 

permanency planning across the country. Alongside this we will seek to continue to improve 

services through effective planning, informed by research and evidence from people who use 

our services.

The sections above gives an outline of the many things we have done to both deliver and 

improve services. We have also continued to engage in strategic and infrastructure work; 

• We have considered the outcomes of the NAS Review of Arrangements which has been 

carried out for us, independently, by the Institute of Public Care. We have acted to implement 

the recommendations which will contribute to the streamline national level governance over 

the next year alongside looking at how we further improve accountability.

Page 106



22

• Successfully secured marketing and recruitment support to increase 

adopter recruitment. 

• Improved the integration of NAS policy work across local 

government and third sector organisations by working jointly 

with AFA Cymru so we can better influence more consistent and 

innovative practice.

• Provided advice to the Welsh Government for their proposed 

changes to adoption regulations as well as in relation to relevant 

education and safeguarding matters. 

• Undertook work with the Adoption Leadership Board in England 

and Welsh services to ensure that Wales would stay in line with 

increases to the interagency adoption fee. These are paid when 

an adoptive placement is secured and purchased from another 

adoption agency. This led to the Welsh VAA’s agreeing a short delay 

to allow Welsh local authorities time to plan in the adjustment.

• Put in place alternative arrangements for the NAS Performance 

Monitoring System when the current contract runs out in June 

2019. Expert advice has been commissioned, working with Data 

Unit Wales to develop a service specification, which will deliver a 

flexible, easy to use system to improve accuracy and support. This 

will provide us with flexibility to join up with the Wales Community 

Care Information System in the future.

• Supported practice development

– Inter-country adoption training was commissioned and 

delivered 

– Post commencement training was commissioned and delivered 

– Continued to share research and good practice across the 

regional collaboratives and to use the evaluation emerging from 

initiatives such as the ‘Adopting Together’ service.

– Shared learning from significant cases, specifically, this year, 

the child practice review by the Regional Safeguarding Children 

Board in Wales, into the death of an adopted child. The central 

team worked with the adoption region and will be holding an all 

Wales practice seminar to share the learning.

• Worked to advocate and develop a business case which has 

resulted in Welsh Government investing £2.3 million ongoing 

funding to improve adoption services. 

Page 107



23

This plan will build on the improvements made over the first five years of NAS; 

with the significant benefit of the availability of new investment funding. 

This is in the form of £2.3m from Welsh Government for service improvement; around £250,000 

via Adoption UK Cymru for TESSA from the Big Lottery and Communities Fund, in addition to 

grant aid of around £300,000 to the Voluntary Adoption Agencies from Welsh Government Third 

Sector grant scheme currently agreed up to 2020.

The National Adoption Service will continue to work to deliver services to high numbers of 

children, young people and families and others affected by adoption; mainly though NAS 

regional services and the Voluntary Adoption Agencies. The core business of the service will 

continue to be, recruiting adopters so that children who cannot be cared for by their own 

families can live in stable, loving homes as the best alternative.

The work of NAS is closely linked with the Welsh Government Ministerial Advisory Group 

for Children (MAG). Adoption features across the numerous work streams of this important 

national initiative.

Improvement priorities for 2019/20

PLANS FOR 2019/20 ONWARDS

Thinking ahead 

Continuing to co-produce and use 

information from engagement

Using data from the revised performance 

measurement system

Working to improve the legal, policy and 

evidence framework that affects adoption

Encouraging the development of workforce 

understanding and skills to meet NAS 

priorities

Continuing to improve  

adoption support

Implementing the Adoption Support 

Framework and investment plans

Continuing to raise awareness amongst 

professionals and the public

Placing more children 

Increase recruitment of adopters to meet 

the number and needs of children waiting 

including use of ‘Adopting Together’ for 

children who wait longest

Embed the new Adoption Register for Wales 

to speed up matching of children through 

quicker notification of children and adopters 

in line with revised regulations

030201

Page 108



National Adoption Service Central Team 

c/o City of Cardiff Council  

Room 409 County Hall  

Atlantic Wharf  

Cardiff CF10 4UW 

T: 029 2087 3927 

E: contact@adoptcymru.com 

www.adoptcymru.com

The National Adoption Service was created to improve services for all those affected by 

adoption in Wales. 

The National Adoption Service (NAS) for Wales, launched in November 2014, is an innovative 

collaborative for the provision of adoption services. It brought together Welsh local authority 

adoption services into a three-tier structure which includes partnerships at all levels with 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies based in Wales, Health and Education Services, as well as others.

At local authority level, all 22 Welsh councils continue to provide services to all looked after 

children whilst identifying and working with those children for whom a plan for adoption is 

appropriate.

Regionally, local authorities work together within five regional collaboratives to provide a range 

of adoption services. Each regional collaborative has links with the voluntary adoption agencies, 

health and education. The services provided differ in each collaborative but all provide the 

adoption agency functions for children, recruit and assess adopters, offer counselling to birth 

parents and advice to adopted adults. Some currently directly provide adoption support services, 

whereas in others this remains with their local authorities.

Page 109



NAME OF COMMITTEE Scrutiny Committee Gwynedd Council

DATE OF MEETING 29th January 2020 

TITLE OF ITEM Development of the Problematic and Harmful 
Sexual Behaviour Team (P/HSB Team)

PURPOSE To inform the Committee on the development 
and key expectations of the new P/HSB Team.

AUTHOR Stephen Wood and Sharron Carter Williams

CABINET MEMBER Cllr Dilwyn Morgan

1. Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Scrutiny Committee on the development 
of the Problematic and Harmful Sexual Harmful Behaviour Team (P/HSB) for Gwynedd, 
outlining the rational for the team and what we expect to achieve.

1.2 The Legal Framework in Wales around managing HSB is set out in Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act 2014 part 7 and the All Wales Child Protection Procedures. In addition the All 
Wales Protocol “The Management of Children/Young People who display Harmful Sexual 
Behaviour” provides additional guidance to practitioners.

2. Context

2.1 The purpose of the P/HSB team development project is to create a multi-agency 
integrated team that will provide support and help coordinate cases of problematic and 
harmful sexual behaviour. 

2.2 The following are the official definitions for the behaviours we intend to focus on 
and develop interventions for;

‘Sexual behaviours expressed by children and young people under the age of 18 years old 
that are developmentally inappropriate, may be harmful towards self and others, or be 
abusive towards another child, young person or adult’ –  (Hackett. S 2013)

Appropriate sexual behaviours – 

 displayed between children or Young people of similar age or developmental ability
 reflective of natural curiosity, experimentation, consensual activities and positive 

choices
Problematic sexual behaviours –

 unusual for that particular child or young person
 of potential concern due to age, or developmental differences

Page 110

Agenda Item 7



 of potential concern due to activity type, frequency, duration or context in which 
they occur

Harmful sexual behaviour –
 excessive, secretive, compulsive, coercive, degrading or threatening
 involving significant age, developmental, or power differences of concern due to the 

activity type, frequency, duration or the context in which they occur.

2.3 For many years Gwynedd Children’s Services along with YJS have worked to develop 
a workforce and practice strategy that has enabled them to expand its ability to identify, 
assess and provide early intervention to children, young people and families where 
problematic/harmful sexual behaviour is a concern.

2.4 Much of our work in previous years concentrated on training staff in very high level 
GAP AIM assessment and intervention, and although beneficial we have struggled to 
identify and tackle issues early.

2.5 During the National Sexual Offending Thematic Inspection of Youth Justice in 2012, 
inspectors reported;

 “Too many missed opportunities to intervene early in cases”.
 “Minimisation of behaviours in young children – some professional’s reluctance to 

tackle issues”.
 “Poor staff training and awareness at all levels of Social Care, Education and Health”

2.6 In 2017-18 the North Wales Safeguarding Children’s Board (led by North Wales YJSs) 
engaged with NSPCC to become one of the early adopters of their ‘Harmful Sexual 
Behaviour Framework and Audit’, which seeks;

“to provide a more coherent and evidence-informed approach for work with these children 
and young people, and to better understand how to improve outcomes for these vulnerable 
young people”.

Key Findings from the Audit on interventions were;

 “Little early intervention available, relating to the paucity of agencies doing   
preventative work and lack of ability to recognize HSB”

 “Provision available is not well-known or well-advertised: Agencies who can do 
targeted work do not reach out to agencies who need to know; agencies have not 
been proactive in seeking out information (possibly related to issue of recognition)”

 “Provision is on a case by case basis and dependent on capacity - no automatic 
provision of service”

2.7 It was evident from all of the reviews, audits and national information gathering 
evidence that although we had made great efforts to ensure our high risk and complex case 
management had good assessment and intervention provision, we (like many other councils 
in Wales and England) had missed the opportunity to develop prevention and early 
intervention interventions.

Page 111



2.8 In addition there were deficits in our ability to coordinate service and support across 
departments and sectors.

3. The Integrated Care Fund

3.1 The Integrated Care Fund is Welsh Government funding which aims to drive and 
enable integrated and collaborative working between social services, health, housing, the 
third and independent sectors. 

3.2 It is intended to help regional partnership boards develop and test new approaches 
and service delivery models that will support the underpinning principles of integration and 
prevention. 

3.3 Evaluation and learning lie at the core of the ICF and it is essential that any ICF 
programmes or projects are designed with this in mind.

3.4 Specifically, ICF guidance states;

 The ICF should be utilised to work with families to help them stay together safely and 
prevent the need for children to become looked after. 

 Regional partnership boards will be required to work within a shared strategic 
context which comprises of and works to achieve local authorities’ children’s 
services priorities. 

 Creative and integrated approached to implementing and delivering services which 
support families going through difficult times to help them stay together and which 
safely avert the need for care are to be prioritised. 

 Priority should be given to developing regional approaches to supporting families, 
with Local Authorities, Health boards and the Social Value Sector all playing key 
roles. 

3.5 It is difficult to explain fully the impact that incidents of harmful sexual behaviour 
have on individuals, families and communities. Family separation, care episodes, residential 
placements and community exclusion are often the result of un-met need, missed 
opportunities, or no automatic provision of service.

4. The Problematic and Harmful Sexual Behaviour Team (Tim Emrallt)

4.1 The Gwynedd team comprises of;

 Specialist HSB consultant, whose role it is to support and co-work high level and 
complex assessment and interventions with social workers and youth justice staff, 
ensuring quality and well-informed reports are available for court, child protection 
and care proceedings. They also provide an operational overview of demand and risk 
management for senior management groups.

 Social Worker, working with children’s services staff to develop awareness, 
knowledge and skills across a spectrum of need. Providing support and training 
opportunities for early intervention and prevention support and resources.

Page 112



 Education Worker, providing support, training and awareness raising for education 
professional, ensuring there is a consistent approach to P/HSB reports. Working in 
schools and specialist education provision facilitating the development of 
interventions and tools to assist in the effective identification of issues and problems 
at an early stage.

 Health Worker, working with health staff to ensure there is a consistent and high 
quality approach to identification and assessment of P/HSB incidents which is 
compatible with education and Social care. Developing structures and networks 
within health services that ensure issues are dealt with early and enable cases to be 
transitioned to more intensive interventions when needed.

Overall we want to see a more informed and capable workforce across the services and 
sectors, we need to have a consistent and high quality focus on intervening early and 
preventing escalation to more harmful behaviours.

4.2 The team is supported by ICF team for monitoring and reporting, and the Children’s 
Services Senior Management Team (SMT) for strategic planning and direction.

4.3 The Team is based with the Youth Justice Service in Felinheli, where it benefits from 
the partnership structures and well established cross sector networks.

4.4 The senior management team have also embarked on the development of a P/HSB 
Strategy for Gwynedd as part of the project, this is based on a GAP Analysis and Data Study 
completed by an external specialist whose findings will be presented to the SMT in March 
2020.

4.5 The SMT are also keen to have the project and it’s work to be formally evaluated, 
work is ongoing with the University of Wales Bangor to establish an academic review for 
2020-21.

5. Achievements so far

5.1 All staff have now been in place since September 2019, with action Plans developed 
for all three areas of practice development; Social Care, Education and Health.

5.2 Staff have received most of the training identified as part of individual plans and 
based on their specialist area of work, and work is progressing well in the development of 
networks and contacts across our partnerships.

5.3 Staff have had the opportunity to visit other public and third sector providers 
working across Wales and England to observe and learn about best practice.

5.4  Staff have initiated work on creating innovative and needs based interventions, 
focussing on early identification and prevention work. Work has begun to test these 
interventions and consultation work continues with partners.

5.5 The team have developed staff training packages which outline their roles and the 
expected outcomes of the project, creating clarity of purpose and the necessity for joined-
up working.

Page 113



5.6 The GAP Analysis and Data Study are now complete, the needs analysis evaluated 
the capability of the workforce and the interventions used, whilst the data analysis reviewed 
referral demand, levels and case studies. From the findings and following scrutiny by the 
SMT a P/HSB Strategy will be created for 2020-22 and will set the standards of practice in 
both front-line delivery and partnership collaboration.

5.7  The HSB Consultant and Social work continue to provide specialist support for social 
workers and youth justice staff, recent high-level cases have benefited greatly in the 
preparation of assessments and reports for court.

6. Summary

6.1 Gwynedd Council have been bold and innovative in the creation of Tim Emrallt, 
research has identified that with the correct assessment and intervention between 87% and 
93% of children and young people do not continue to demonstrate PSB/HSB, giving 
potential positive quality life for the child/young person and their families and importantly 
reducing the numbers of victims of sexual harm.

6.2 We are trying to reduce the number of HSB cases being referred into statutory 
services following an incident of abuse. We will do this by trying to ensure that we have 
within Gwynedd a range of professionals across many sectors both in statutory and early 
intervention services that are suitably skilled with knowledge and an understanding of what 
PSB and HSB looks like; in order to provide timely and appropriate interventions, so as to 
prevent abuse from taking place and minimise its effect. 

6.3 We are also trying to upskill and improve support by means of assessment and 
intervention for those cases where an incident has already taken place; both victim and 
perpetrator in order to support children and young people and ensure that they receive the 
most appropriate support they require.

6.4  Our External Specialist Consultant (who has 30 years experience in this field of work) 
recently commented;

“The establishment of the Gwynedd multi-agency HSB team as a focal point to coordinate 

innovative services and translate theoretical best practice into action is a wonderful 

opportunity to lead the way forward within Wales”.

Page 114



Name of Committee Care Scrutiny Committee

Title of Item A Healthier Wales Transformation Programme (Children)

Date of Meeting 30 January 2020

Cabinet Member Councillor Dilwyn Morgan 

Purpose Update members on progress with the implementation of A 
Healthier Wales (Children) transformation programme in 
Gwynedd.

Author Marian Parry Hughes, Head of  Children and Family Support 
Department

1. Background

1.1 A Healthier Wales, is the Welsh Government’s long term plan for Health and Social Care in 
Wales, and its response to the parliamentary review of Health and Social Care, was 
published in June 2018.  
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-
plan.pdf

1.2 A Healthier Wales, sets out a future vision of a whole system approach, with greater 
emphasis on prevention and wellbeing, using models of seamless local health and care 
which are designed and co-ordinated around people’s needs. 

1.3 Linked to the future vision there is a short term action plan, structured as a national 
transformation programme and supported with a Transformation Fund.   

1.4 The Transformation Fund aims to accelerate the development of new models of local health 
and social care services delivered through the Regional Partnership Boards. 

1.5 North Wales Regional Partnership Board responded to A Healthier Wales and secured funds 
though the Transformation Fund for 4 areas of work. One of these areas of work is to 
Transform Integrated Early Intervention and Intensive Support for Children and Young 
People. 

2. Transforming Integrated Early Intervention and Intensive Support for Children and Young 
People Programme.

2.1 The programme’s aims are :  

 Help prevent problems from escalating through timely integrated support - including 
new approaches to early help and accessing therapeutic support,

 Establish multi-functional ‘assessment and support’ teams that provide responsive 
and intensive support that seeks to build individual and family resilience.  This 
support would stop complex family situations and crisis from escalating further. 

 Achieve better outcomes for children and young people whilst reducing the need for 
costly, long term statutory intervention.

Page 116

Agenda Item 8

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf


2.2 The programme has 4 work streams which are : 

2.2.1 Pilot an “Effective Child Protection” model.
The pilot has been operational here in Gwynedd since April 2019.  

The project seeks to ensure that child protection practice is effective.  This is done by 
addressing 4 cornerstone for effective child protection practice.  These include the following 
elements.

• Ensuring that our conversations with families are collaborative rather than leading to 
conflict
• Ensure that our decisions on statutory intervention are of a high quality
• Ensure that any change needed to keep a child safe is clear and understandable to the 
family
• Ensure that progress towards such a change can be measured 

A practice mentor for the project has been appointed. The pilot started in Meirionnydd-
Dwyfor area in May 2019. The project has included staff training, individual and group 
mentoring sessions and a change in how Safeguarding Conferences are held.  New tools and 
practice techniques are in operation and the project is already learning from the experiences 
of the first area of the pilot.  Other regions of North Wales are keen to see whether the 
project will succeed in creating a new, workable model of more effective practice in 
protecting children from harm

2.2.2 Multi Disciplinary Intensive Support Teams
The project will establish a multi-disciplinary team across Gwynedd and Anglesey to work 
with a small cohort of families to improve their outcomes. 

Families who will receive support are already supported by a social worker and have been 
identified as families who would benefit from intensive intervention due to their complex 
needs.

The team draws together the disciplines of health, mental health, children's social care, and 
adult social care to deliver integrated intensive interventions for the families.  

The Work Stream is addressing the transformation agenda as we are pulling together 
specialties and services into one team, rather than the current position of signposting 
families to expertise between services.

Anglesey Council is acting as the host authority on behalf of both counties, and they are 
currently undertaking the recruitment process for the team. 

2.2.3 Early Help Hub
Continue to develop our early support hub which has already pulled together the children's 
social service intake team, family information service and team around the family. The 
current ‘hub’ uses a single admission, assessment and referral procedure and is a single 

Page 117



point of entry to access information, early support, preventative family services, care and 
support, and safeguarding.

This work stream is piloting the inclusion of adult health and social care services to the HWB 
to better understand, advise and respond to the needs of parents within a family, alongside 
the existing services that focus on the needs of the child.

2.2.4 Children and Young People Emotional Resilience and Mental Health.
Betsi Cadwaladr Health Board is leading on this work stream. A project manager has recently 
been appointed and a Steering Group has been established, with an initial meeting 
scheduled for the end of January to scope the project. 

2.3 The individual work streams are progressing on different timescales. 

3.  Governance.

3.1 The work streams, supported by dedicated project managers, report to the North Wales Children 
and Young People Transformation Group. 

3.2 Local stakeholders to the programme in Gwynedd and Môn meet regularly to develop the work 
streams, provide local overview, and strategic connections via the West Transformation Group, as a 
sub group to the above mentioned regional group.  

Page 118



REPORT TO THE CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date: 30/01/20

Title: Housing Action Plan for 2020 to 2025 

Purpose: To seek the views and input of the Scrutiny Committee on the proposals set out in Appendix A of 
this report, in relation to the preparation of a Housing Action Plan

Contact Officer: Dafydd Gibbard, Head of Housing and Property 

Cabinet Member: Craig ab Iago, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property

1. Introduction / Background

1.1. In June last year the Council adopted the Housing Strategy 2020 to 2025 with the ambition of “Ensuring 

that the people of Gwynedd have access to suitable and quality affordable homes that improve their 

quality of life”.

1.2. The Care Scrutiny Committee will also be aware of the decision taken earlier in the year to create the 

Housing and Property Department, with the aim of maximizing our ability to take advantage of resources 

arising from the Second Homes Council Tax premium to address the housing challenges facing the 

County's residents.

1.3. The purpose of this report is to update the Care Scrutiny Committee on the work underway to develop 

specific solutions to these challenges, and to consult with the Committee before the proposed spending 

program is submitted for approval by the Cabinet later in March this year.

2. The main housing challenges in Gwynedd  

2.1. The Housing Strategy has established the need to tackle the following main challenges: 

Main challenges Summary 

An increase in the number of older 

people

The number of people over 80 in Gwynedd is projected to 

increase by 60% in the next 20 years - the nature and 

construction of some houses is a barrier to older people 

continuing to live independently in their home

Lack of affordable housing

• An estimated annual deficit of 580.

• 60% of buyers have been priced out of the housing market 

because finding a mortgage deposit is a problem

• In some communities a property needs 7 times the average 

income

High number of empty properties 

in the County

There are 1,300 empty properties across the County with many 

in poor condition

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



Lack of Social Housing
There are 2,000 people on the Housing Register in Gwynedd 

today

Poor housing standards
There are 700 annual cases involving poor housing standards in 

the private sector.

Increase in homelessness

• Demand for the homelessness service has increased by 36% 

since 2014/15

• 2,300 people are supported each year by the Homelessness 

Service

• There is a lack of permanent accommodation options which in 

turn leads to overuse of bed and breakfast accommodation

Fuel poverty
It is estimated that 20% of Gwynedd's population is at risk of 

fuel poverty

3. Available Resources 2020 /25

3.1. To address these challenges the intention is to produce a Housing Action Plan, a series of specific 

projects. An integral part of the process of creating a Plan like this is identifying the financial resources 

that are likely to be available. We cannot deliver without investment and it is unlikely that we will be able 

to respond to the challenges identified without being prepared to use our financial resources to enable 

developments to become viable. 

Source 
Value 

(2020 to 2025)

Income from Second and empty home Council Tax £13.5m

Social Housing Grant £11m

Council Asset Management Plan:

Extended Care Housing = £ 2.5M

Hostel in the South of the County = £ 0.5M

Housing Adaptation Grants = £ 6.5M

£9.5m

Total £34m

3.2. However, the total resource required to achieve everything we would wish to do is likely to be far beyond 

the resources available. To realise the objectives we will need to maximize grant contributions and 

consider prudential borrowing. Work is underway to establish our ability to maximize the resources 

available through these methods.

3.3. We will also look to strengthen our co-collaboration with the Housing Associations and other partners in 

Gwynedd with the aim of maximizing the impact of our resources and our joint investment to try and 

meet the challenges in housing. We are in discussions with external partners to understand more about 

Page 120



their priorities and plans over the next 5 years and will continue to look for opportunities to work 

together over the period in question.

4. Process for prioritising plans

4.1. We need to ensure that we use the resources we have to maximize the impact on the residents of 

Gwynedd. We have begun the process of trying to identify the schemes that could have the greatest 

impact in terms of eliminating or reducing the main challenges facing residents in securing suitable 

homes. Alongside this we have begun to look at how to overcome any barriers to those plans.

4.2. During the Autumn of last year we held a meeting with all the staff of the Housing and Property 

Department to identify what they think in their experience would help overcome the challenges. Over 50 

ideas were identified as part of these discussions.

4.3. Discussions have been held with the Adults and Children Department as well as other external 

stakeholders to ascertain their views and aspirations for the period and if there was anything additional 

to what staff have told us already.

4.4. The next step will be to further develop the proposals to facilitate the prioritization of which plans should 

be adopted and implemented.

4.5. A key part of this process is to receive the input and guidance of the Care Scrutiny Committee. The 

Committee has wide experience in considering the housing challenges and we are keen to tap into this 

source of information before going any further.

4.6. Appendix A contains a long list of ideas proposed so far. The Committee's views are sought on those as 

well as any other proposal to be considered during the prioritization process.

Appendix A 

Ref. Idea Description

1
Increase the number of affordable 

homes to local people

We know that one of the main challenges with housing is 

the difficulty local people have in buying their own homes 

in Gwynedd. We will aim to develop our own housing 

which will increase the housing stock in those communities 

where demand exists. We will consider a range of 

purchasing models to ensure that these houses are 

affordable for local people.

2 Buying former social houses 
Buying former "council houses" would be a way to increase 

the amount of social housing available to local people. It 

Page 121



would be possible to focus on housing with a local person 

clause in the first place.

3
Increase the number of one bedroom 

social houses 

There is a need for more one bedroom units to enable 

single people to move from social housing that is too large 

for them. The introduction of the "bedroom tax" has added 

to the inability of individuals to cope with the cost of living 

in a house with vacant bedrooms but there is currently no 

supply of one bedroom houses available for them to 

consider relocating.

4 Purchase empty houses

Gwynedd has a higher rate than most of Wales in terms of 

the number of empty homes in our communities. This is a 

ready made housing stock suitable for housing local 

people. We will maximize our efforts in this area and 

consider buying empty homes and letting / selling them to 

local people through a variety of different tenure models.

5
Conversion of Multiple Occupation 

houses into family homes

A combination of the Council buying a house in multiple 

occupation or financially providing an owner to convert it 

back into one dwelling. This mainly applies to areas where 

houses in multiple occupation are vacant because of over-

provision or substandard housing a number of 

unconnected individuals.

6
Establish the real housing need in our 

communities

Although we are aware that the demand for homes is 

higher than the affordable supply available in Gwynedd, 

further work is needed to establish and quantify the exact 

need in each area of the county. This will not prevent us 

from being able to start our plans but as we move forward 

we will need to know in advance exactly where the 

demand for different types of homes is.

7
Better use of Social Housing Grant to 

address our priorities

By properly establishing our housing needs of local people 

we can then ensure that we meet the greatest needs first 

and move from reactive to proactive. We also need to 

ensure that new developments include flexible housing 

that can be easily adapted in the future and adapted units 

for individuals with physical disabilities.

8

Refuse applications to impose a local 

person condition on former "Council 

houses".

Historically the Council has agreed to lift the local person 

condition imposed on sales under the Right to Buy in the 

National Park and AONB scheme. There is room for us to 

consider being more challenging with such applications and 

adhering to the original purpose of such clauses.

Page 122



9 One stop shop for Housing issues

Establish one access point for Gwynedd residents to get 

specialist help with their Housing requirements. At the 

moment an individual may have to go to seek help from 

several different departments of the Council or to a 

number of outside bodies. The procedure is complex and 

does not offer Gwynedd residents the best help in 

resolving their housing needs.

10 Build social housing

Council to build social housing in locations where the need 

for housing from local residents is clear. We can achieve 

this through partnership with the Housing Associations or 

by building our own.

11 Self-build plots

Take advantage of the Welsh Government's plan to 

prepare sites ready for housing development through a 

"self build" model. Assist local individuals to go through the 

self build process.

12 Supported housing - homeless

Need more 'supported housing' facilities with one 

bedroom homes with support for homeless people. 

Support may be on-site or mobile in nature.

13 Supported housing - youth

As part of our responsibility as Corporate Parent, there is 

an existing shortfall in the number of homes available to 

offer to young people leaving our care at the age of 

eighteen. There is also a shortfall in the number of 

“supported housing” units for youth housing that require 

Council assistance to live independently.

14 Supported housing - elderly

Continue the program of investment in Extra Care Housing 

and consider smaller scale schemes in other areas, possibly 

with the support of a "mobile" Warden supporting a 

number of such sites. This leads to being able to continue 

living independently for longer.

15
Supported housing - adults with 

learning disabilities
Modernizing existing provision.

16
Homes suitable for children with 

physical disabilities

In some cases enabling a child to live at home with 

specialist care facilities requires significant adaptations to 

their housing. We will consider all possible solutions for 

Gwynedd residents in such situations, whether by funding 

major adaptations, securing more specialist provision in 

new developments or buying / developing specialist 

housing ourselves if required.

Page 123



17
Flexible house for temporary specialist 

requirements

At times we are unable to house some children who are 

ready to leave hospital care. In cases where there has not 

been an opportunity to plan suitable housing options in 

advance a flexible house that could be used to meet the 

needs of a temporary home would make a significant 

difference to these families.

18
Addition to housing adaptations grants 

(DFG)

The Council is already funding grants to enable adaptations 

to the homes of people with physical disabilities. As part of 

our work in this area we are currently offering a loan for 

adaptations as well as the statutory grant as that is limited 

to £ 36,000. The Council will continue to manage 

adaptation schemes in this way giving specialist support to 

the families to carry out the work.

19
Grants for multiple occupancy 

homeowners (HMOs)

Improve our ability to ensure these buildings are safe and 

of an acceptable standard for residents by offering grants 

to improve the building. This goes hand in hand with 

enforcement work by the Council.

20 Home Safety

Carry out minor adaptations (installing handrails, small 

ramps etc) to make homes safe for residents to continue to 

live independently for longer. This work is currently 

outsourced.

21
Emergency enforcement action to deal 

with emergency situations

Facilitate enforcement where homeowners fail to comply 

to correct hazards. The money will be used to carry out 

essential repairs to ensure the health and safety of 

residents or prevent anti-social behaviour in empty 

properties.

22 First Time Buyers Grants
Grants to help first time buyers to bring empty homes back 

to standard of living.

23
Council tax exemption on empty 

homes for first time buyers

Extend the Council Tax exemption period on empty 

properties and give first time buyers an extra period to 

carry out essential restoration work before the house can 

be occupied.

24 Loans for urgent works

Financial sponsorship for low income families to carry out 

essential home improvement works eg repair electrical 

fault, prevent roof leak etc.

25 Empty Homes - Assistance for Owners

Grant for owners of empty homes to bring the house back 

into use with conditions attached to the grant ensuring 

that tenants' nomination rights stay with the Council for at 

least 5 years. This scheme also provides a source of 

Page 124



housing for the private leasing scheme offered by the 

Homelessness Unit

26
Interest free loans to improve housing 

conditions

Financial loans to local people to improve houses in a state 

of disrepair at present.

27 Support packages for private landlords

Our ability to house homeless individuals is dependent on 

the support of Housing Associations and private landlords. 

Private landlords need a support package if they are to be 

encouraged to offer a tenancy to homeless people. The 

Government is currently piloting a package of support such 

as this.

28 Penygroes Health Hub
A mixed development which would include supported 

living units together with local health / care services.

29 Frondeg, Caernarfon
Consider increasing the number of living units in Frondeg, 

Caernarfon as part of a redevelopment of the site.

30 Specialist Tenancy Support

Supporting tenants to remain in their homes is an essential 

part of our strategy to prevent homelessness. If we cannot 

prevent homelessness then we will need to further 

increase our temporary accommodation options and 

provide more homes and support, which is costly. The 

percentage of tenancies threatened by mental health 

issues is increasing year on year and there is a need to 

increase the expertise within the team to assist these 

vulnerable individuals to avoid losing their tenancy.

31 Be prepared to deliver

If we are to fulfil our aspiration to meet the challenge of 

providing suitable homes for Gwynedd people then we will 

need to invest to ensure that we have the capacity to 

deliver and realize this area. This will mean increasing the 

resource currently available to accelerate our ability to 

deliver.

32
Purchase of building land for the 

future

We already have some development sites in our ownership 

that will enable us to start our plans in some areas where 

the need for local residents is clear. But if we are to 

continue after that, we will need to be prepared to 

respond quickly to buying construction land when the 

opportunity arises in the right locations.

33 Be prepared to innovate

Establish a process of assessing new opportunities 

throughout the life of the scheme to ensure that we do not 

miss out on opportunities to apply for grant funding, 

Page 125



realize windfall opportunities, develop new business cases, 

assess innovative approaches to housing development etc.

Page 126



1

Meeting Care Scrutiny Committee

Date 30 January 2020

Title Dementia

Author Mari Wynne Jones, Senior Adults Manager

Member Councillor Dafydd Meurig, Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and Well-
being

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 This report is submitted to the Care Scrutiny Committee for information and to raise 
awareness of Dementia, by providing Members with an overview of the work being done in 
Gwynedd to secure support and services for people living with Dementia.

2. Introduction

What is Dementia?

2.1 Dementia is a destructive illness, and it is more than just memory loss.   It is a degenerative brain 
disease that restricts life and affects every part of an individual's physical, cognitive, emotional and 
social abilities11.

2.2 Dementia is a progressive condition that worsens over time, and a person with dementia 
increasingly has to rely on carers as the condition develops.  There is no cure, although there are 
treatments that can slow sown the progression of some types of conditions in some cases.

Recognising the extent of the challenge

2.3 It is anticipated that the number of people being diagnosed with dementia will increase over 
time, and recent evidence shows that more young adults (under 65 years) are being diagnosed with 
dementia.  Dementia has a substantial impact on individuals, their families and their friends, which 
leads to great pressure on statutory Health and Care services and the third sector.

2.4 Estimates suggest that over 45,000 people in Wales are currently living with dementia, and this 
figure is expected to exceed 55,000 by 2021.  By 2055, it is estimated that over 100,000 people in 
Wales will be living with dementia. 

1 Welsh Government (2016). Dementia: More than just memory loss.

2 Alzheimer’s Society (2015), Diagnose or disempower? Receiving a diagnosis of dementia in Wales. 

Page 126

Agenda Item 10



2

2.5 From the total of 45,000 people in Wales who are living with dementia, it is estimated that 
approximately two-thirds of them are living in the community, with the remaining one-third living in 
care or residential homes2.

2.6 As people live longer, it is likely that the number of cases of dementia will increase.   Figure 1 and 
Table 1 show the anticipated increase in the number of older people with dementia in north Wales 
of 72% between 2015 and 2035.  However, a recent study suggests that the anticipated 'explosion' in 
the number of cases of dementia may be less serious than previously thought.

Figure 1: Number of people aged 65 and over anticipated to be living with dementia, north Wales and 
unitary authorities, 2015-2035.
Source: The Statistical Data Unit, Welsh Government; Daffodil

0
500

1,000
1,500
2,000
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,000
4,500

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035

Isle of Anglesey Gwynedd Conwy

Denbighshire Flintshire Wrexham

Nifer y bobl 65 oed a throsodd y rhagwelir y bydd ganddynt 
ddementia, awdurdodau unedol Gogledd Cymru, 2015 i 2035
Ffynhonnell: Llywodraeth Cymru, Daffodil 

Table 1: Number of people aged 65 and over anticipated to be living with dementia, north Wales and unitary 
authorities, 2015-2035.
Nifer y bobl 65 oed a throsodd y rhagwelir y bydd ganddynt ddementia, Bwrdd Iechyd
Prifysgol Betsi Cadwaladr ac awdurdodau unedol, 2015 i 2035

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035
BIPBC 10,530 11,951 13,839 16,039 18,094
Ynys Môn 1,174 1,338 1,557 1,792 1,993
Gwynedd 1,927 2,115 2,360 2,664 2,923
Conwy 2,276 2,509 2,828 3,212 3,594
Sir Ddinbych 1,463 1,659 1,929 2,245 2,541
Sir y Fflint 1,972 2,340 2,811 3,332 3,827
Wrecsam 1,719 1,991 2,354 2,793 3,216
Ffynhonnell: Llywodraeth Cymru, Daffodil

2.7 It is very difficult to obtain accurate data on the actual number of individuals who live with 
dementia or memory impairments in Gwynedd, since a great many of those who come to our 
attention have not received an assessment or an official diagnosis.

2.8 It can be challenging to secure support and care for individuals living with Dementia in Gwynedd, 
due to the high number of older people in the County and geographical issues. The Alzheimer's 
Society identifies challenges in supporting individuals with dementia in rural areas, where it is less 
likely that support services will be commissioned. Poor transport links exacerbates the difficulties in 
accessing support, and we know that carers are more likely to feel isolated and unsupported.

Page 127



3

Impact on individuals, families and friends

2.9 Living with dementia can have a major emotional, social, psychological and practical impact on a 
person, their family and friends.

2.10 The condition affects each individual differently. For some people, the impact of the disease can 
be seen immediately. For many others, dementia causes a slow and painful deterioration and can 
lead to the loss of everything that matters to them.   Dementia has a number of side-effects, with 
the majority of people experiencing memory problems.  In turn, this leads to loss of self-respect, 
confidence, independence and self-control. Dementia has an impact on social roles and 
relationships, the ability to undertake activities or interests and daily skills such as self-care, cooking 
and driving.     Individuals may also experience communication difficulties and lose the ability to 
make specific decisions about their lives. The condition can lead to a change in an individual's 
personality, and can cause them to exhibit challenging behaviour towards themselves and others.

2.11 Dementia affects the families and friends of individuals who live with the condition. Caring for 
someone living with dementia can place great strain upon carers, and it is essential to support them 
in their caring role.  

The Welsh Language

2.12 For Welsh speakers living with Dementia, receiving care and support in their mother tongue or 
the language of their choice is a matter of clinical need.

National Context

2.13 The vision contained in the Dementia Action Plan for Wales 2018-2022 is "for Wales to be a 
dementia friendly nation that recognises the rights of people with dementia to feel valued and to 
live as independently as possible in their communities." The Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department is committed to fulfilling the requirements of the plan and reports back to the Dementia 
Delivery Assurance and Implementation Group in regard to successes and barriers. 

2.14 Dementia has been established as a specific theme within the national programme for Ageing 
Well in Wales.  One of the aims of the programme is to "make Wales a dementia supportive nation 
by building and promoting dementia supportive communities." Our vision as a Council is to support 
all the people of Gwynedd to thrive and live full lives in our community, in a county which is one of 
the best counties to live in. It is a priority in the Council plan to ensure that we will have care services 
which help people to live their lives in the manner of their choosing.

3. Support and Services in Gwynedd.

3.1 Our vision is to provide timely information, advice and support to individuals with dementia 
in Gwynedd.  A range of support is available to individuals diagnosed with Dementia, from 
information and community support as the early signs of the condition emerge, to 
mainstream services such as domiciliary care and day care, to specialist intensive care during 
the final stages. 

Page 128



4

Improving awareness and understanding of Dementia

3.2 The DementiaGO scheme provides training to raise awareness of Dementia Friends, and 
promotes Dementia-friendly communities. The development of unique Virtual Reality technology 
has helped to raise awareness of dementia. This bilingual technology is the first of its kind in Wales, 
and the VR effectively conveys the feelings of bewilderment that someone with dementia would 
experience, and the voices that they would hear.

Living as well as possible for as long as possible with dementia

3.3 It is very important for people living with dementia to remain in their own homes for as long as 
possible, and to receive support to remain safe and secure at home. Many people rely on their 
families and friends for support, and there is a need to ensure that these carers are given 
reasonable breaks from their caring roles so that they are able to continue as carers, and have 
lives of their own beyond the caring role.

3.4 Funding from the Welsh Government Integrated Care Fund has been used to enhance the 
'Dementia Connect' support provided by the Alzheimer's Society.  This service provides a simple 
point of contact which puts service users and their carers in touch with practical support to 
empower them to cope with the condition and remain active within their communities. The 
Dementia Connect service provides support to individuals who are yet to receive a diagnosis, in 
addition to those who have received a diagnosis of dementia.  There are five elements to the 
service: support over the telephone, regular calls to keep in touch, specialist community 
support, volunteer support to enable individuals to continue to be a part of the community, and 
self-management. In addition, the Alzheimer's Society provides courses for carers, families and 
friends of individuals with a diagnosis of Dementia, in order to support them to understand and 
cope with the condition, to provide support, care and information on legal and financial matters.

3.5 DementiaGo is a valuable service that supports people living with severe conditions such as 
Dementia and Parkinson's disease. The Team has recently introduced a new project called "A 
Minute to Move" which is a programme of light physical exercises for Council care home 
residents. The programme of various activities leads up to an annual competitive sports week 
between the care homes.

3.6 The 'Galwch Draw' service was set up using ICF funding and is focussed on providing support for 
individuals living with dementia and their carers, by offering respite and short breaks to support 
those individuals and their carers in participants' homes.

3.7 ICF funding has also enabled us to appoint Dementia support workers as part of the Community 
Resource Teams, in order to support individuals with dementia and their carers to remain 
independent in their communities.

3.8 Specialist day care provision for individuals with dementia has been established on a joint basis 
with the Betsi Cadwaladr Health Board in the Llŷn and Bangor areas, to provide respite for carers 
and clinical support in order to monitor the individual's health.

Page 129



5

3.9 It is acknowledged that it will not always be possible for people to remain in their own homes. 
Gwynedd is eager to ensure that people with dementia receive the most suitable care as locally 
as possible. Specialist dementia care units have been established in a number of Gwynedd 
Council residential homes, and one particular residential home is dedicated to providing care for 
individuals with dementia (Plas Maesincla). In addition to long-term support, these units also 
offer temporary support which provides respite for carers. Specialist units have already been set 
up in Llys Cadfan, Bryn Blodau, Plas Hafan and Plas Hedd residential homes. Plans are afoot for 
further developments in Hafod Mawddach in the next financial year.

4 Next steps

4.1 We will maintain our commitment to fulfilling the requirements of the Dementia Action Plan for 
Wales by working together with individuals, their families and friends, and our partners in the 
third sector and the Health Board.

4.2 We rely on temporary funding to support many of the developments in care provision for 
individuals with dementia. The challenge will be to secure long-term funding to ensure the 
sustainability and continued development of these services.

Page 130


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	5 THE NATIONAL FOSTERING FRAMEWORK
	Appendix 1 - Development Programme
	Appendix 2 - Kinship Guide 2018
	Appendix 3 - Post Approval Learning and Development Guide

	6 THE NORTH WALES ADOPTION SERVICE
	Appendix 1 - National Adoption Service Annual Report 2018 - 2019

	7 DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROBLEMATIC AND HARMFUL SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR TEAM
	8 A HEALTHIER WALES TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME (CHILDREN)
	9 HOUSING ACTION PLAN FOR 2020 - 2025
	10 DEMENTIA



